

Wednesday, 4 March 2026

1  
2 (10.00 am)  
3 **MS MILLAR:** Thank you, Chair. Before I call PC Pannell, the  
4 statement of DCI Abigail Goucher went up on the  
5 Inquiry's website yesterday and her statement is  
6 relevant to the evidence Sebastian gave yesterday. For  
7 the purposes of the transcript, the URN is WITN0383001.  
8 Thank you, Chair. May we please call PC Amy  
9 Pannell.  
10 **THE CHAIR:** Yes.  
11 **PC AMY PANNELL (affirmed)**  
12 **Questioned by MS MILLAR**  
13 **THE CHAIR:** Do sit down.  
14 **A.** Thank you, ma'am.  
15 **THE CHAIR:** Yes.  
16 **MS MILLAR:** Thank you. PC Pannell, you should have  
17 a witness statement in front of you dated  
18 26 October 2025.  
19 **A.** That's correct.  
20 **Q.** For the purposes of the transcript, the URN is  
21 WITN0015001. Are the contents of that statement true to  
22 the best of your knowledge and belief?  
23 **A.** I believe so.  
24 **Q.** For the purpose of your evidence to the Inquiry today  
25 I am going to be asking you questions about your  
1

1 supervision of the tutor constable called PC Wakefield.  
2 **A.** That is correct.  
3 **Q.** How long had PC Wakefield been your supervisor at that  
4 point?  
5 **A.** I don't recall. I believe it was a couple of months.  
6 **Q.** So PC Wakefield said I think you came under her  
7 supervision in around June 2021; does that sound right?  
8 **A.** Yes.  
9 **Q.** And so around five months into your probation can you  
10 help us with the level of supervision provided to you by  
11 PC Wakefield?  
12 **A.** Yes, so we would partner up and attend jobs together and  
13 assess the job that was in hand, and if I needed to get  
14 advice from her then that's what I would be doing.  
15 **Q.** So when you were on shift would PC Wakefield always be  
16 on shift with you?  
17 **A.** Yes.  
18 **Q.** Would you physically -- it may follow from your answer  
19 before, would you physically be in the same place when  
20 you are on shift together?  
21 **A.** Not necessarily. For this example, she would have been  
22 possibly in the same station as me but not necessarily  
23 in the same room at any point.  
24 **Q.** So then turning to your involvement on 5 July 2021, is  
25 it right that at around 16.55 hours a call was received  
3

1 involvement in an event on 5 July 2021, but before we  
2 turn to that I'm just going to start with some questions  
3 about your professional background.  
4 **A.** Okay.  
5 **Q.** Is it right you joined Nottinghamshire Police under the  
6 Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship programme in  
7 October 2020?  
8 **A.** That is correct.  
9 **Q.** Prior to that you had been Police Community Support  
10 Officer for Avon and Somerset Police for two years and  
11 also Nottinghamshire Police for five years.  
12 **A.** That's correct.  
13 **Q.** You left that post in 2012 and returned to  
14 Nottinghamshire Police at the end of 2020.  
15 **A.** That's correct.  
16 **Q.** Then in around February 2021 you were posted as  
17 a probationer constable to Radford Road Police Station.  
18 **A.** That's correct.  
19 **Q.** You completed your degree in September 2023.  
20 **A.** That is correct.  
21 **Q.** So at the time of the incident we were going to be  
22 discussing on 5 July 2021 you had been a probationer  
23 constable for around five months; is that correct?  
24 **A.** That's correct.  
25 **Q.** At the time of this incident you were under the  
2

1 by Nottinghamshire Police from Sebastian?  
2 **A.** Yes.  
3 **Q.** You explain in your statement at paragraph 10 that  
4 officers were already on their way to the address, but  
5 at that point the Force Control Room contacted you via  
6 your personal radio and informed you Sebastian was  
7 making his way physically to the police station.  
8 **A.** Yes.  
9 **Q.** Why would you contacted personally in relation to this  
10 incident?  
11 **A.** I imagine the control room assigned myself to the job.  
12 **Q.** Is it right that you subsequently became the OIC in  
13 relation to this incident?  
14 **A.** That is correct.  
15 **Q.** So Sebastian attended Radford Road Police Station you  
16 and spoke to him at the front public counter at around  
17 17.34 hours; is that correct?  
18 **A.** That's correct.  
19 **Q.** Can you help us with how many people there would usually  
20 be staffing the public front counter of that police  
21 station on any given day?  
22 **A.** I believe there would be one or two persons at the front  
23 counter.  
24 **Q.** You say in your statement that you believe your tutor  
25 Constable PC Wakefield was present with you. So why do  
4

1 you use the word "believe" there?

2 **A.** Because we were partnered up, so I believe that she  
3 would have been in the station.

4 **Q.** But you don't have any independent -- does it follow  
5 from that that you don't have any independent  
6 recollection that she was physically there when you  
7 spoke to --

8 **A.** I don't recall, unfortunately, no.

9 **Q.** The Inquiry heard evidence from Sebastian yesterday; did  
10 you see that evidence?

11 **A.** I didn't, no.

12 **Q.** He explained that he only spoke to one officer at the  
13 public front counter and that officer was you, so could  
14 you be wrong that PC Wakefield was present with you when  
15 you spoke to Sebastian?

16 **A.** I believe we were partnered up for the day, so she could  
17 have been in the station, but not necessarily present  
18 next to me at that particular time.

19 **Q.** In terms of the information Sebastian provided to you at  
20 the front counter, you explain in your witness statement  
21 at paragraph 12 that he told you he was at home:  
22 "[VC] came out of his room mumbling something. [He]  
23 ... grabbed Sebastian by the T-shirt and pushed him  
24 against the wall [before telling him] 'people will be  
25 contacting you'."

5

1 Then it says "signed". Was that then -- did you ask  
2 Sebastian to sign that?

3 **A.** I did, yes.

4 **Q.** Did you ask him why he didn't want to make a formal  
5 complaint?

6 **A.** I believe I did, yes, I would have asked him.

7 **Q.** What did he tell you?

8 **A.** I can't remember.

9 **Q.** Did he explain to you that he was worried about the  
10 consequences potentially from VC if the police spoke to  
11 VC?

12 **A.** I believe so, but I can't remember anything that he said  
13 at the time.

14 **Q.** If he had, if we assume that he had told you that he  
15 didn't want to make a complaint because he was afraid  
16 potentially of the consequences, would you have done  
17 anything differently in terms of the information you  
18 provided to him?

19 **A.** No, we would have given appropriate information, but he  
20 didn't want to make a complaint, then I would have  
21 followed the same process.

22 **Q.** When you say "appropriate information", what do you mean  
23 by that?

24 **A.** Usually we give words of advice or try and understand  
25 exactly why you don't want to make a complaint and

7

1 He then says:

2 "In case that happens, then you should tell these  
3 people that I will contact them ..."

4 And that they were coming for them.

5 He also said that:

6 "... [VC] was very aggressive towards him.  
7 Sebastian ... thought [he] was going to harm him ..."

8 That was the information provided to you at the  
9 start?

10 **A.** Mm.

11 **Q.** At paragraph 14 of your statement, you go on to explain  
12 that Sebastian told you that he didn't want to make  
13 a formal complaint and that you subsequently recorded  
14 that in your pocket book?

15 **A.** Correct.

16 **Q.** Can we have that on screen, please, it is NGPF0000045.  
17 Is that the pocket book entry that you are talking  
18 about?

19 **A.** It is.

20 **Q.** If we look about a third of the way down that first  
21 page, it notes:  
22 "I do not want to make a complaint, write  
23 a statement or go to court. I only want to make the  
24 police aware of this incident. I know where the police  
25 are and how to contact them if I need to."

6

1 because we are victim led, if a victim doesn't want to  
2 make a complaint, then we will just follow the process  
3 of criming it as the procedure and sign pocket notebook  
4 to confirm that that's what they want to do.

5 **Q.** In terms of appropriate advice that you would give him,  
6 if he told you -- say, for example, "I'm afraid of this  
7 person", what type of advice would you give him in those  
8 circumstances?

9 **A.** To make us aware if another situation occurs. To  
10 potentially avoid the person, if necessary. To inform  
11 the police if a further incident occurs. It is very  
12 difficult if a member of the public doesn't want to make  
13 a complaint to -- and particularly you know in this  
14 case, it was very difficult, if you didn't want to make  
15 a complaint, because we are victim led, there's nothing  
16 I can really do unfortunately.

17 **Q.** When you say that the appropriate advice could include  
18 avoiding the person, so in circumstances where you were  
19 aware that these two individuals lived together --

20 **A.** Yes.

21 **Q.** -- do you think that would be appropriate advice in  
22 these circumstances?

23 **A.** I understand that he informed me that he was going to be  
24 moving out of the property, so that also was a factor as  
25 well, that he was going to remove himself from that

8

1 location.

2 **Q.** So if we look back, though, to that pocket book entry at  
3 the very end of it, please, NGPF0000045 we can see  
4 "GROB", that's Sebastian, is moving out from the flat in  
5 September. So that was in about two months' time, so it  
6 wasn't the case that he was moving out immediately, was  
7 it?

8 **A.** No.

9 **Q.** Thank you.

10 Is it right that Sebastian also explained to you  
11 that VC had visits from NHS staff who he believed were  
12 mental health nurses?

13 **A.** That's what he informed me, yes.

14 **Q.** The Inquiry heard from Sebastian yesterday that when he  
15 spoke to you, you commented words to the effect that it  
16 sounded like VC's behaviour might be related to mental  
17 health or drugs; do you recall that?

18 **A.** Yes.

19 **Q.** At paragraph 6 of your witness statement you explain  
20 that in relation to dealing with people with mental  
21 health problems, you were trained to look out for signs  
22 that people were suffering with effective drug use and  
23 medical emergencies that were associated to that?

24 **A.** Yes.

25 **Q.** Do we understand from this that the only training you

9

1 arrive at the address and to keep a continued distance  
2 from" and then should that be VC?

3 **A.** Yes.

4 **Q.** The entry there refers to "officers", plural, advising.  
5 Can you help us with who you are referring to there who  
6 gave that advice?

7 **A.** So that would just be the way that we would type. So  
8 even though it may be one officer we would write  
9 "officers". That's just police language. But it could  
10 be that PC Wakefield was with me when I was typing it.  
11 I can't remember.

12 **Q.** But even if it was just you providing that advice, you  
13 would still write "officers" plural?

14 **A.** Yes, I even do it now, yes.

15 **Q.** Do you think that might be misleading in that it might  
16 look like there's more than one person giving advice by  
17 using a plural rather than singular?

18 **A.** I hadn't -- it hadn't occurred to me. That is still how  
19 I would write things now.

20 **Q.** Had you provided similar advice to people previously  
21 about speaking to mental health professionals?

22 **A.** I mean this is sort of five months into my job, I don't  
23 recall.

24 **Q.** You explain that this "was not based on any policy or  
25 guidance, it just seemed like a sensible thing to

11

1 received at that point in relation to dealing with  
2 mental health issues was in connection with the use of  
3 illegal drugs?

4 **A.** Yes, it's very difficult to recall all of the training,  
5 but yes, we did have some elements in relation to people  
6 who suffered from overdoses of drugs and drugs issues,  
7 mental health is something we deal with on a regular  
8 basis, but ...

9 **Q.** But you don't remember any general training about mental  
10 health that you might have had at that point in your  
11 career?

12 **A.** Not a huge amount, no.

13 **Q.** Can we have the Incident Log on screen, please, at  
14 NGPF0000044 at page 5. So we can see there that there's  
15 an entry made at 18.10 hours. Is that an entry made by  
16 you? We can see the user is 3005695.

17 **A.** Yes, that was entered by me.

18 **Q.** You have explained in your witness statement that in  
19 this entry you have mixed up Sebastian's name and VC's  
20 name, but looking at the third last line in that entry  
21 you note:  
22 "... officers advised [VC] ..."  
23 Should that be Sebastian?

24 **A.** Yes.

25 **Q.** "... to speak to nurses about the incident when they

10

1 suggest" at the time. Does that remain your view?

2 **A.** Yes.

3 **Q.** Would you provide that same advice to someone in the  
4 same circumstances now?

5 **A.** Yes.

6 **Q.** Thank you.

7 Do you see any problem with suggesting to  
8 a potential victim of a crime that he should be the one  
9 to speak to mental health nurses about someone who has  
10 potentially just assaulted him?

11 **A.** The issue is that it was unclear at that particular time  
12 if they were mental health nurses. He stated that  
13 people were visiting the property. We weren't sure --  
14 it wasn't clear that it was a mental health related  
15 issue necessarily. I had no way of contacting the NHS  
16 or able to contact those particular people who visited  
17 that property. I had got no way of communicating to  
18 them directly and it just seemed like a sensible thing  
19 to say at the time.

20 **Q.** So we will come on to potentially who you could have  
21 contacted but, assuming that they were mental health  
22 nurses, do you see a problem with putting the onus on  
23 the potential victim rather than the police trying to  
24 make those enquiries themselves?

25 **A.** I understand.

12

1 Q. Yes.

2 A. However, this is still a non-complaint job and the issue

3 that we have was the IP didn't want to make a complaint

4 and we had no evidence that an assault had taken place.

5 So, I wouldn't have gone and, you know, investigated any

6 further than speaking to the IP.

7 Q. This is slightly -- this is a slightly different point

8 though in terms of positively suggesting to him that he

9 should be the one to speak to mental health

10 professionals. So do you think that that is still

11 an appropriate thing to do, to put the onus on him to

12 speak to mental health professionals in those

13 circumstances?

14 A. I think that what was communicated was to let them know

15 that something had occurred, not necessarily to give the

16 mental health professionals any advice in any way, but

17 just to explain that something had happened and to make

18 them aware of that situation.

19 Q. Could we have NGPF0006002 on screen, please. This is

20 a procedural document called "Dealing with Persons with

21 Mental Health (Consolidated Procedures)". The Inquiry

22 is familiar with this document but were you aware of

23 this policy at the time of this incident?

24 A. I'm aware of data sharing and working alongside partner

25 agencies and dealing with mental health relation --

13

1 a matter of course but I can't remember at that time

2 whether they reviewed it or whether we contacted them.

3 Q. If you had contacted them, would you have recorded it

4 somewhere in the Incident Log or the Occurrence Log?

5 A. Possibly, I mean, I would now but five months in I can't

6 remember whether it would have come naturally to do it

7 at that particular time.

8 Q. So then moving on down that page. It says "none urgent"

9 but perhaps that should say nonurgent. It says:

10 "Officers and staff may attend incidents or come

11 into contact with persons who, while not presenting

12 an immediate risk to themselves or others, are

13 nevertheless believed to be in need of care or support.

14 In such circumstances details of the person, together

15 with the grounds for concern, should be passed on to the

16 local Social Services department via a PPN."

17 So PPN is a reference to a Public Protection Notice.

18 Were you aware of what that was at the time?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. Did you consider whether you should submit a PPN in this

21 case?

22 A. Yes, I believe I did but we didn't at the time -- it was

23 a non-complaint assault. We didn't even know that it

24 was mental health related other than what (*name*

25 *redacted*) had said. So I didn't have any information in

15

1 136 -- mental health related policies. However, this

2 particular time this wasn't something I was looking at

3 sectioning him for.

4 Q. I'm just asking about this particular policy. Had you

5 ever seen this before at the time of this incident?

6 A. I don't recall reading this at that incident time.

7 Q. Can we look at the bottom of page 13 please. If we just

8 scroll down. So under the section "Mentally Disordered

9 Persons in a home, flat or room where someone lives".

10 So the second paragraph there it says:

11 "The Street Triage Team should be the first option

12 to attend any mental health incident as a secondary

13 resource, when available."

14 Were you aware of the Street Triage Team at the time

15 of this incident?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Did you make any attempt to contact them about this

18 incident?

19 A. I can't recall.

20 Q. Were you aware that potentially they could have assisted

21 in terms of speaking to VC, speaking to mental health

22 professionals?

23 A. Yes, yes, they could have been -- I cannot recall

24 whether they were contacted or not. They do regularly

25 review jobs, mental health related jobs that come in as

14

1 order to be able to complete a PPN. (*name redacted*)

2 didn't want --

3 **THE CHAIR:** Can you just use his first name, thank you.

4 A. Sorry, ma'am. Thank you.

5 Sebastian didn't want us to speak to VC at the time

6 and, a PPN, you have to have permission from in this

7 case VC in order to have been able to submit a PPN.

8 **MS MILLAR:** You were aware that there's no attempt to

9 contact VC at all, so why did you think that a PPN

10 wouldn't have been relevant to these circumstances?

11 A. Well, you have to have permission from VC to have --

12 I would have had to have permission from VC to have been

13 able to put forward a PPN.

14 Q. But you made no attempt to contact VC.

15 A. No, because Sebastian requested that we didn't do so.

16 Q. So is it the case that because Sebastian said "I don't

17 want to make a formal complaint about this assault" that

18 you essentially took no further action in relation to

19 a PPN as well?

20 A. That is correct, because we are victim led.

21 Q. What do you mean by "victim led" in these circumstances?

22 A. So in this situation the injured party informed us that

23 he wanted to make us aware, which I recorded the

24 incident as occurring. However, he didn't want to take

25 any further action, so he signed a pocket notebook to

16

1 say that he didn't want to make a statement and then the  
 2 job would have been filed as per the policy.  
 3 **Q.** So it was the case that you thought that because you had  
 4 someone who didn't want to make a police criminal  
 5 complaint that that meant that you weren't going to take  
 6 the matter any further in terms of making other relevant  
 7 agencies aware.  
 8 **A.** This was a relatively simple job that was reported to  
 9 us. It was a non-complaint.  
 10 **THE CHAIR:** Yes, can I just say RTS are going to break the  
 11 feed for five minutes. Yes, carry on.  
 12 **MS MILLAR:** So, I beg your pardon, if we go back to that  
 13 last question, so do I understand your evidence  
 14 correctly is that because Sebastian didn't want to make  
 15 a formal complaint about this incident, you essentially  
 16 thought that was the end of the matter, that you then  
 17 couldn't go on to share any information with relevant  
 18 agencies?  
 19 **A.** That's correct.  
 20 **Q.** So if we move -- if we go back to that policy please,  
 21 NGPF0006002 and page 14. We see that section which says  
 22 3.2.3 "Urgent":  
 23 "If an officer or a member of staff is dealing with  
 24 a person on private premises, and that person is  
 25 believed to be suffering from a mental disorder that

17

1 it was a no injury complaint. So the process is to sign  
 2 the pocket notebook, record that the incident has  
 3 occurred and then for it to be filed.  
 4 **Q.** Sebastian's evidence to the Inquiry yesterday was that  
 5 after he discussed the incident with you, that you said  
 6 you would see if you could put a marker on VC for the  
 7 appropriate agency to follow up; do you agree that you  
 8 told him that?  
 9 **A.** I believe that I -- appropriate advice that would have  
 10 been given. However, I imagine that the reason that  
 11 wasn't done was because the job was going to be filed  
 12 because it was a non-complaint.  
 13 **Q.** So when you said you would see if you could put a marker  
 14 on VC, did you do that? Did you see if you could put  
 15 a marker on VC?  
 16 **A.** I don't recall doing that.  
 17 **Q.** Why did you tell him that you would see if you could and  
 18 then not do that?  
 19 **A.** I was possibly looking at the options to try and help  
 20 him in the situation, but being relatively young in  
 21 service in that extent, I possibly needed to go and have  
 22 a conversation as to what the procedure needed to be.  
 23 But I can't recall exactly what was said, what was  
 24 discussed, but I do know that we then just ended up  
 25 filing that.

19

1 requires urgent but not immediate assessment, care and  
 2 control, the person's GP service should be contacted  
 3 with a view to arranging further assessment."  
 4 Then going on down:  
 5 "Officers can also signpost the person to ring NHS  
 6 111, contact the crisis team if they are open to  
 7 secondary mental health services or voluntary attend A&E  
 8 ... Other local options might be available."  
 9 Did you consider whether any of those options were  
 10 appropriate in those circumstances?  
 11 **A.** I didn't, no.  
 12 **Q.** Why not?  
 13 **A.** Because this was a very simple report that was being  
 14 given to the police and he didn't want to make  
 15 a complaint. So, I just filed the job. I recorded that  
 16 an incident had occurred and then the job was filed.  
 17 **Q.** Why does the simplicity of the report have any bearing  
 18 on whether you think it is appropriate to signpost  
 19 someone who is potentially unwell to mental health  
 20 services?  
 21 **A.** Because in our situation we have lots of jobs coming in  
 22 all the time and we simply don't have the time or the  
 23 resources to spend hours and hours on -- unfortunately,  
 24 in this case, it was an extremely low, low level,  
 25 non-complaint, no injury, although it was assault, but

18

1 **Q.** So can you remember having any conversation with  
 2 PC Wakefield about the options in these circumstances?  
 3 **A.** I don't recall, no.  
 4 **Q.** Whenever you are referring there to a marker, what type  
 5 of marker did you have in mind?  
 6 **A.** You can put a point of interest marker on an address,  
 7 so, if somebody calls in from a particular address it  
 8 flags up that an incident has occurred. This would  
 9 normally be done for domestic related incidents or other  
 10 incidents where we feel, you know, the police need to be  
 11 made aware. I cannot remember why that wasn't done.  
 12 **Q.** Were you aware of how to do that at the time?  
 13 **A.** Yes.  
 14 **Q.** Would that have been a relatively easy thing to do to  
 15 put a marker?  
 16 **A.** Yes.  
 17 **Q.** But it is your evidence that you can't remember why?  
 18 **A.** Yeah, apologies, I can't remember why.  
 19 **Q.** So, looking at this in hindsight, do you think there are  
 20 further steps that you could have taken in relation to  
 21 Sebastian flagging to you that there may have been  
 22 a mental health issue in this case?  
 23 **A.** Yes, however, the job would still have been filed  
 24 because it was such a low level job that was reported to  
 25 us.

20

1 **Q.** So what further steps in hindsight would you have taken?  
 2 **A.** Possibly a POI marker, but in relation to contacting  
 3 mental health services, that still wouldn't be something  
 4 that would have been very easy to do and the ability to  
 5 do that or who to contact and where they were, I can't  
 6 recall much information that was given to me in relation  
 7 to VC's mental services that he was receiving other than  
 8 the notes that I referred to.  
 9 **Q.** Do you think it would be useful for there to be further  
 10 training or information provided to officers on the  
 11 frontline about dealing with people with mental health  
 12 issues and the signposting to different agencies that  
 13 can occur?  
 14 **A.** Yes, absolutely. I feel that we need more communication  
 15 from Mental Health Services and further training was  
 16 always really very important within police.  
 17 **Q.** So I'm going to turn then to the steps you took after  
 18 the account had been provided by Sebastian to  
 19 investigate this incident. So if we have the mental  
 20 health policy NGPF0006002 at the bottom of page 19.  
 21 We can see there under "Mentally Disordered  
 22 Suspects" it notes:  
 23 "The fact that a suspect is believed to have mental  
 24 ill health or learning difficulties must not preclude  
 25 full investigation of an offence and should only rarely

21

1 that page at 4.5 under the heading "Basic principles for  
 2 recording a crime" -- if we go down the page a tiny bit,  
 3 please, thank you -- it notes that:  
 4 "An incident will be recorded as a notifiable  
 5 offence where either;  
 6 "A. On the balance of probabilities, the  
 7 circumstances as reported amount to a crime defined by  
 8 law ..."  
 9 Over the page, please:  
 10 "And  
 11 "A victim ... confirms that a crime has occurred ...  
 12 [then third]  
 13 "At the time of reporting there is no credible  
 14 evidence to the contrary immediately available".  
 15 Is it on that basis that you recorded this crime as  
 16 an assault?  
 17 **A.** Yes.  
 18 **Q.** If we could go to the Incident Log again, please, at  
 19 NGPF0000044, and the next page, please. So if we look  
 20 then at the incident description, starting at the end of  
 21 the second last line, it notes:  
 22 "Flat mate is still inside the building."  
 23 Were you aware at the time that you spoke to  
 24 Sebastian that VC was still at the address?  
 25 **A.** Yes.

23

1 prevent arrest and/or interview of a suspect."  
 2 Then over the page, to the bottom of page 21,  
 3 please, and the title is "MH [mental health] Service  
 4 User -- Outpatient", it says at the second paragraph:  
 5 "As with voluntary inpatients ... there is  
 6 a presumption that such persons have the fitness for  
 7 interview and are fit for detention."  
 8 Did you understand that to be the case at the time  
 9 of this incident?  
 10 **A.** Yes.  
 11 **Q.** You confirmed earlier that you were the OIC in relation  
 12 to this matter?  
 13 **A.** Yes.  
 14 **Q.** Is it right that the OIC is the officer with overall  
 15 responsibility for investigating an incident?  
 16 **A.** Yes.  
 17 **Q.** Ultimately, you recorded this incident as a crime of  
 18 assault; is that right?  
 19 **A.** That's correct.  
 20 **Q.** Can we have NGPF0006050 on screen, please. This is the  
 21 Nottinghamshire Police crime reporting policy, which you  
 22 referred to in your statement as having applied at the  
 23 time; is that right?  
 24 **A.** That's correct.  
 25 **Q.** If we turn to page 10, then, please. At the bottom of

22

1 **Q.** When you were contacted on your personal radio about the  
 2 incident, you were aware that officers were on their way  
 3 to the address; is that right?  
 4 **A.** Yes, I believe so.  
 5 **Q.** Did you make inquiries to see whether officers had, in  
 6 fact, attended the scene, particularly because you knew  
 7 that VC was still inside the address?  
 8 **A.** I can't remember.  
 9 **Q.** Would you have recorded that if you had done so,  
 10 somewhere on the Occurrence Log or Incident Log?  
 11 **A.** I would do now, but I can't remember, you know, it  
 12 was -- I can't remember what was said on that particular  
 13 day, I'm sorry.  
 14 **Q.** Should you have done so?  
 15 **A.** If they had attended and actually spoken to him, then  
 16 absolutely I would have done so.  
 17 **Q.** Should you have done so knowing that officers were on  
 18 their way to the address just to check if they had, in  
 19 fact, attended to see if they had spoken to anyone?  
 20 **A.** I can't remember whether they did arrive at the address  
 21 and, if they had, I probably would have recorded it, but  
 22 I cannot remember that occurring.  
 23 **Q.** So my question is slightly different. So it is --  
 24 I understand that you can't remember, but should you  
 25 have knowing that they were on their way to the address

24

1 made inquiries about whether, in fact, they did attend?  
 2 **A.** I would do now. I should have done then if they had.  
 3 I don't know why it is not on there.  
 4 **Q.** Did you consider whether an account should be obtained  
 5 from VC about the incident?  
 6 **A.** I believe when I spoke to Sebastian he didn't want us to  
 7 speak to VC in relation to the incident which is why we  
 8 didn't do so.  
 9 **Q.** So is that the sole reason that you didn't, because  
 10 Sebastian said he didn't want to make a formal  
 11 complaint?  
 12 **A.** That is correct, it was the wishes of the victim at the  
 13 time.  
 14 **Q.** Sebastian's evidence yesterday was that you told him  
 15 that the police could speak to VC but in the absence of  
 16 any injury, he was unlikely to be arrested or taken  
 17 away. Do you remember saying that to Sebastian?  
 18 **A.** I don't recall, no.  
 19 **Q.** Is that appropriate advice to give someone in the  
 20 circumstances do you think?  
 21 **A.** Yes, so if the victim doesn't want to make a complaint  
 22 and doesn't want to make a statement in relation to the  
 23 incident, then we wouldn't have arrested him.  
 24 **Q.** So what I have said is slightly different. What  
 25 Sebastian said in his evidence is in the absence of any  
 25

25

1 junior in the Force, will probably be different advice  
 2 than I would give now but it is just experience that you  
 3 have to have.  
 4 **Q.** So moving on then to the checks that were conducted in  
 5 relation to VC's background. Could we have your witness  
 6 statement on screen please at WITN0015001, at  
 7 paragraph 21 at the bottom of page 5, please. So,  
 8 starting at paragraph 21 it notes:  
 9 "I have been asked if there were any outstanding  
 10 criminal matters at the time of my involvement in this  
 11 matter. My response is that I was not aware of any  
 12 outstanding criminal matters against [VC] ... at the  
 13 time I dealt with him. From reading the Incident Log,  
 14 it does not appear that a NICHE check was carried out  
 15 because there was insufficient detail of [VC] ... to be  
 16 able to search. A NICHE check is a search of the NICHE  
 17 system for any information about an individual as  
 18 a result of previous police contact. A person can be  
 19 searched on their name, date of birth or address to find  
 20 a result. I do not know why this information was not  
 21 available in [VC's] ... case. Although I had spoken to  
 22 Sebastian ... in Radford Road Police Station reception,  
 23 on a response shift we work as a team and it is not  
 24 unusual for another member of the team to conduct checks  
 25 at the same time."

27

1 injury VC was unlikely to be arrested or taken away. Do  
 2 you think that is accurate?  
 3 **A.** I don't recall.  
 4 **Q.** So not whether you recall but do you think that's  
 5 accurate advice to tell someone who is a potential  
 6 victim of a crime, that unless you have any injuries the  
 7 alleged suspect isn't going to be arrested or taken  
 8 away?  
 9 **A.** I think each situation is -- you have to judge each  
 10 situation at each particular time. In this situation he  
 11 had no injuries, so you have to look at the evidential  
 12 threshold as to whether CPS will look at charging or  
 13 whether it is going to go to court, and if you have no  
 14 injuries on your IP and your IP isn't forthcoming on  
 15 wanting to make a complaint, then, unfortunately, the  
 16 chances are the job will just be filed, and we have to  
 17 judge every job and we have to do that in a very very  
 18 quick timeframe as well.  
 19 **Q.** So just -- if we just think about the no injuries point.  
 20 Someone can be prosecuted for an assault if they don't  
 21 cause any injuries; that is correct, isn't it?  
 22 **A.** It is correct.  
 23 **Q.** So it doesn't follow that, in the absence of any injury,  
 24 someone will never be prosecuted.  
 25 **A.** No, that's right. I mean, the advice I give then, being  
 26

26

1 So I just want to unpack that paragraph of that  
 2 witness statement to make sure I have understood it  
 3 correctly.  
 4 In relation to your comment that there is  
 5 insufficient detail of VC to be able to conduct  
 6 a search, can we look at the Incident Log at NGPF0000044  
 7 at page 3, please.  
 8 We can see an entry at 16.56.07 and that says:  
 9 "Male is Valo Ozan ?? approx 24-30 ...[years old]".  
 10 Then there is an entry below that at the bottom  
 11 which says at 17.04 hours:  
 12 "Unable to locate anything on NICHE with suspect  
 13 details provided".  
 14 So is that what you are referring to when you say  
 15 you looked at the Incident Log and there was  
 16 insufficient detail about VC to conduct a search on  
 17 NICHE?  
 18 **A.** Yes, I believe so.  
 19 **Q.** That entry there -- those two entries were made before  
 20 you had spoken to Sebastian; is that correct?  
 21 **A.** Correct, yes.  
 22 **Q.** So looking at the user numbers there, none of those  
 23 entries were made -- neither of those entries were made  
 24 by you, were they?  
 25 **A.** No.

28

1 Q. So, looking at that together, do you agree that it  
2 appears that they can't find anything on NICHE because  
3 they don't have the correct name?  
4 A. Correct.  
5 Q. If we go to page 5, then, to your entry at 18.10,  
6 please. So then at 18.10 we can see your entry that we  
7 referred to earlier and we can see that Sebastian does  
8 provide you with VC's full name?  
9 A. Correct.  
10 Q. You were aware of his address because it was the  
11 location of this assault, isn't that right?  
12 A. Yes.  
13 Q. You have said at that paragraph in your witness  
14 statement that I took you to that a person can be  
15 searched on NICHE using their name, date of birth or  
16 address?  
17 A. Yes.  
18 Q. So at this point that you spoke to Sebastian you had two  
19 of those things?  
20 A. Yes.  
21 Q. Did you then conduct a search on NICHE?  
22 A. Yes, that would have been done.  
23 Q. What was the result of that search?  
24 A. Well, that he was recorded on our police system and that  
25 there were previous offences under his name and then the

29

1 people who he had lived in close proximity to?  
2 A. I wouldn't have looked at all the previous jobs,  
3 I wouldn't have looked into those jobs and I wouldn't  
4 have read those jobs.  
5 Q. Why not?  
6 A. Because I didn't have the time.  
7 Q. Do you think that that is an appropriate way to  
8 investigate an offence?  
9 A. In the situation that we are working in, with the  
10 timescales that we have and the jobs that we have to  
11 deal with, the quantity of jobs that we have to deal  
12 with, yes.  
13 Q. At the end of that paragraph in your witness statement  
14 that I took you to, you said:  
15 "... on a response shift we work as a team and it is  
16 not unusual for another member of the team to conduct  
17 checks at the same time".  
18 So were you relying on the fact that substantive  
19 checks would be made by someone else in your team?  
20 A. We do work as a team, I can't recall what the other team  
21 members did at that time.  
22 Q. Does that reflect a working practice where you are  
23 assuming things are going to be done by other officers  
24 and don't need to be done by you?  
25 A. Not necessarily. But I can't recall what the

31

1 process would have been to crime this incident and add  
2 him as a known party attached to that crime.  
3 Q. So why did you not mention that in your witness  
4 statement that you had personally conducted a search on  
5 NICHE and that was what came up?  
6 A. I don't know.  
7 Q. So we don't see on the Incident Log or the Occurrence  
8 Log that you have said anywhere: I have conducted  
9 a search of NICHE, these were the results. Would that  
10 have been something you would have recorded on the log  
11 at the time?  
12 A. It would have been simply attaching VC to this incident  
13 and that's done very quickly within a few -- you know,  
14 you find the various person and then attach them to the  
15 job so that all persons are recorded on the system.  
16 Q. But a moment ago you said that when you searched NICHE  
17 you were aware that he had been involved in previous  
18 incidents?  
19 A. I can't remember exactly all the steps that I took at  
20 that particular time, but once you have the various  
21 information, after I had spoken to Sebastian, you have  
22 then got the information that you need to be able to  
23 attach various parties to the job.  
24 Q. Were you aware at the time that there had been previous  
25 incidents involving VC where he had been violent against

30

1 conversations were on that day.  
2 Q. You explain in your witness statement that you didn't  
3 have access to the Police National Computer at the time  
4 because you hadn't undertaken the relevant training.  
5 Did you ask anyone else to undertake a PNC check?  
6 A. Usually that's done by the control room and if it hasn't  
7 been then we would make sure that this person isn't  
8 wanted or, you know, needing -- hasn't -- make sure that  
9 he isn't wanted and that we don't need to go and arrest  
10 him for any particular reason.  
11 Q. Did that happen in this case?  
12 A. I can't remember. I would imagine so. We usually  
13 always, always do a PNC check on people to understand  
14 who they are.  
15 Q. Would it have been recorded on the Incident Log or the  
16 Occurrence Log if that had, in fact, happened?  
17 A. If the control room had done it, then it would have been  
18 entered onto the Incident Log. When we conduct PNC  
19 checks, they are not necessarily entered onto the  
20 Incident Log if we have done it. But, it usually would  
21 have been recorded on the occurrence.  
22 Q. So from what the Inquiry has seen it isn't recorded on  
23 the Occurrence Log. Why is that?  
24 A. I don't know.  
25 Q. Would it have been your responsibility as the OIC to

32

1 ensure that anything relevant to the investigation was  
 2 recorded on the Occurrence Log?  
 3 **A.** Yes.  
 4 **Q.** At the time of this incident, it is right that you were  
 5 aware that Sebastian and VC were students living in  
 6 student accommodation?  
 7 **A.** Yes.  
 8 **Q.** I have taken you to the entry in your pocket book where  
 9 Sebastian informed you that he wasn't moving out until  
 10 September, so they would still be living together if  
 11 nothing else changed for another couple of months?  
 12 **A.** Yes.  
 13 **Q.** Can we please have UNIN0001829 on screen, please. This  
 14 is an information sharing agreement between  
 15 Nottinghamshire Police and the University of Nottingham;  
 16 were you aware of this agreement at the time?  
 17 **A.** The information sharing in relation to it, yes.  
 18 **Q.** What did you understand?  
 19 **A.** That we communicate with Nottinghamshire University if  
 20 the students unfortunately get arrested or they are  
 21 charged with an offence, we would communicate that to  
 22 the university.  
 23 **Q.** So given the information that you had here, did that  
 24 happen on this case?  
 25 **A.** No.

33

1 no supporting victim and as such the job was filed and  
 2 then no further action was taken.  
 3 **Q.** Can we have a look at the Occurrence Log please at  
 4 NGPF0000043 at the bottom of page 8. We can see that  
 5 there is a box at the bottom of that page which says:  
 6 "OIC investigation completed".  
 7 Is that an entry you made?  
 8 **A.** Yes.  
 9 **Q.** Essentially, is that when you have explored all the  
 10 lines of enquiry and you are satisfied that the  
 11 investigation is complete?  
 12 **A.** Yes.  
 13 **Q.** So we can see the entry time is 20:42 hours and you had  
 14 spoken to Sebastian at around 5.30 pm. So you had  
 15 completed the investigation just three hours later; is  
 16 that correct?  
 17 **A.** Yes.  
 18 **Q.** In hindsight, do you think that there's any other lines  
 19 of enquiry which you should have explored in relation to  
 20 this incident?  
 21 **A.** In hindsight, yes. However, the amount of jobs that we  
 22 have coming in, it was dealt with appropriately that he  
 23 didn't want to make a complaint so naturally the job was  
 24 filed. We don't have the time to follow every element,  
 25 I don't have time to do all the research -- I would love

35

1 **Q.** Why not?  
 2 **A.** The job was a no complaint and no support from the IP,  
 3 so it was recorded and then filed and the university  
 4 weren't informed.  
 5 **Q.** When you say no complaint, there had been a complaint,  
 6 Sebastian had told you that he had been assaulted, his  
 7 flatmate had been behaving very aggressively to him and  
 8 that Sebastian thought he was going to harm him. In  
 9 those circumstances, do you not think that was something  
 10 relevant to share with the university?  
 11 **A.** No.  
 12 **Q.** Why not?  
 13 **A.** Because we get so many calls and if we contacted the  
 14 university for every enquiry that was made to the  
 15 police, you know we don't have time to do that. This  
 16 job was a very, very -- it was a very simple low, low  
 17 level job that was -- I recorded the information that  
 18 was given to me by Sebastian and then the job was filed  
 19 as he didn't want to make a statement and he didn't want  
 20 to make a complaint.  
 21 **Q.** So is your answer really to the question of why you  
 22 didn't share it with the University of Nottingham is  
 23 that you didn't have time?  
 24 **A.** No, it's just that in this particular instance the job  
 25 was not -- we are not going to be arresting VC, we had

34

1 to have time to spend hours and hours and hours on every  
 2 single job, but due to the pressures that we are under,  
 3 we don't have time to do all these things.  
 4 **Q.** You have said in hindsight you would have taken some  
 5 further steps; what further steps would you have taken  
 6 looking back at this incident?  
 7 **A.** If I'd had the ability to contact mental health and the  
 8 relevant people, I would have spoken to them in relation  
 9 to this, just to make them aware.  
 10 **Q.** Just in relation to that, you said that you were aware  
 11 of the Street Triage Team, were you aware that there was  
 12 a Community Psychiatric Nurse on that team?  
 13 **A.** Yes.  
 14 **Q.** So you did have the ability to speak to a mental health  
 15 professional?  
 16 **A.** Yes, they may have been made aware. I'm not sure. As  
 17 I say, they are made aware of most mental health related  
 18 offences or incidents that come in.  
 19 **Q.** But you didn't make them aware, sorry?  
 20 **A.** I can't remember whether I spoke to them or anybody was  
 21 contacted or not. They may have been, but I can't  
 22 remember.  
 23 **Q.** Moving then to closing, how the case was closed. At  
 24 paragraph 17 of your statement you explain that you  
 25 requested that Sergeant Price "review the matter and

36

1 authorise closing the file."  
 2 Did PC Wakefield have any input before you presented  
 3 the case to Sergeant Price?  
 4 **A.** I can't remember.  
 5 **Q.** Would it have been usual practice for you to run cases  
 6 past PC Wakefield before submitting them for closure at  
 7 this point in your career or not?  
 8 **A.** Yes, we would have discussed possibly but I can't  
 9 remember.  
 10 **Q.** Did you speak to Sergeant Price about the incident  
 11 whenever you presented to her to close?  
 12 **A.** Yes.  
 13 **Q.** What did you tell her?  
 14 **A.** We would have looked at what evidence was available,  
 15 whether there was any CCTV that was available, any  
 16 enquiries that could have been made around the IP not  
 17 making a statement. But there was no CCTV and there was  
 18 no evidence to suggest that a crime had been committed.  
 19 There were no independent witnesses and the IP,  
 20 Sebastian, didn't want to make a statement and signed  
 21 the pocket notebook which unfortunately meant that the  
 22 case needed to be closed.  
 23 **Q.** Did Sergeant Price ask you why Sebastian didn't want to  
 24 make a formal complaint?  
 25 **A.** I imagine she probably did.

37

1 evidence is that you were at university, you weren't on  
 2 frontline duties at that time.  
 3 **A.** That is correct.  
 4 **Q.** Then you returned to duty on 12 August.  
 5 **A.** Correct, yes.  
 6 **Q.** When you were at university did you have access to your  
 7 work mobile number?  
 8 **A.** No.  
 9 **Q.** So who would have been monitoring any contact that was  
 10 made to that number?  
 11 **A.** No. So that phone would have remained with my kit in my  
 12 locker, but I had my laptop. Because I was back at  
 13 university I needed to concentrate on my university  
 14 studies. So it is a delicate balance that you have to  
 15 operate between university and policing. But I would --  
 16 I had my laptop with me and would have been managing my  
 17 crimes on my laptop but I didn't have my police mobile.  
 18 **Q.** So when you came back on the 12 August, and you turned  
 19 your work phone on again, did you go back through to  
 20 check if there had been any contact from people for the  
 21 month that you had been away?  
 22 **A.** I would have done but I don't recall receiving anything.  
 23 I don't remember.  
 24 **Q.** Do you think that your mobile -- your work mobile should  
 25 have been monitored in your absence by someone else?

39

1 **Q.** Can you remember that?  
 2 **A.** I can't remember, no.  
 3 **Q.** So, then, the last topic I want to ask you about is  
 4 further contact from Sebastian after the incident. Is  
 5 it right that when the case was closed did you text  
 6 Sebastian to inform him that the case had been closed?  
 7 **A.** Yes, it is procedure to do that.  
 8 **Q.** Would that have been using your work mobile number?  
 9 **A.** Yes.  
 10 **Q.** So Sebastian's evidence to the Inquiry is that about  
 11 a week later, so around 14 July, he messaged you and  
 12 informed you that his flatmate tried to come into his  
 13 room at 5 o'clock in the morning without knocking, but  
 14 left again when he realised the door was locked, and he  
 15 said he asked in that message whether the incident was  
 16 worth reporting to the police and signed the message off  
 17 with his first name. Do you remember receiving that  
 18 message?  
 19 **A.** I don't, no. I was away. Because I was a PCGA student,  
 20 as well as training as a police officer, I take leave  
 21 during that period to go back to university to continue  
 22 my degree studies, and I was at the university for the  
 23 next four weeks and I didn't return to frontline duties  
 24 until 12 August.  
 25 **Q.** So this week we are talking about, 14 July, your

38

1 **A.** It is very difficult to put more onto another officer in  
 2 your absence. Maybe that's something that can be looked  
 3 into but you don't want to give your colleagues more  
 4 pressure on the job, but, yeah, I mean it is something  
 5 that maybe could be looked into.  
 6 **Q.** Is there any reason that if you had seen that message on  
 7 12 August or thereafter that you wouldn't have responded  
 8 to it?  
 9 **A.** No, I would have responded.  
 10 **Q.** Thank you, PC Pannell, those are all the questions that  
 11 I have for you, but I just turn to see if there are any  
 12 questions from anyone else. Yes, Mr Moloney?  
 13 **THE CHAIR:** Yes, Mr Moloney, thank you.  
 14 **Questioned by MR MOLONEY**  
 15 **MR MOLONEY:** Good morning, PC Pannell, PC Pannell. When you  
 16 dealt with this incident, had you been to training  
 17 school?  
 18 **A.** Yes.  
 19 **Q.** At training school was there any module where you  
 20 learned how to deal with people with mental health  
 21 problems?  
 22 **A.** I recall we had an officer visit us to discuss the  
 23 crisis vehicle that would carry a mental health nurse  
 24 and a police officer driver, but I don't recall a huge  
 25 amount of training in relation to it.

40

- 1 Q. At training school was it impressed on you that it was  
2 important to know the policies and procedures of your  
3 Force?  
4 A. Yes.  
5 Q. Including those for dealing with people with mental  
6 health difficulties?  
7 A. Mm.  
8 Q. At training school was it impressed on you that it was  
9 important to follow those policies and procedures of  
10 your own Force?  
11 A. Yes.  
12 Q. Including those for dealing with people with mental  
13 health problems?  
14 A. Yes.  
15 Q. Were you taught at training school that the fact that  
16 you are busy is a good reason for not knowing about the  
17 policy of your own Force, about how to deal with people  
18 with mental health problems?  
19 A. No.  
20 Q. Is the fact that you are busy a good reason for not  
21 following your own Force's policy or procedure in your  
22 view?  
23 A. No.  
24 Q. Does the fact that you are busy, in your view, allow you  
25 to just deal with matters as you think fit without

41

- 1 A. Thank you.  
2 **THE CHAIR:** Yes, Ms Cartwright.  
3 **Questioned by MS CARTWRIGHT**  
4 **MS CARTWRIGHT:** Good morning, officer.  
5 A. Good morning.  
6 Q. Officer, can I ask you first of all, you may have heard  
7 at the start of this period of evidence Ms Millar  
8 referenced a statement of Temporary Detective Chief  
9 Inspector Goucher which has been uploaded to the Inquiry  
10 website. Can I ask you first of all, have the contents  
11 of the review conducted by Temporary DCI Goucher been  
12 shared with you?  
13 A. No.  
14 Q. All right. Well, Temporary DCI Goucher has conducted  
15 a review of the three incidents that VC and Sebastian  
16 were involved in and makes a number of very critical  
17 findings of the Force's compliance with policies and  
18 procedure and it is your evidence, notwithstanding you  
19 are a still serving officer, that nobody from the Force  
20 has updated you about what those findings are?  
21 A. I don't know. I don't know.  
22 Q. Bearing in mind you have given evidence today about  
23 things you would still continue to do, including you  
24 have referenced when Ms Millar took you through the  
25 occurrence and how you recorded that that's still how

43

- 1 reference to the policies and procedures that are there  
2 to guide your actions as a member of Nottinghamshire  
3 Constabulary?  
4 A. We would follow the policies and procedures and we would  
5 deal with each job as we feel fit at that particular  
6 time.  
7 Q. Did you really do a NICHE search on VC, officer?  
8 A. I can't recall every step that I took five years ago,  
9 unfortunately.  
10 Q. If you had -- sorry. You don't know whether or not you  
11 did a NICHE search; is that your evidence?  
12 A. I cannot remember.  
13 Q. You cannot remember. You had his name?  
14 A. Yes.  
15 Q. But you can't remember. If you had done a NICHE search,  
16 please bear with me now, and you had seen what had  
17 happened to Feven, and Sebastian was therefore a man who  
18 was living with another man who was dangerous to people  
19 he lived with and had mental health problems, would you  
20 still have been too busy to take further action?  
21 A. This wasn't a case of me being too busy to take further  
22 action. This unfortunately was a case of the IP not  
23 wanting to press any charges or make a complaint. So  
24 I recorded the incident and then the job was filed.  
25 Q. Thank you very much, officer.

42

- 1 you record now, do you not think it would have been  
2 appropriate if there have been findings and a review  
3 that is critical of this incident that it should have  
4 been shared with you by way of remediation, training to  
5 make sure you understand the policies and procedures  
6 operated at Nottingham?  
7 A. Sorry? Could you just confirm what the question is?  
8 Q. Yes. What I'm saying is, would you not expect if your  
9 own Force who still employs you had undertaken a review  
10 that makes criticisms of your involvement that you  
11 should be made aware of those so it would have informed  
12 any re-training issues or learning or remediation?  
13 A. So there is a ten-point procedure which has been created  
14 off the back of this very tragic incident that occurred  
15 with VC and in hindsight, which is something which  
16 I would -- I would -- you know, when you are dealing  
17 with a situation where someone doesn't want to make  
18 a complaint, we would still follow the same procedure.  
19 I recorded the incident and then the job was filed  
20 because we had -- the victim didn't want to make  
21 a complaint and I didn't have any evidence other than  
22 what the victim had stated. So I had to file the job.  
23 Q. All right. But you -- your evidence is as of today you  
24 have not had the findings shared with you of the Goucher  
25 review; is that correct?

44

1 A. I have had a lot of paperwork sent to me in the last few  
 2 days and I have read an awful lot of it, but to pinpoint  
 3 exactly what every single item of what that paperwork  
 4 says is not necessarily an easy thing for me to do.

5 Q. Can we, first of all, go back into NGPF0000044 at  
 6 page 6, please. Thank you. So can I just ask you about  
 7 this in terms of real time what happened because you  
 8 have given evidence about how essentially what you could  
 9 and couldn't do in circumstances where Sebastian was not  
 10 willing to support the complaint. But we can see that  
 11 even on the day NCRS were critical about your confusing  
 12 entries; can you recall that?

13 A. That that's what is written.

14 Q. Can you, perhaps just for completeness again, I think it  
 15 is relevant to the policy Ms Millar took you to, can you  
 16 confirm your understanding of the importance of the  
 17 National Crime Recording Statistics. Well, what was  
 18 your understanding of an NCRS review at that time in  
 19 July 2021?

20 A. So NCRS would review a job to make sure that incidents  
 21 are recorded correctly and you can see by my entry at  
 22 the bottom that I corrected the incident that was  
 23 recorded. I have dyslexia, so I have sometimes --  
 24 particularly in this case, unfortunately when you press  
 25 enter you can't change the entry. So when the names

45

1 you the root of the incident that had happened between  
 2 VC and Sebastian was mental health related?

3 A. Yes, I believe it might have been mental health related.

4 Q. One of the things that DCI Goucher's review references  
 5 is that that should have been a consideration for  
 6 a referral to MASH and also to get the involvement of  
 7 the Street Triage to essentially go out and do  
 8 an assessment; were you aware of that?

9 A. Yes, but it still wouldn't have had any -- it wouldn't  
 10 have any impact on the fact that the job wouldn't have  
 11 been filed, unfortunately.

12 Q. No, but it could have given VC access to a mental health  
 13 assessment that day by the Street Triage Team?

14 A. Yes, I can't remember whether the Street Triage Team  
 15 were contacted on the day.

16 Q. Now, you had been asked questions by Ms Millar about  
 17 your suggestion to Sebastian that he himself should make  
 18 enquiries of the mental health nurses. Inspector  
 19 Goucher, in her review, considers that was completely  
 20 an inappropriate thing to be telling a victim to do;  
 21 would you agree with that?

22 A. Would I do it today now with all the experience that  
 23 I have? No, I wouldn't. I don't know why it wasn't at  
 24 the time other than the fact that it seemed sensible at  
 25 the time.

47

1 were typed up and mixed up, it put it on there  
 2 permanently, but I put an extra entry in at the bottom  
 3 to correct my previous entries that I put in.

4 Q. Because essentially it was this review by the NCRS that  
 5 actually resulted in what Sebastian reported actually  
 6 being properly resulted and crimed, would you agree,  
 7 because before that you had not taken the steps to crime  
 8 what Sebastian had reported; would you agree?

9 A. Actually I crimed.

10 Q. Sorry?

11 A. I crimed this incident. NCRS didn't crime, I crimed  
 12 this incident.

13 Q. No, no, we can see that, but it is crimed after NCRS is  
 14 involved. We can see that followed after NCRS's  
 15 contact?

16 A. Right.

17 Q. Then you had been taken to again your entry which  
 18 perhaps if we can go to together, NGPF0000043 at page 8.  
 19 Obviously, we can see the entry at the bottom of the  
 20 page that gives the account about behaviour and  
 21 certainly what's reported there -- and particularly  
 22 bearing in mind your own entry in your witness statement  
 23 where, again, Sebastian had told you that there were  
 24 mental health nurses that visited VC -- if you look at  
 25 that entry in totality, was this not really flagging to

46

1 Q. The review also references that a further failing was  
 2 that VC's date of birth was not recorded in respect of  
 3 your involvement and, had you had that fed back to you,  
 4 that there was a failure to record VC's date of birth,  
 5 that has had an impact upon the recurring of this  
 6 incident and then the marrying up and subsequent  
 7 reporting from Sebastian.

8 A. It could be that Sebastian didn't know his date of  
 9 birth, in which case I wouldn't have been able to record  
 10 it from him.

11 Q. But you have told this enquiry that checks were made of  
 12 VC, and so if those checks had been performed, with the  
 13 fairly distinctive name of VC, would you agree that that  
 14 date of birth was there to be recorded and should have  
 15 been recorded?

16 A. That -- I can only put that down to only being in  
 17 service for a few months. I would always record a date  
 18 of birth now.

19 Q. Then just about the policy on mentally disordered  
 20 individuals, you have given evidence about what training  
 21 you had as a probationary officer and I think you have  
 22 said, yes, more training would be certainly helpful.  
 23 But again we have heard evidence that essentially a huge  
 24 portion of response officers' day-to-day dealings with  
 25 the public is mental health issues, and so is it your

48

1 evidence at this time even, as a probationary, that  
2 mentally disordered policy, which gave clear guidance as  
3 to what the Force's policy expected of policies and  
4 procedures, had not been shared with you?

5 **A.** I went through training in a very difficult period of  
6 time and a lot of my training was in person and through  
7 Teams meetings. I think more training is very  
8 important, but mental health is something that we are  
9 dealing with more and more, and it is very problematic  
10 on our day-to-day policing. I think more training is  
11 beneficial to officers on the frontline.

12 **Q.** I think not just beneficial but essentially it suggests  
13 pathways --

14 **A.** It is crucial.

15 **Q.** Crucial, indeed, because if it suggests pathways for  
16 investigation also of what's required, if then -- if  
17 officers on the ground aren't following that policy then  
18 there's not the proper assessment of risk and actions  
19 taken.

20 **A.** Yes.

21 **Q.** Thank you for answering my questions.

22 **THE CHAIR:** Mr Beggs.

23 **Questioned by MR BEGGS**

24 **MR BEGGS:** Could I ask for NGPF0000045 to be put on the  
25 screen for the witness, please.

49

1 **A.** That would have been the information that he would have  
2 given me at the time.

3 **Q.** Might that, if you don't remember please say so, be  
4 potentially relevant to risk?

5 **A.** Absolutely, yes.

6 **Q.** If the complainant doesn't want to support police  
7 action, but the assault is more serious than the one  
8 that you have recorded, might you, back in 2021, have  
9 taken more rigorous action?

10 **A.** Absolutely.

11 **Q.** Is seriousness a factor for a response officer?

12 **A.** Yes.

13 **Q.** Why is that?

14 **A.** We need to factor in the seriousness of the incident as  
15 to whether it would be accepted by CPS for a charging  
16 decision.

17 **Q.** On a case where the complainant has no injuries, doesn't  
18 want you to contact the assailant and doesn't want to  
19 make a statement or go to court, was there in 2021 time  
20 as a response officer to do much more work on that?

21 **A.** No.

22 **Q.** Is there now in 2026 time?

23 **A.** No.

24 **Q.** Is it realistic to suppose that much more work could be  
25 devoted to this kind of case; is that realistic?

51

1 Thank you. Officer, would you just read from the  
2 top of your notebook entry there, please, just to remind  
3 us of the content?

4 **A.** Thank you:

5 "Perpetrator that grabbed [VC] ... 25 years  
6 approx[imately]. He [VC] ... grabbed my T-shirt a[nd]  
7 pushed me against the wall. I do not want to make  
8 a complaint, write a statement or go to court. I only  
9 want to make the police aware of this incident. I know  
10 where the police are and how to contact them if I need  
11 to."

12 And then "signed".

13 **Q.** Then below that you have an address and then some  
14 further words?

15 **A.** "Is moving from the flat in September" and then it is  
16 the crime number.

17 **Q.** Two things arising: first, why did you get the  
18 complainant to sign that entry?

19 **A.** It is part of the policy and procedure in relation to  
20 not wanting to make a complaint, we have it then  
21 recorded on our pocket notebooks and then we ask the IP  
22 to sign to ensure that it is recorded appropriately.

23 **Q.** Thank you. Secondly, why did you include the data at  
24 the very bottom of that pocket notebook about him  
25 moving?

50

1 **A.** No.

2 **Q.** Now, a number of advocates have asked you whether you  
3 did do NICHE research on VC; do you recall those  
4 questions?

5 **A.** Yes.

6 **Q.** Reflecting on that question again from me, do you  
7 actually now remember whether or not you did?

8 **A.** I can't remember, I'm sorry.

9 **Q.** If I ask for you to look at paragraph 21 of your witness  
10 statement, that's WITN0015001, underscore, 0005, looking  
11 at paragraph 21 and reading it to yourself and then once  
12 you have read that, if you could indicate to the  
13 operator so that she could move to the next bit.

14 Does that help you to assist the Chair as to whether  
15 in fact you did look at NICHE for VC?

16 **A.** It is part of the process to link records with --

17 **Q.** But do you know whether you actually did so or not?

18 **A.** I can't remember whether I did so.

19 **Q.** Let's proceed on the basis that had you done so, we know  
20 that you would have identified three previous events  
21 involving VC; would you take that from me?

22 **A.** Yes.

23 **Q.** Those matters were anti-social and in one case serious  
24 consequences for Feven?

25 **A.** Mm.

52

1 Q. Thinking about it now, had you looked at those previous  
2 interactions with Nottinghamshire Police and VC, would  
3 it have made a difference to what you then did on this  
4 job, 5 July?

5 A. No.

6 Q. Are you sure about that?

7 A. Yes.

8 Q. Why not?

9 A. Because I believe the previous incident was over a year  
10 prior to the one that we were dealing with.

11 Q. Why is the intervention of a year relevant, please?

12 A. It doesn't show a consistent repetitive pattern in quick  
13 succession which would indicate an increase in  
14 incidents. We would look at a pattern of incidents that  
15 were increasing or getting worse with each call that  
16 came to the police, normally.

17 Q. You are now I think about four and a half years more  
18 experienced than you were on 5 July 2021. With that  
19 greater experience and had you looked at the previous  
20 incidents, can you propose to the Chair what else you  
21 might sensibly have done with the situation?

22 A. I would absolutely try and get in touch with mental  
23 health services in relation to --

24 Q. Did you say medical?

25 A. Mental health services, yes, in relation to him possibly

53

1 policing, after university, not only would I have all of  
2 my essays, dissertations to write, that I also had  
3 a backlog of emails and jobs that needed to be completed  
4 on the police system. So I was in theory doing two  
5 jobs: at university full-time and policing full-time.

6 Q. But do you accept that structurally it meant that  
7 a member of the public can text a police officer who  
8 doesn't actually get to look at their text for up to  
9 a month --

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. -- and that's not a good thing?

12 A. No.

13 Q. Thank you very much.

14 **Questioned by THE CHAIR**

15 **THE CHAIR:** Just picking up that point, could you not have  
16 forwarded -- put on a forward to another officer whilst  
17 you were away?

18 A. Ma'am, I'm -- possibly that could be --

19 **THE CHAIR:** Is that not a system?

20 A. It is not the system ma'am, no, no.

21 **THE CHAIR:** So there is no system when somebody is away, for  
22 example, on annual leave, using a work phone, giving  
23 those details to people who may wish to contact them.  
24 They are not given out just generally are they?

25 A. No, ma'am.

55

1 going through a crisis situation.

2 Q. Can I pause you there. Back in July of 2021 was it easy  
3 for a response officer to access the relevant NHS  
4 clinicians?

5 A. No.

6 Q. Did you know how to do so?

7 A. No.

8 Q. Is it easy now to access the relevant treating  
9 clinicians?

10 A. No.

11 Q. Is that something that you would say ought to be  
12 improved?

13 A. Absolutely.

14 Q. From your greater experience since July 2021, do you  
15 think that's the views of your response colleagues?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Just one final matter. It does seem, doesn't it, that  
18 Sebastian sent you that follow-up text about a week  
19 afterwards. It so happens you were back at university,  
20 and so it looks like you didn't respond. Do you accept  
21 that?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. Is that an unfortunate deficiency in the operating  
24 systems?

25 A. Yes, so when I would have returned back to frontline

54

1 **THE CHAIR:** So a few people who may need to contact them,  
2 there is no system for having a forward on your phone,  
3 as you would, or an out of office on your computer to  
4 another officer who is holding the fort while you are  
5 away.

6 A. No, ma'am, no.

7 **THE CHAIR:** That could be done, couldn't it.

8 A. It would be nice to be able to do that.

9 **THE CHAIR:** Can I just go back to what you have been asked  
10 about, about what could have happened. You have said in  
11 your statement, and we can just look at that, I think it  
12 is -- yes, paragraph 31, 30.1. I think that's on page 8  
13 of that statement.

14 You have set out a number of actions you could have  
15 taken. If we look at 30.2 you say you did not have  
16 access to the Police National Computer which would have  
17 given you details of VC's previous history with the  
18 police wouldn't it?

19 A. Yes, ma'am.

20 **THE CHAIR:** And you could have accessed that on his name had  
21 you had the ability to do so.

22 A. That's correct.

23 **THE CHAIR:** Why didn't you ask a colleague to look for that,  
24 to look at the PNC.

25 A. I can't remember, ma'am, whether a colleague did do so

56

1 at the time because I agree it could have been recorded  
2 better onto our system and then we would have been more  
3 informed as to whether a check had been completed.

4 **THE CHAIR:** So you could have checked the Police National  
5 Computer and we have already heard what you say about  
6 NICHE but can I just ask for that document to come up,  
7 so if we look at NGPF0000044. Just on page 5 of that,  
8 there is an entry at the bottom of the large paragraph  
9 there which says:

10 "No offences". Do you know what that meant?

11 **A.** I imagine that I didn't believe that there was any  
12 offences.

13 **THE CHAIR:** It is not as a result of a check on NICHE or  
14 anything?

15 **A.** No, it would be in relation to the crime that had been  
16 committed at the time and I believe this would have been  
17 in discussion with my sergeant or the NCRS would have  
18 flagged the fact that because a T-shirt had been pulled  
19 or that Sebastian had been pushed, that the crime of  
20 assault needed to be completed. So that would be in  
21 relation to that.

22 **THE CHAIR:** Just going back a page, to page 3, when it says  
23 there -- and I think that's your number there, isn't it,  
24 3002029?

25 **A.** No.

57

1 paragraph we just looked at on the statement that you  
2 could have got in touch with the Street Triage Team.

3 **A.** Yes, I can't remember whether they were contacted.  
4 Sometimes they are contacted and they are so busy they  
5 don't have time to attend because they are at another  
6 job. We usually only have one triage car operating in  
7 the city at any one time and we get a substantial amount  
8 of calls from the city.

9 **THE CHAIR:** If you had known from looking at NICHE that  
10 there had been this pattern of three the previous year,  
11 incidents which had been related to mental health, and  
12 if you had known that he had, in fact, been under  
13 section twice in the previous year, would you have  
14 contacted the Street Triage Team?

15 **A.** Yes, unfortunately I wasn't very experienced at that  
16 particular time and it is only by learning and doing  
17 that you understand how the systems all work and operate  
18 and there's many different functions to the NICHE  
19 system, which it takes quite a considerable amount of  
20 time to learn how to manage, but yes, absolutely I would  
21 have done that.

22 **THE CHAIR:** Thank you. Thank you, that's the end of your  
23 evidence. We will take a break now until 11.45 am.

24 (11.23 am)

(A short break)

59

1 **THE CHAIR:** Is that not your number?

2 **A.** No, I'm 3005695.

3 **THE CHAIR:** Who is that, do you know?

4 **A.** I imagine it is the control room operator.

5 **THE CHAIR:** I see. So that's the original control room  
6 operator who is saying that they are not able to locate  
7 anything on NICHE?

8 **A.** That's correct.

9 **THE CHAIR:** All right. Yes, I just wanted to check that.

10 Just finally, in relation to patterns you have said how  
11 important it is for a pattern to be seen and whether it  
12 is escalating in terms of incident. For that to happen  
13 things have to be recorded, don't they?

14 **A.** Correct.

15 **THE CHAIR:** What Sebastian was asking was perhaps not for it  
16 to be taken forward, but to record it, he was  
17 sufficiently --

18 **A.** Absolutely.

19 **THE CHAIR:** -- concerned to come in and want it to be  
20 recorded.

21 **A.** Yes.

22 **THE CHAIR:** So how did you record that?

23 **A.** By criming it as assault and the process that I followed  
24 here.

25 **THE CHAIR:** Having spoken to him, I think you say in the

58

1 (11.45 am)

2 **THE CHAIR:** Yes.

3 **MS MILLAR:** Thank you, Chair. May we please call PS Zoey  
4 Price.

5 **PS ZOEY PRICE (affirmed)**

6 **Questioned by MS MILLAR**

7 **THE CHAIR:** Please be seated. Yes.

8 **MS MILLAR:** Thank you. You should have a witness statement  
9 in front of you dated 24 October 2025.

10 **A.** Yes.

11 **Q.** For the purposes of the transcript, the URN is  
12 WITN0016001. Are the contents of that statement true to  
13 the best of your knowledge and belief?

14 **A.** They are.

15 **Q.** For the purposes of your evidence today I'm going to be  
16 asking you questions about your involvement in the  
17 events of 5 July 2021. Just turning to your  
18 professional background first, is it right that you  
19 joined Nottinghamshire Police in 2012?

20 **A.** No, 2013.

21 **Q.** I beg your pardon, 2013. After initial training you  
22 joined the Radford Road Response Policing Team?

23 **A.** Yes.

24 **Q.** In November 2020, you passed the sergeant's law exam?

25 **A.** Yes.

60

1 Q. In February 2021, you moved to become a temporary  
2 sergeant at Radford Road?  
3 A. Yes.  
4 Q. You explain in your statement that you received no  
5 specific training to become a sergeant at that stage; is  
6 that right?  
7 A. Correct.  
8 Q. You were promoted formally to sergeant in October 2021?  
9 A. Yes.  
10 Q. Following that promotion, you then received specific  
11 training for the role; is that correct?  
12 A. I received some training over a 12-month period, one-day  
13 sort of sessions.  
14 Q. Those training sessions were relevant to the role of  
15 sergeant; is that correct?  
16 A. Yes.  
17 Q. At the time of the incident we are going to be talking  
18 about in July 2021 you were a temporary sergeant; is  
19 that correct?  
20 A. Yes.  
21 Q. Before turning to the incident itself, I am going to ask  
22 you a few questions about how a case is finalised. You  
23 explain that your role in relation to this incident was  
24 limited to reviewing the closure of the occurrence; is  
25 that right?

61

1 you are reviewing?  
2 A. Most of the time.  
3 Q. Is that something you had experience of doing, given you  
4 had been a temporary sergeant for around five months at  
5 this point? In terms of reviewing cases for closure, is  
6 that something that you had done regularly for the five  
7 months you had been a temporary sergeant?  
8 A. Yes, it makes it easier if they are next to you so you  
9 can ask questions.  
10 Q. The request in this case for the closure of the  
11 occurrence was made by PC Pannell, who we have just  
12 heard from. Were you aware at the time that she was  
13 a probationary Constable?  
14 A. Yes.  
15 Q. Did that fact affect the way that you carried out your  
16 review?  
17 A. In that it would be done probably in present with her  
18 tutor as well.  
19 Q. Your review would be done with both PC Amy Pannell and  
20 PC Wakefield present with you?  
21 A. Generally, yes.  
22 Q. Do you remember whether that, in fact, happened with  
23 this case?  
24 A. I can't, I'm sorry.  
25 Q. In terms of the kind of intensity of your review, would

63

1 A. I supervised the investigation and in this case it was  
2 done that quickly that my role was to review the  
3 evidence provided and then close the occurrence.  
4 Q. So before closing the occurrence you supervised the  
5 investigation?  
6 A. Generally, yes.  
7 Q. What do you mean by "generally"?  
8 A. I mean generally in investigations with  
9 a straightforward investigation such as this, I may have  
10 had little to nothing up until the closing of that.  
11 Q. Do you remember specifically what you did by way of  
12 supervision in this case before reviewing it?  
13 A. Only what's on the occurrence. I have no or little free  
14 recall.  
15 Q. Is it right that the closure of an occurrence has to be  
16 authorised by a sergeant?  
17 A. Yes.  
18 Q. Can you briefly explain what reviewing the closure of  
19 an occurrence involves?  
20 A. So often it would be done during a one-to-one with the  
21 officer or if it is not a one-to-one where you sit them  
22 next to me, I would go through their OELs and any  
23 reports that they have attached to that. Essentially  
24 review the evidence.  
25 Q. So the officer will be physically present with you when

62

1 it be affected by the fact that someone was  
2 a probationary Constable or not?  
3 A. That doesn't affect the evidence that's in front of me  
4 at that time. It might be that, not generally in this  
5 case, I might ask further questions around evidence  
6 during the investigation when they come for advice, but  
7 my expectation is that they have sent me the task  
8 through NICHE to file that investigation that they  
9 believe they have done all those investigations.  
10 Q. In relation to this incident you explain in your witness  
11 statement PC Pannell requested that the crime be filed  
12 as undetected and that you did so; is that right?  
13 A. Yes.  
14 Q. What did you understand "undetected" to mean in that  
15 context?  
16 A. I understand that this is old terms that I have used --  
17 essentially the outcome codes that I used would mean  
18 undetected as in the investigation is complete and there  
19 is not a positive outcome in that there's not  
20 an out-of-court disposal or a charge.  
21 Q. Just, firstly, in relation to the word "undetected",  
22 when you say "old language", were you aware that in 2014  
23 the Force essentially got rid of that as a term used to  
24 record crimes?  
25 A. Yes, which is why I used the outcome that I used. It

64

1 was really me trying to explain what that meant.

2 **Q.** If we could have NGPF0010698 on screen, please. This is  
3 the crime outcome procedural guide. The version  
4 referred to in your witness statement was effective from  
5 2022, but this is the policy that was in place at the  
6 time that you reviewed this incident in April 2021. Is  
7 it this policy that you applied whenever you were  
8 reviewing the case?

9 **A.** It would have been. I would not have been looking  
10 through that policy every single time that I did that,  
11 but yes.

12 **Q.** But that's what you would have had typically in your  
13 mind the things in here?

14 **A.** Yes.

15 **Q.** So at page 3, please, under section 3, if we look at the  
16 third paragraph from the bottom of this section, so just  
17 down a tiny bit, so we see that:

18 "Sergeants are responsible for intrusively  
19 supervising their officers ongoing investigations to  
20 provide plans, support and guidance as necessary.  
21 "There are 22 possible outcomes listed in the  
22 framework."  
23 Were you aware at the time that it was your  
24 responsibility to intrusively supervise ongoing  
25 investigations?

65

1 withdrawing their support from police action?

2 **A.** Yes.

3 **Q.** Turning, then, to your review of this case, please, is  
4 it right that you reviewed the evidence at around  
5 21:26 hours on 5 July 2021?

6 **A.** Yes.

7 **Q.** The Inquiry has heard earlier that PC Pannell spoke to  
8 the complainant at around 17:30 hours. Were you aware  
9 at the time that you are conducting a review shortly  
10 after that conversation?

11 **A.** I can't remember if I knew that or not.

12 **Q.** In terms of the information you reviewed before closing  
13 the case, you note at paragraph 16 of your witness  
14 statement:

15 "I reviewed the Occurrence Entry logs, (OELs), and  
16 any other evidence and/or documents attached to the  
17 NICHE occurrence ..."

18 Do we understand from that you read all the entries  
19 on the Occurrence Log not just the final case complete  
20 entry made by PC Pannell when you were reviewing this  
21 case?

22 **A.** As in the --

23 **Q.** You have said in your statement:

24 "I reviewed the Occurrence Entry Logs..."  
25 Plural. Would that have been the entire Occurrence

67

1 **A.** Yes.

2 **Q.** So, in relation to the 22 possible outcomes, you  
3 recorded this incident as outcome 16, which is: "Named  
4 Suspect Identified -- Evidential difficulties prevent  
5 further action -- Victim does not support (or has  
6 withdrawn from) police action."  
7 Is that right?

8 **A.** Yes.

9 **Q.** If we could go to page 4 of this policy then please.  
10 (Pause) I'm going to take you actually to a different  
11 policy. Could we go to NGPF0010699, please.  
12 This is the Recorded Crime Outcomes Procedure. Were  
13 you also familiar with this at the time that you were  
14 reviewing this case?

15 **A.** Probably not the whole policy, but I would have been  
16 familiar with some parts.

17 **Q.** Were you aware that those two policies together in  
18 relation to outcome type 16 that you were essentially  
19 responsible for reviewing the investigation to ensure  
20 that all proportionate lines of inquiry had been  
21 completed in the case?

22 **A.** Yes.

23 **Q.** In relation then to outcome type 16, before applying  
24 that outcome, that you were responsible for enquiring  
25 into the victim's reasonings for not supporting or

66

1 Log that you would have considered before closing the  
2 case?

3 **A.** Yes.

4 **Q.** You also note -- you say in your statement that you  
5 reviewed:

6 "Any other evidence and/or documents attached".  
7 Do you remember what you did, in fact, consider?

8 **A.** No, I don't.

9 **Q.** So, you said that usually you would have the officer --  
10 and if it was a probationer that you would also have  
11 their supervisor -- do you remember any conversations  
12 that you had with PC Pannell or PC Wakefield?

13 **A.** No, sorry.

14 **Q.** Were those conversations ever recorded anywhere in terms  
15 of having a record of what an officer has told you  
16 before you close a case; would you ever record that  
17 conversation?

18 **A.** Not the fact I have had a conversation, no. It would be  
19 just part of the reasoning for me closing that, what  
20 they have told me and what I have seen on there --

21 **Q.** Sorry, so the content of the conversation would appear  
22 potentially on your record or not?

23 **A.** No.

24 **Q.** At paragraph 30 of your witness statement, you explain  
25 that at the time you dealt with the matter a crime had

68

1 been recorded and that required that there were  
 2 circumstances when a crime in law had been reported,  
 3 a victim had confirmed that a crime had occurred and  
 4 there was no credible evidence to the contrary at the  
 5 time. In your view, was an incident correctly recorded  
 6 as a crime in these circumstances?

7 **A.** Yes.

8 **Q.** At paragraph 15 of your witness statement you note that:  
 9 "A review of the officer's Occurrence Entry Log  
 10 informed me that all reasonable lines of enquiry to  
 11 gather any evidence were made."

12 Can we have the Occurrence Log on the screen,  
 13 please, at NGPF0000043 and turning to page 10.

14 We can see at the bottom of that first box  
 15 a declaration by PC Pannell which says:  
 16 "I confirm that I have completed all proportionate  
 17 lines of enquiry. I declare that all information is  
 18 correct and confirm that all victim/suspect/witnesses  
 19 have been updated with the outcome."  
 20 When you say that you were satisfied that all  
 21 reasonable lines of inquiry were made, are you relying  
 22 on that declaration or was it your independent  
 23 assessment?

24 **A.** That declaration further up on that (*unclear*) actually  
 25 lists what evidence there isn't.

69

1 for closing the occurrence", we see that you have  
 2 entered "No evidence. One word against the other".  
 3 Two lines up from that entry we can see you were  
 4 aware that VC hadn't been interviewed or arrested  
 5 regarding the offence; is that right?

6 **A.** Yes.

7 **Q.** Is it right that you were aware that there had been no  
 8 attempt to speak to anyone else who may have been at the  
 9 flat at the time?

10 **A.** The information I have is that there are no witnesses.

11 **Q.** But did you have any information that there had been any  
 12 attempt to see if there were any witnesses?

13 **A.** By telling me there's no witnesses, that would tell me  
 14 that you have attempted to find witnesses.

15 **Q.** Did you discuss -- can you remember discussing that at  
 16 the time with PC Pannell about whether there had been  
 17 attempts for officers to attend the property to see if  
 18 there had been anyone else present at the time?

19 **A.** No, I think it is safe to assume if she has written on  
 20 an OEL that there's no witnesses that I wouldn't double  
 21 check that she's telling me the truth, I would assume  
 22 that that had been done.

23 **Q.** So on that basis, why do you say that it is one word  
 24 against the other?

25 **A.** So, my wording around that means that in my -- although

71

1 **Q.** If we look, then, further down that page, we can see  
 2 there's an entry from you; is that right, at 21.26?

3 **A.** Yes.

4 **Q.** Can you help us with at the right-hand side where it  
 5 says "Link" and you have entered "No", what is that  
 6 a reference to?

7 **A.** I haven't entered that, that's something that -- so that  
 8 whole line is created when you add an OEL.

9 **Q.** If you were going to link an incident to a previous  
 10 incident --

11 **A.** That's not where --

12 **Q.** That's not where that would be.

13 **A.** No.

14 **Q.** How would you do that?

15 **A.** That is through the nominal (*unclear*) on the main page  
 16 where the subject is -- subject, as in the person --  
 17 when you enter them into NICHE, the other occurrences  
 18 would be connected to the name.

19 **Q.** You would have to go to the main page to link, it is not  
 20 the case that every time you make an entry on the  
 21 Occurrence Log that you can choose to link an incident?

22 **A.** No.

23 **Q.** That is something separate in your mind?

24 **A.** Yes.

25 **Q.** If we look, on the page there, at the bottom, "Rationale

70

1 it is obviously not sort of said clearly there, that  
 2 what the evidence would be, had we spoken to the  
 3 suspect, that the evidence that we would have would be  
 4 one word against the other because experience tells me  
 5 that he's unlikely to admit to that offence.

6 **Q.** That is an assumption, isn't it?

7 **A.** Yes.

8 **Q.** Do you agree that, from what you have looked at there,  
 9 what you have stated there looks like a statement of  
 10 fact, that it is one word against the other. You have  
 11 not --

12 **A.** No, that's how I would have normally written it.

13 **Q.** But you have not written there: haven't spoken to VC,  
 14 but it's likely that he wouldn't admit to this?

15 **A.** No.

16 **Q.** Because if he had been spoken to, he could have admitted  
 17 it?

18 **A.** He could have admitted it and we still did not have  
 19 a willing victim and we can't prosecute on admission  
 20 alone. Albeit we may have been able to go down the  
 21 out-of-court disposal -- in relation to community  
 22 resolution -- but the victim didn't want us to speak to  
 23 him, so we wouldn't have done that.

24 **Q.** Can you just help us with the out-of-court disposals?  
 25 What's your understanding of when those are available?

72

1 A. Mostly we need to have the amount of evidence to  
 2 prosecute from like a caution upwards because if they  
 3 then don't abide by that, it would essentially go to  
 4 court, so you need enough evidence for that to happen.  
 5 To support prosecution, I should say.

6 Q. Did you consider an out-of-court disposal in this case?

7 A. Whether I considered it or not, I don't remember, but it  
 8 wouldn't have been something I would have suggested to  
 9 do at this stage given that the victim didn't want our  
 10 involvement.

11 Q. Is it essentially that because the complainant told you  
 12 "I don't want to make a formal complaint" that your view  
 13 was that we don't go behind that and we don't go  
 14 further?

15 A. Not in these circumstances, no.

16 Q. When you say "in these circumstances", can you help us  
 17 with what you mean by that?

18 A. So we are essentially victim led and what they want and  
 19 with this being a low level offence with, at the time,  
 20 low risk to that victim, we wouldn't intervene. Where  
 21 we would, where the policies indicate that we should be  
 22 more serious crimes such as domestic abuse or where  
 23 there's other vulnerabilities identified.

24 Q. You explain at paragraph 20 of your witness statement  
 25 that you "do not recall what was known about the

73

1 be done and no one has checked whether they have been  
 2 completed?

3 A. So overall she would have gone to her tutor, which was  
 4 PC Wakefield, and gone through what has happened and if  
 5 she thought that that was necessary then she would have  
 6 been asking her to do that.

7 Q. When you say "she" you mean PC Wakefield?

8 A. Sorry, PC Wakefield, yes.

9 Q. So you go on to explain that in any event checks "would  
 10 not have affected the outcome in this case given the  
 11 particular facts".

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. But in circumstances where no effort had been made to  
 14 speak to VC or anyone else who may have been in the  
 15 flat, if you had discovered that there had been  
 16 a history of violent behaviour, might that have prompted  
 17 you to make further inquiries?

18 A. Given what I know now with the previous -- is that what  
 19 you are asking?

20 Q. Yes. So -- yes, looking back.

21 A. Yes. It would not have made a difference in this case,  
 22 and the reasons for that is it was a year before  
 23 previous to this. This was a low level offence, and we  
 24 cannot assume because somebody has had a mental health  
 25 incident previously that they can't commit offences that

75

1 previous offending history of" VC. Did you conduct any  
 2 checks of NICHE or the PNC?

3 A. No, that's not something I would do. The evidence is  
 4 presented to me. It might be something I would ask if  
 5 they have checked but it is a basic enquiry and if that  
 6 officer found it necessary and proportionate to do so  
 7 then that would have been done.

8 Q. Knowing that PC Pannell was a probationer constable did  
 9 you ask whether she had done that?

10 A. I don't remember.

11 Q. Should you have done so?

12 A. Whether I should have done so, I very well could have.  
 13 This is why we have tutors as an in between as well, to  
 14 make sure things are completed before they are presented  
 15 to me.

16 Q. So in your view is it the responsibility of PC Wakefield  
 17 to ensure that that be done before the case was  
 18 presented to you?

19 A. Not necessarily her responsibility. She has overall  
 20 responsibility over her tutee, and again if they thought  
 21 it was necessary and proportionate then they could have  
 22 done that.

23 Q. Can you see that there might be an issue there in  
 24 terms -- if it is not one or other person's  
 25 responsibility in every case that those checks might not

74

1 are not in relation to their mental health. Does that  
 2 make sense?

3 Q. But someone having mental health issues doesn't preclude  
 4 the investigation and prosecution of an offence; do you  
 5 agree with that?

6 A. Yes, but what I'm trying to say is that we didn't -- it  
 7 wouldn't have made a difference in this case.

8 Q. But might it have made a difference to kind of onward  
 9 steps that you might have taken in terms of referrals or  
 10 notifying other agencies?

11 A. No, we can't assume that each time we deal with  
 12 somebody, that has previously had mental health issues,  
 13 that this is that cause so that we need to make them  
 14 aware, if that makes sense, and in these circumstances  
 15 we would not have been able to provide that information,  
 16 share that information.

17 Q. Why is that?

18 A. One of the reasons is an adult that we would need  
 19 permission for, without seeing them we are not going to  
 20 get that and, aside from that, the only other way is if  
 21 it's in the public interest, which in my opinion this  
 22 was not at the time.

23 Q. So we will come back to that point but just turning back  
 24 to the further steps that were taken in relation to the  
 25 investigation. At the time of the incident you were

76

1 aware that Sebastian and VC were students living in  
 2 student accommodation; is that right?  
 3 **A.** Yes.  
 4 **Q.** At paragraph 34 of your statement you explain that in  
 5 hindsight it would have been better if "we [had]  
 6 contacted the University about this incident" because  
 7 they might have had information about VC's mental  
 8 health; is that right?  
 9 **A.** Yes.  
 10 **Q.** Were you aware of any barriers which would have  
 11 prevented you from contacting the University at that  
 12 time?  
 13 **A.** At the time I wasn't aware, I think, of how I would have  
 14 gone about doing that.  
 15 **Q.** Whose responsibility -- sorry, I beg your pardon. Were  
 16 you finished?  
 17 **A.** What I was going to say now that I have had sight of  
 18 that policy I understand what we would have needed is  
 19 written consent as well from the victim.  
 20 **Q.** Which policy are you referring to?  
 21 **A.** The Sharing Information Agreement with the University.  
 22 **Q.** And your understanding was that you would have needed  
 23 the permission of who, sorry?  
 24 **A.** The victim.  
 25 **Q.** To contact the University to provide them with details

77

1 PC Pannell?  
 2 **A.** Yes.  
 3 **Q.** Could we go to that document please. We saw it earlier  
 4 but it is NGPF0000045. So, the first page, about  
 5 a third of the way down it notes:  
 6 "I do not want to make a complaint, write  
 7 a statement or go to court. I only want to make the  
 8 police aware of this incident. I know where the police  
 9 are and how to contact them if I need to."  
 10 Do you agree that that entry doesn't provide the  
 11 reason why the complainant didn't want to make a formal  
 12 complaint?  
 13 **A.** It says he doesn't want to -- he just wants to make us  
 14 aware, which I would say does.  
 15 **Q.** What do you say the reason is, sorry?  
 16 **A.** He wants to make the police aware of that incident.  
 17 **Q.** But that doesn't provide a reason why he doesn't want to  
 18 make a police complaint.  
 19 **A.** I would say it does.  
 20 **Q.** If you had been made aware that the complainant was  
 21 aware of the consequences from the person that he lived  
 22 with of making a police complaint, would that have  
 23 impacted your assessment of this case?  
 24 **A.** If, sorry?  
 25 **Q.** So if -- moving away from the facts that you have been

79

1 about the incident?  
 2 **A.** It is my understanding now. It was not my understanding  
 3 at the time.  
 4 **Q.** But at the time you didn't know how to share  
 5 information.  
 6 **A.** I wasn't aware of that policy, no.  
 7 **Q.** Was that ever something that you had done before --  
 8 **A.** No.  
 9 **Q.** -- contacted the University? Whose responsibility would  
 10 it have been to do that at the time?  
 11 **A.** To contact the University?  
 12 **Q.** Yes.  
 13 **A.** If it's something that I could have directed an officer  
 14 to do that, if I would have known that we could do that.  
 15 **Q.** So, going back to the Occurrence Log then please,  
 16 NGPF0000043, at page 10. So, at the bottom entry that  
 17 we can see there, it states:  
 18 "At what point during the recording investigation  
 19 did the victim state that they would not support the  
 20 investigation and why. The reason must be evidenced  
 21 within an OEL or documented here. Not applicable or N/A  
 22 will not be accepted."  
 23 You have then put in your entry:  
 24 "PNB entry to officer in attendance".  
 25 Is that a reference to the pocket book entry of

78

1 presented with, if you had been told the complainant in  
 2 this case is concerned about the consequences from the  
 3 potential suspect, given that they lived together, would  
 4 that have affected how you approached this case or any  
 5 decisions that you made?  
 6 **A.** I don't think so, I think it is a valid point.  
 7 Sometimes the police involvement make a situation worse  
 8 and not better. We would expect the police to make it  
 9 better but it doesn't always, and within the student  
 10 community they are in situations where they are living  
 11 with people that they are not -- they wouldn't  
 12 normally -- necessarily choose to live with and there  
 13 are instances where they fall out or -- minimal  
 14 violence, and by us being involved, it makes it worse  
 15 not better, whereas they can sometimes resolve it  
 16 themselves.  
 17 Also in this case, you consider, well, bail  
 18 conditions to put some safeguarding in there. There  
 19 was -- it was very clear that there was not enough  
 20 evidence, did not meet that evidential test so he would  
 21 never have been given bail conditions because he  
 22 wouldn't have been charged, therefore no bail  
 23 conditions, and there is no other evidence to look to  
 24 collect, so he still wouldn't have been given bail  
 25 conditions pending that.

80

1 Q. When you say there is no other evidence left to collect,  
2 there had been no attempts to speak to anyone we now  
3 know at the flat, and there had been no account taken  
4 from VC himself.

5 A. I don't know that there's -- it says no witnesses, well  
6 I knew at the time that there were no witnesses.

7 Q. Do you think that there's any other kinds of support  
8 services the police could have pointed the complainant  
9 to, or anything else they could have done to reassure  
10 him about this incident?

11 A. Yes, I think he was -- there is an entry somewhere that  
12 he is directed towards the police, the Force website  
13 where there are -- there is information there about --  
14 on victims -- for victims.

15 Q. What is on the Force website in that respect, do you  
16 know?

17 A. I'm not sure -- there are -- there is a list of  
18 agencies, I don't know whether they are charities, that  
19 they can contact, a victim can contact them for further  
20 support and advice.

21 Q. So, if we go back then to the Occurrence Log please at  
22 NGPF0000043 and to your entry on page 10. Looking then  
23 at the fifth entry you have made, the question is:  
24 "Considering the seriousness of the offence and the  
25 vulnerability of the victim have all relevant enquiries,

81

1 there about the victim, so I would have been thinking  
2 about the victim, not VC at that point, in relation to  
3 a PPN.

4 Q. Did you turn your mind to whether a PPN should be  
5 submitted in respect of VC, given that you knew that  
6 there were some kind of mental health issues,  
7 potentially?

8 A. I don't recall at the time what I thought about that.  
9 Having reviewed it now, it is my honest belief that no  
10 information, should a PPN have been submitted, would  
11 have been shared.

12 Q. Sorry, can you say that again? No PPN submitted would  
13 have been shared?

14 A. Yeah, the information.

15 Q. Why is that?

16 A. Because we didn't have VC's consent, we hadn't seen him  
17 and there is no public interest in this case at the  
18 time.

19 Q. Can I take you then to NGPF0006002, please. The Inquiry  
20 is familiar with this document but it is the "Dealing  
21 with Persons with Mental Health (Consolidated  
22 Procedures)" which was effected from August 2019.  
23 Can we go to the bottom of page 13, please. At  
24 paragraph 3.2.2, so we see it notes:  
25 "Officers and staff may attend incidents or come

83

1 investigations and safeguarding been explored, including  
2 submission of any relevant PPN?"

3 Can you help us with what you considered before  
4 responding "yes"?

5 A. So, any vulnerabilities within the victim, do they need  
6 a PPN submitting for them, has any vulnerabilities been  
7 identified with him.

8 Q. Can you keep your voice up a tiny bit?

9 A. Sorry.

10 Q. Don't worry.

11 A. So I would have considered any vulnerabilities or  
12 discussed vulnerabilities around that victim that they  
13 have before deciding whether a PPN needed to be  
14 submitted.

15 Q. So you have alluded to it before but you also say at  
16 paragraph 35 of your witness statement that "at the time  
17 [you think] there was no mechanism in place for the  
18 police to share information with mental health services  
19 in these circumstances", and that was because it was  
20 your understanding that an adult had to give consent for  
21 details to be shared; is that correct?

22 A. Yes, and that I was -- that was in relation to VC.

23 Q. Was it on that basis that you considered that a PPN  
24 wasn't appropriate in this case?

25 A. This I would have been -- it is sort of -- it says in

82

1 into contact with persons who, while not presenting  
2 an immediate risk to themselves or others, are  
3 nevertheless believed to be in need of care or support.  
4 In such circumstances details of the person, together  
5 with the grounds for concern, should be passed on to the  
6 local Social Services department via a PPN. The consent  
7 of the person concerned should be obtained before such  
8 information is passed on to other agencies unless the  
9 circumstances are such that this may not be practicable  
10 or we can override consent ([for example] ... if  
11 concerns relate to the level of care ...) Officers may  
12 also consider advising the person to arrange a GP  
13 appointment urgently or get in touch with their  
14 community psychiatric nurse if they have one."

15 So the circumstances in which you can submit a PPN  
16 are either you have consent or it is not practicable or  
17 the police can override consent. So was that your  
18 understanding at the time?

19 A. Yes, I don't think this falls into that.

20 Q. So, dealing first with consent, there had been no  
21 attempt to obtain consents but from VC.

22 A. No.

23 Q. So you didn't know whether or not you would get his  
24 consent because you hadn't spoken to him.

25 A. No, but I didn't feel that at that point there was

84

1 a need to speak to him or submit a PPN.

2 **Q.** Can I ask why not?

3 **A.** I don't think this incident is -- in hindsight it is --

4 but at the time it is not an obvious mental health

5 issue. As I said before, prior, when he has had issues

6 with his mental health a year before, doesn't mean he

7 has committed this offence because of a decline in

8 mental health. People can commit offences and it not be

9 for that reason. What he has said to the victim isn't

10 clear what he means by that. Could be his mental

11 health, could be drug dealing, as Sebastian first

12 thought, it could be around his mental health visitors.

13 I also knew or suspected he was being looked after

14 in the community by a mental health team based on what

15 Sebastian said and therefore it was deemed that he was

16 able to be out in the public and was being looked after

17 by those services already.

18 **Q.** But you had no information to that effect, did you, that

19 he was being looked after in the community apart from

20 what Sebastian had told you?

21 **A.** Yes, which I feel is a good source of information.

22 **Q.** Simultaneously, you are saying that there was no obvious

23 mental health issue from the information that you had,

24 but also that you suspected that he was being looked

25 after in the community. Do you see that those two

85

1 asked what the possibilities are around that and how

2 easy that would be for them to do, it is a suggestion

3 rather than an instruction and I think the officer, with

4 best intent, would have been probably the best way to

5 let those services know about this incident.

6 **Q.** Thank you, Sergeant Price. I don't have any further

7 questions for you. Ms Cartwright, do you have any

8 questions? Yes.

9 Questioned by MS CARTWRIGHT

10 **MS CARTWRIGHT:** Good afternoon, officer.

11 **A.** Good afternoon.

12 **Q.** Can I ask you first of all, you would have been in court

13 when I asked questions of the last witness and so can

14 I ask you, as the supervisor for that officer, are you

15 aware of the Goucher review and the criticisms it has

16 made of the handling of incident one?

17 **A.** No, today is the first time I have heard that.

18 **Q.** Can I then, in terms of some of the topics that

19 Ms Millar has explored with you, just deal with some

20 general principles to see if you agree that these apply.

21 That police officers have a duty of care that is

22 underpinned through legal and ethical responsibilities

23 and that police should take reasonable steps to protect

24 the public from foreseeable harm and known risk?

25 **A.** Yes.

87

1 things don't necessarily sit together?

2 **A.** My point is that that incident doesn't mean that it is

3 related to his mental health.

4 **Q.** Do you think you had enough information at the time to

5 be able to reach that conclusion?

6 **A.** No, it is an assumption at that time. We wouldn't go

7 and see VC in these circumstances because the victim has

8 asked us not to and with mental health, police wouldn't

9 normally go and see him unless there is an imminent

10 threat to life or limb which there is not here.

11 **Q.** In your witness statement you deal with the Occurrence

12 Log entry about the advice given to the complainant,

13 that he should be the one to contact VC's mental health

14 nurses about the incident. Were you aware of that at

15 the time that you reviewed this case?

16 **A.** If it is in that log, I would have been.

17 **Q.** So it says words to the effect of: officers advised

18 Sebastian, although the names are mixed up, but officers

19 advised Sebastian to speak to nurses who attend and make

20 them aware of this incident. Were you aware of that at

21 the time?

22 **A.** If it is in that log, I would have been aware, yes.

23 **Q.** Do you have a view about whether that's appropriate

24 advice to give to a potential victim of a crime?

25 **A.** I think the best way to have gone about that is maybe

86

1 **Q.** I don't think any of that is contentious. That that

2 applies to both victims and suspects and also the wider

3 public?

4 **A.** Yes.

5 **Q.** Regardless of the purpose of the possibility of

6 a prosecution in the future, the Force's vulnerability

7 policy states that that should not inhibit an officer

8 from basic communication with the vulnerable person to

9 determine their welfare as that is the priority?

10 **A.** Yes.

11 **Q.** All right. In terms of the oversight role that you had,

12 could we just look, please, at NGPF0000043. Can we move

13 into that document, please, to page 6. Sorry over the

14 page to page 7.

15 First of all, one of the issues that has had

16 an impact about this incident is a failure to record

17 a date of birth of VC. So we can see there reference to

18 date of birth "unknown". So when you were doing the

19 supervision and review of the work of the Probationary

20 Officer, did you identify that there had been a failure

21 to record VC's date of birth?

22 **A.** No, whilst on this -- is this -- this information is

23 from the Incident Log that is transferred automatically

24 over to the occurrence -- there is then a nominal

25 attached to that occurrence, so my assumption is that

88

1 since then that that's been identified or the correct  
2 details are now on.  
3 **Q.** That's the Goucher review that has found that that is  
4 an issue and that was an issue linked to the process of  
5 nominals, and so when you were supervising, had you  
6 picked up on that issue?

7 **A.** That there wasn't a --

8 **Q.** That no date of birth was added and so essentially it  
9 has impacted upon the ability for this incident to then  
10 be linked to a further incident, but I think, further,  
11 it has impacted upon checks that were made of VC's  
12 record?

13 **A.** It is my understanding that he's recorded correctly on  
14 the NICHE.

15 **Q.** Then can we look at the incident details. You have  
16 reviewed these with Ms Millar, but we can see there is  
17 essentially Sebastian giving details of what had  
18 occurred and the aggressive behaviour towards him and  
19 the comments.

20 If we look, then, at the next box, please, below  
21 that. You have made reference to mental health a year  
22 ago, but this is clearly detail in this account, would  
23 you agree, it is referencing that:

24 "[VC] ... is visited regularly by NHS staff whom  
25 [he] ... believes are mental health nurses [that] ...

89

1 **Q.** We can see there, this was closed as "no offence". Over  
2 the page, it perhaps gives the better context at 06.  
3 After it had been closed as no offence, the National  
4 Crime Recording Review had effectively said it is  
5 confusing and then raised the issue which has then  
6 resulted in this incident being crimed as an assault and  
7 obviously you have supervised this. I just want your  
8 assistance; is that what happened, it was closed as no  
9 offence and then as a result of this NCRS review, it was  
10 then -- the probation officer was essentially told to  
11 look at it again and then crime it?

12 **A.** Yes, that's the case.

13 **Q.** When you look at this, would you agree that would have  
14 been an extra flag to you that you really needed to  
15 check what had happened in this incident, to really  
16 ensure proper processes and procedures had been  
17 followed?

18 **A.** I think the reason for the NCRS team in existence is  
19 that to ensure that there's proper recording of crimes  
20 because it is not possible for a sergeant to look  
21 through absolutely every single Incident Log that  
22 an officer goes to. There are some initial details that  
23 are recorded on an Incident Log.

24 **Q.** I appreciate that but that's the background to this and  
25 I think you are then -- being the supervisor who signs

91

1 [he] ... was walking into his kitchen ..."

2 That's incorrect, that should be Sebastian was  
3 walking about his kitchen:

4 "... when VC came up to him, talking to himself and  
5 saying he needs to be careful".

6 Then did the assault on Sebastian. So if you look  
7 at the context of what's being reported there and the  
8 behaviour of VC, would you agree that that raises  
9 an issue that the context of what had occurred between  
10 Sebastian and VC was a mental health issue and that  
11 there was an issue of vulnerability here that needed to  
12 be checked as to VC's welfare as well?

13 **A.** No, I don't agree that that shows that.

14 **Q.** Can I ask you then, please, if we look back at  
15 NGPF0000044 at page 5. Now in terms of the history, it  
16 is to a probationary officer that was not following  
17 procedures, were you aware that, if we look at this,  
18 originally the officer had essentially recorded this as  
19 a no offence. We can see that below what had happened  
20 between VC and Sebastian. Is that what "no offence"  
21 means because that, at that time, was the recording and  
22 thereafter essentially there was the closure that we see  
23 there. Is that correct, and can you help us as to who  
24 2003313 is?

25 **A.** Sorry, I don't understand what -- the question.

90

1 this off -- was that not a flag alone that there should  
2 have been a proper check about what had been looked at  
3 and checked relating to this incident?

4 **A.** There is an OEL with a list of reasonable enquiries and  
5 what the outcomes are on those.

6 **Q.** Can we then briefly look together about the recordings  
7 in accordance with the Victim Code, and can you just  
8 explain what the statutory responsibilities were at that  
9 time linked to the Victim Code when you were closing  
10 this matter.

11 **A.** In relation to what part?

12 **Q.** Let's take you to a document. That's going to be  
13 easier. NGPF0000043, internal page 8. So we can see  
14 there the Victim Code parameters about information that  
15 needs to be provided by way of outcome in the  
16 investigation. Then if we go over the page please, we  
17 can see there there has to be checks of what enquiries  
18 and investigations have taken place, again as part of  
19 the process and the parameters we see there, including,  
20 for a PPN also.

21 But we can see significantly as to what enquiries,  
22 investigations, "No Intelligence". There was relevant  
23 intelligence on VC's system that was relevant to risk  
24 and public protection due to the fact that by this time  
25 there was relevant intelligence as to how he behaved to

92

1 others that he lived in proximity, and the violence. So  
 2 can you help us as to why "No Intelligence" is recorded  
 3 there when there was relevant intelligence that should  
 4 have been considered as part of this process of the  
 5 Victim Code?  
 6 **A.** I can't help you with that because that's not my OEL, it  
 7 is not my information that I have inputted.  
 8 **Q.** But as the supervisor was it not essential that you had  
 9 real clarity about what had been checked before  
 10 completing the closure and part of the closure includes  
 11 completion of the Victim Code, would you agree?  
 12 **A.** Yes, part of these checks, there is not a lot to look  
 13 at, there is NICHE and there is PNC, so I would not  
 14 have -- as with all of those things, I don't  
 15 re-investigate it for that officer, I don't go and check  
 16 myself, for instance, that there is or isn't CCTV or  
 17 witnesses. You have to trust the officers and their  
 18 training to gather that evidence and then you review it.  
 19 For them to tell me there's no intelligence, yes I would  
 20 take their word for that.  
 21 **Q.** Now you have said there is NICHE in the PNC but you know  
 22 this is a probationary officer who has no access to PNC.  
 23 So did you perform a check on the PNC?  
 24 **A.** No they don't need access to it themselves. I think she  
 25 was -- in respect to inputting the information yourself,

93

1 **A.** No, the Street Triage Team would not have attended this  
 2 incident. We couldn't even have had a RIO check at that  
 3 time if we are not present with VC. They will come out  
 4 to and only deal with incidents where there is  
 5 an imminent threat to life or limb, which there is not  
 6 here.  
 7 **Q.** Now, we know that subsequently Sebastian, I think you  
 8 would have heard, contacted the officer about concerns  
 9 about VC trying to get into his room. Again, that  
 10 should have been relevant information, I'm going to  
 11 suggest, that should have been checked as part of the  
 12 vulnerability assessment before this case was closed  
 13 bearing in mind --  
 14 **THE CHAIR:** Ms Cartwright, we are going on quite a long way  
 15 and I think that it is right that for all these  
 16 witnesses you have about five minutes.  
 17 **MS CARTWRIGHT:** I will leave it there. Thank you.  
 18 **THE CHAIR:** Mr Beggs, anything you want to raise?  
 19 **Questioned by MR BEGGS**  
 20 **MR BEGGS:** Sergeant, we are running short of time, so I will  
 21 be very quick.  
 22 How many Constables approximately did you have under  
 23 your supervision in July 2021.  
 24 **A.** I believe there were 16 Constables under my supervision.  
 25 **Q.** Thank you. Typically how many cases would each of

95

1 it can be done either through the control room or there  
 2 are other officers within the team that can do that  
 3 later for you.  
 4 **Q.** Can you help us, Sebastian's evidence was he was told  
 5 that there was going to be a marker linked to this  
 6 incident and obviously the probation officer can't add  
 7 a marker to the PNC, so what consideration did you give  
 8 to adding a mental health marker?  
 9 **A.** So markers on PNC are often -- you can do that through  
 10 the NICHE system, the officer can do that herself, any  
 11 officer can do that. Markers are put on the police  
 12 system generally as what a police officer has witnessed  
 13 themselves not what a victim or essentially a third  
 14 party has told us. That's how they work. So such as  
 15 a violent marker will be when an officer has witnessed  
 16 violence, for instance.  
 17 **Q.** But when I have taken you to the issues of concerns, it  
 18 would suggest, I would indicate that there was the  
 19 foundation that there was a need for a welfare check on  
 20 VC, I think you don't agree that that's the position?  
 21 **A.** No I don't.  
 22 **Q.** Then separately, you don't agree either or accept that  
 23 there should have been consideration of contacting the  
 24 Street Triage Team when there is concerns as to mental  
 25 health?

94

1 them be holding?  
 2 **A.** Between 10 and 25.  
 3 **Q.** Thank you. Secondly, you gave evidence about sometimes  
 4 police getting involved in these situations makes things  
 5 worse. I just want to ask you: do you have experience  
 6 of that very situation?  
 7 **A.** I can't think of a particular incident, but it  
 8 definitely has happened prior where people -- the  
 9 relationships then are not (*unclear*).  
 10 **Q.** Thank you. Thirdly, we know from Sebastian's evidence  
 11 that he did not want the police to get involved with VC.  
 12 Is it your habit to ignore what victims say?  
 13 **A.** Absolutely not. Not in these circumstances. I think,  
 14 as I have said, there are policies in place to deal with  
 15 positive action in relation to domestic abuse, hate  
 16 crime, where there are -- there is the ability to  
 17 safeguard that victim due to their vulnerabilities, for  
 18 instance, where we can't give bail conditions, such as  
 19 in this case, there are domestic abuse protection  
 20 notices and orders that we can apply for.  
 21 **Q.** But in this type of situation, did you regard Sebastian  
 22 as vulnerable?  
 23 **A.** No, absolutely not.  
 24 **Q.** Since this matter, has there been an operation called  
 25 Catalyst in Nottinghamshire Police?

96

1 A. Yes.  
 2 Q. Has that sought to improve the quality of  
 3 investigations?  
 4 A. Yes.  
 5 Q. I only need "yes" at the moment. Has it done so, in  
 6 your estimation?  
 7 A. Absolutely, yes.  
 8 Q. Could you give the Chair just an example from  
 9 a supervisor's perspective as to how Catalyst has  
 10 improved Nottinghamshire's investigations?  
 11 A. There is a SharePoint page on our intranet now with  
 12 lines of inquiry, a ten-point plan of what needs to  
 13 happen. As part of that there are templates and  
 14 checklists for different offences where it will then  
 15 give you guidance of what evidence and how you can  
 16 collect that evidence. There's templates for things  
 17 such as statements, and for supervisors there is also  
 18 a separate page, and included in that is a portal to  
 19 help you record an outcome onto NICHE. You would input  
 20 the information -- ask you certain questions around that  
 21 crime and then at the end of it will give you what  
 22 outcome code is required.  
 23 Q. In short, does it create greater structure and  
 24 interrogation of the constable and the sergeant?  
 25 A. Yes.

1 THE CHAIR: I have to say, having asked that question, it  
 2 probably would run out of juice quite quickly, the  
 3 phone, if it was simply left unplugged, but there we  
 4 are.  
 5 Thank you, officer. I think what we will do is take  
 6 an early lunch today and if we come back at 1.45 pm.  
 7 Thank you.

8 (12.43 pm)

(The short adjournment)

9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

1 Q. Thank you, Madam.  
 2 Questioned by THE CHAIR  
 3 THE CHAIR: Thank you. Yes, I just wanted to ask you about  
 4 something that PC Pannell told us about. She was doing  
 5 a course and therefore went off to university leaving  
 6 her mobile phone, Force mobile phone, behind.  
 7 Is there any means now for officers who have given  
 8 their mobile phone numbers to people, for example, like  
 9 Sebastian, who needed perhaps to get in touch to follow  
 10 up, for that to be passed onto somebody else if someone  
 11 has gone a holiday or gone elsewhere?  
 12 A. No, there is not.  
 13 THE CHAIR: So it would just simply sit in her phone until  
 14 she came back.  
 15 A. Yes.  
 16 THE CHAIR: Do you think that is satisfactory or not?  
 17 A. No.  
 18 THE CHAIR: Is there any way that you could actually suggest  
 19 that might change that?  
 20 A. I don't know if there is a way. I think you suggested  
 21 earlier where that could be diverted to another phone or  
 22 maybe -- I don't know if this is possible technically,  
 23 but like you would get an out of office from an email,  
 24 is there a way that can be done through a phone as well.  
 25 I'm not sure.

1 INDEX

2		Page
3	PC AMY PANNELL (affirmed) .....	1
4	Questioned by MS MILLAR .....	1
5	Questioned by MR MOLONEY .....	40
6	Questioned by MS CARTWRIGHT .....	43
7	Questioned by MR BEGGS .....	49
8	Questioned by THE CHAIR .....	55
9		
10	PS ZOEY PRICE (affirmed) .....	60
11	Questioned by MS MILLAR .....	60
12	Questioned by MS CARTWRIGHT .....	87
13	Questioned by MR BEGGS .....	95
14	Questioned by THE CHAIR .....	98

15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

	<b>19 [1]</b> 21/20	16/7 16/13 27/16 28/5 30/22 48/9 56/8 58/6 72/20 76/15 85/16 86/5	<b>address [14]</b> 4/4 11/1 20/6 20/7 23/24 24/3 24/7 24/18 24/20 24/25 27/19 29/10 29/16 50/13	43/14 44/23 45/5 47/22 55/1 58/9 59/17 64/9 66/20 67/18 69/10 69/16 69/17 69/18 69/20 81/25 87/12 88/11 88/15 93/14 95/15
<b>MR BEGGS: [2]</b> 49/24 95/20	<b>2</b>	<b>20 [1]</b> 73/24	<b>admission [1]</b> 99/9	<b>alleged [1]</b> 26/7
<b>MR MOLONEY: [1]</b> 40/15	<b>2003313 [1]</b> 90/24	<b>2012 [2]</b> 2/13 60/19	<b>admit [2]</b> 72/5 72/14	<b>allow [1]</b> 41/24
<b>MS CARTWRIGHT:</b> <b>[3]</b> 43/4 87/10 95/17	<b>2013 [2]</b> 60/20 60/21	<b>2014 [1]</b> 64/22	<b>admitted [2]</b> 72/16 72/18	<b>alluded [1]</b> 82/15
<b>MS MILLAR: [6]</b> 1/3 1/16 16/8 17/12 60/3 60/8	<b>2019 [1]</b> 83/22	<b>2020 [3]</b> 2/7 2/14 60/24	<b>adult [2]</b> 76/18 82/20	<b>alone [2]</b> 72/20 92/1
<b>THE CHAIR: [38]</b> 1/10 1/13 1/15 16/3 17/10 40/13 43/2 49/22 55/15 55/19 55/21 56/1 56/7 56/9 56/20 56/23 57/4 57/13 57/22 58/1 58/3 58/5 58/9 58/15 58/19 58/22 58/25 59/9 59/22 60/2 60/7 95/14 95/18 98/3 98/13 98/16 98/18 99/1	<b>2021 [18]</b> 2/1 2/16 2/22 3/7 3/24 45/19 51/8 51/19 53/18 54/2 54/14 60/17 61/1 61/8 61/18 65/6 67/5 95/23	<b>2022 [1]</b> 65/5	<b>advice [21]</b> 3/14 7/24 8/5 8/7 8/17 8/21 11/6 11/12 11/16 11/20 12/3 13/16 19/9 25/19 26/5 26/25 27/1 64/6 81/20 86/12 86/24	<b>alongside [1]</b> 13/24
	<b>2023 [1]</b> 2/19	<b>2025 [2]</b> 1/18 60/9	<b>advised [3]</b> 10/22 86/17 86/19	<b>already [3]</b> 4/4 57/5 85/17
	<b>2026 [2]</b> 1/1 51/22	<b>20:42 hours [1]</b> 35/13	<b>advising [2]</b> 11/4 84/12	<b>also [20]</b> 2/11 6/5 8/24 9/10 18/5 47/6 48/1 49/16 55/2 66/13 68/4 68/10 80/17 82/15 84/12 85/13 85/24 88/2 92/20 97/17
	<b>21 [5]</b> 22/2 27/7 27/8 52/9 52/11	<b>21.26 [1]</b> 70/2	<b>advocates [1]</b> 52/2	<b>although [4]</b> 18/25 27/21 71/25 86/18
	<b>21:26 hours [1]</b> 67/5	<b>22 [2]</b> 65/21 66/2	<b>affect [2]</b> 63/15 64/3	<b>always [6]</b> 3/15 21/16 32/13 32/13 48/17 80/9
'In [1] 6/2	<b>24 October [1]</b> 60/9	<b>24-30 [1]</b> 28/9	<b>affected [3]</b> 64/1 75/10 80/4	<b>am [6]</b> 1/2 1/25 59/23 59/24 60/1 61/21
'people [1] 5/24	<b>25 [1]</b> 96/2	<b>25 years [1]</b> 50/5	<b>affirmed [4]</b> 1/11 60/5 100/3 100/10	<b>amount [7]</b> 10/12 23/7 35/21 40/25 59/7 59/19 73/1
	<b>26 October 2025 [1]</b> 1/18	<b>3</b>	<b>afraid [2]</b> 7/15 8/6	<b>Amy [4]</b> 1/8 1/11 63/19 100/3
		<b>3.2.2 [1]</b> 83/24	<b>after [14]</b> 19/5 21/17 30/21 38/4 46/13 46/14 55/1 60/21 67/10 85/13 85/16 85/19 85/25 91/3	<b>annual [1]</b> 55/22
		<b>3.2.3 [1]</b> 17/22	<b>afternoon [2]</b> 87/10 87/11	<b>another [10]</b> 8/9 27/24 31/16 33/11 40/1 42/18 55/16 56/4 59/5 98/21
		<b>30 [2]</b> 28/9 68/24	<b>afterwards [1]</b> 54/19	<b>answer [2]</b> 3/18 34/21
		<b>30.1 [1]</b> 56/12	<b>again [13]</b> 23/18 38/14 39/19 45/14 46/17 46/23 48/23 52/6 74/20 83/12 91/11 92/18 95/9	<b>answering [1]</b> 49/21
		<b>30.2 [1]</b> 56/15	<b>against [8]</b> 5/24 27/12 30/25 50/7 71/2 71/24 72/4 72/10	<b>anti [1]</b> 52/23
		<b>3002029 [1]</b> 57/24	<b>agencies [7]</b> 13/25 17/7 17/18 21/12 76/10 81/18 84/8	<b>anti-social [1]</b> 52/23
		<b>3005695 [2]</b> 10/16 58/2	<b>agency [1]</b> 19/7	<b>any [67]</b> 3/23 4/21 5/4 5/5 10/9 11/24 12/7 13/5 13/16 13/16 14/12 14/17 15/25 16/25 17/6 17/17 18/9 18/17 20/1 25/16 25/25 26/6 26/21 26/23 27/9 27/11 27/17 32/10 35/18 37/2 37/15 37/15 39/9 39/20 40/6 40/11 40/19 42/23 44/12 44/21 47/9 47/10 57/11 59/7 62/22 67/16 68/6 68/11 69/11 71/11 71/11 71/12 74/1 75/9 77/10 80/4 81/7 82/2 82/5 82/6 82/11 87/6 87/7 88/1 94/10 98/7 98/18
		<b>31 [1]</b> 56/12	<b>aggressively [1]</b> 34/7 89/22	<b>anybody [1]</b> 36/20
		<b>34 [1]</b> 77/4	<b>ago [3]</b> 30/16 42/8 89/22	<b>anyone [7]</b> 24/19 32/5 40/12 71/8 71/18
		<b>35 [1]</b> 82/16	<b>agree [18]</b> 19/7 29/1 46/6 46/8 47/21 48/13 57/1 72/8 76/5 79/10 87/20 89/23 90/8 90/13 91/13 93/11 94/20 94/22	
		<b>4</b>	<b>agreement [3]</b> 33/14 33/16 77/21	
		<b>4 March 2026 [1]</b> 1/1	<b>Albeit [1]</b> 72/20	
		<b>4.5 [1]</b> 23/1	<b>all [33]</b> 10/4 16/9 18/22 30/15 30/19 31/2 35/9 35/25 36/3 40/10 43/6 43/10	
		<b>5</b>		
		<b>5 July [1]</b> 53/4		
		<b>5 July 2021 [6]</b> 2/1 2/22 3/24 53/18 60/17 67/5		
		<b>5 o'clock [1]</b> 38/13		
		<b>5.30 pm [1]</b> 35/14		
		<b>A</b>		
		<b>abide [1]</b> 73/3		
		<b>Abigail [1]</b> 1/4		
		<b>ability [6]</b> 21/4 36/7 36/14 56/21 89/9 96/16		
		<b>able [14]</b> 12/16 16/1 10/15		
		<b>abuse [3]</b> 73/22 96/15 96/19		
		<b>accept [3]</b> 54/20 55/6 94/22		
		<b>accepted [2]</b> 51/15 78/22		
		<b>access [8]</b> 32/3 39/6 47/12 54/3 54/8 56/16 93/22 93/24		
		<b>accessed [1]</b> 56/20		
		<b>accommodation [2]</b> 33/6 77/2		
		<b>accordance [1]</b> 92/7		
		<b>account [5]</b> 21/18 25/4 46/20 81/3 89/22		
		<b>accurate [2]</b> 26/2 26/5		
		<b>action [11]</b> 16/18 16/25 35/2 42/20 42/22 51/7 51/9 66/5 66/6 67/1 96/15		
		<b>actions [3]</b> 42/2 49/18 56/14		
		<b>actually [10]</b> 24/15 46/5 46/5 46/9 52/7 52/17 55/8 66/10 69/24 98/18		
		<b>add [3]</b> 30/1 70/8 94/6		
		<b>added [1]</b> 89/8		
		<b>adding [1]</b> 94/8		

<p><b>A</b></p> <p><b>anyone...</b> [2] 75/14 81/2</p> <p><b>anything</b> [10] 7/12 7/17 28/12 29/2 33/1 39/22 57/14 58/7 81/9 95/18</p> <p><b>anywhere</b> [2] 30/8 68/14</p> <p><b>apart</b> [1] 85/19</p> <p><b>apologies</b> [1] 20/18</p> <p><b>appear</b> [2] 27/14 68/21</p> <p><b>appears</b> [1] 29/2</p> <p><b>applicable</b> [1] 78/21</p> <p><b>applied</b> [2] 22/22 65/7</p> <p><b>applies</b> [1] 88/2</p> <p><b>apply</b> [2] 87/20 96/20</p> <p><b>applying</b> [1] 66/23</p> <p><b>appointment</b> [1] 84/13</p> <p><b>appreciate</b> [1] 91/24</p> <p><b>Apprenticeship</b> [1] 2/6</p> <p><b>approached</b> [1] 80/4</p> <p><b>appropriate</b> [15] 7/19 7/22 8/5 8/17 8/21 13/11 18/10 18/18 19/7 19/9 25/19 31/7 44/2 82/24 86/23</p> <p><b>appropriately</b> [2] 35/22 50/22</p> <p><b>approx</b> [2] 28/9 50/6</p> <p><b>approximately</b> [1] 95/22</p> <p><b>April</b> [1] 65/6</p> <p><b>April 2021</b> [1] 65/6</p> <p><b>are</b> [101]</p> <p><b>aren't</b> [1] 49/17</p> <p><b>arising</b> [1] 50/17</p> <p><b>around</b> [18] 2/16 2/23 3/7 3/9 3/25 4/16 35/14 37/16 38/11 63/4 64/5 67/4 67/8 71/25 82/12 85/12 87/1 97/20</p> <p><b>arrange</b> [1] 84/12</p> <p><b>arranging</b> [1] 18/3</p> <p><b>arrest</b> [2] 22/1 32/9</p> <p><b>arrested</b> [6] 25/16 25/23 26/1 26/7 33/20 71/4</p> <p><b>arresting</b> [1] 34/25</p> <p><b>arrive</b> [2] 11/1 24/20</p> <p><b>as</b> [89] 2/16 3/22 8/3 8/24 14/12 14/25 16/19 16/24 17/2 19/22 22/5 22/17 22/22 23/4 23/7 23/15 26/12 26/18 27/17 27/23 30/2 31/15 31/20 32/25 34/19 35/1 36/16 38/20 38/20 38/20 41/25</p> <p>42/2 42/5 44/23 48/21 49/1 49/2 51/14 51/20 52/14 56/3 57/3 57/13 58/23 62/9 63/18 64/12 64/18 64/23 65/20 66/3 67/22 69/6 70/16 73/22 74/13 74/13 77/19 85/5 85/11 87/14 88/9 90/12 90/12 90/18 90/23 91/1 91/3 91/6 91/8 91/9 92/18 92/21 92/25 93/2 93/4 93/8 93/14 94/12 94/14 94/24 95/11 96/14 96/18 96/22 97/9 97/13 97/17 98/24</p> <p><b>aside</b> [1] 76/20</p> <p><b>ask</b> [25] 7/1 7/4 32/5 37/23 38/3 43/6 43/10 45/6 49/24 50/21 52/9 56/23 57/6 61/21 63/9 64/5 74/4 74/9 85/2 87/12 87/14 90/14 96/5 97/20 98/3</p> <p><b>asked</b> [10] 7/6 27/9 38/15 47/16 52/2 56/9 86/8 87/1 87/13 99/1</p> <p><b>asking</b> [6] 1/25 14/4 58/15 60/16 75/6 75/19</p> <p><b>assailant</b> [1] 51/18</p> <p><b>assault</b> [13] 13/4 15/23 16/17 18/25 22/18 23/16 26/20 29/11 51/7 57/20 58/23 90/6 91/6</p> <p><b>assaulted</b> [2] 12/10 34/6</p> <p><b>assess</b> [1] 3/13</p> <p><b>assessment</b> [8] 18/1 18/3 47/8 47/13 49/18 69/23 79/23 95/12</p> <p><b>assigned</b> [1] 4/11</p> <p><b>assist</b> [1] 52/14</p> <p><b>assistance</b> [1] 91/8</p> <p><b>assisted</b> [1] 14/20</p> <p><b>associated</b> [1] 9/23</p> <p><b>assume</b> [5] 7/14 71/19 71/21 75/24 76/11</p> <p><b>assuming</b> [2] 12/21 31/23</p> <p><b>assumption</b> [3] 72/6 86/6 88/25</p> <p><b>at</b> [226]</p> <p><b>attach</b> [2] 30/14 30/23</p> <p><b>attached</b> [5] 30/2 62/23 67/16 68/6 88/25</p> <p><b>attaching</b> [1] 30/12</p> <p><b>attempt</b> [6] 14/17 16/8 16/14 71/8 71/12 84/21</p> <p><b>attempted</b> [1] 71/14</p>	<p><b>attempts</b> [2] 71/17 81/2</p> <p><b>attend</b> [9] 3/12 14/12 15/10 18/7 25/1 59/5 71/17 83/25 86/19</p> <p><b>attendance</b> [1] 78/24</p> <p><b>attended</b> [5] 4/15 24/6 24/15 24/19 95/1</p> <p><b>August</b> [5] 38/24 39/4 39/18 40/7 83/22</p> <p><b>August 2019</b> [1] 83/22</p> <p><b>authorise</b> [1] 37/1</p> <p><b>authorised</b> [1] 62/16</p> <p><b>automatically</b> [1] 88/23</p> <p><b>available</b> [7] 14/13 18/8 23/14 27/21 37/14 37/15 72/25</p> <p><b>avoid</b> [1] 8/10</p> <p><b>avoiding</b> [1] 8/18</p> <p><b>Avon</b> [1] 2/10</p> <p><b>aware</b> [54] 6/24 8/9 8/19 13/18 13/22 13/24 14/14 14/20 15/18 16/8 16/23 17/7 20/11 20/12 23/23 24/2 27/11 29/10 30/17 30/24 33/5 33/16 36/9 36/10 36/11 36/16 36/17 36/19 44/11 47/8 50/9 63/12 64/22 65/23 66/17 67/8 71/4 71/7 76/14 77/1 77/10 77/13 78/6 79/8 79/14 79/16 79/20 79/21 86/14 86/20 86/20 86/22 87/15 90/17</p> <p><b>away</b> [9] 25/17 26/1 26/8 38/19 39/21 55/17 55/21 56/5 79/25</p> <p><b>awful</b> [1] 45/2</p>	<p><b>basis</b> [5] 10/8 23/15 52/19 71/23 82/23</p> <p><b>be</b> [132]</p> <p><b>bear</b> [1] 42/16</p> <p><b>bearing</b> [4] 18/17 43/22 46/22 95/13</p> <p><b>became</b> [1] 4/12</p> <p><b>because</b> [48] 5/2 7/15 8/1 8/15 16/15 16/16 16/20 17/3 17/14 18/13 18/21 19/11 19/12 20/24 24/6 25/9 27/15 29/2 29/10 31/6 32/4 34/13 38/19 39/12 44/20 45/7 46/4 46/7 49/15 53/9 57/1 57/18 59/5 72/4 72/16 73/2 73/11 75/24 77/6 80/21 82/19 83/16 84/24 85/7 86/7 90/21 91/20 93/6</p> <p><b>become</b> [2] 61/1 61/5</p> <p><b>been</b> [136]</p> <p><b>before</b> [28] 1/3 2/1 3/19 5/24 14/5 28/19 37/2 37/6 46/7 61/21 62/4 62/12 66/23 67/12 68/1 68/16 74/14 74/17 75/22 78/7 82/3 82/13 82/15 84/7 85/5 85/6 93/9 95/12</p> <p><b>beg</b> [3] 17/12 60/21 77/15</p> <p><b>Beggs</b> [6] 49/22 49/23 95/18 95/19 100/7 100/13</p> <p><b>behaved</b> [1] 92/25</p> <p><b>behaving</b> [1] 34/7</p> <p><b>behaviour</b> [5] 9/16 46/20 75/16 89/18 90/8</p> <p><b>behind</b> [2] 73/13 98/6</p> <p><b>being</b> [15] 18/13 19/20 26/25 42/21 46/6 48/16 73/19 80/14 85/13 85/16 85/19 85/24 90/7 91/6 91/25</p> <p><b>belief</b> [3] 1/22 60/13 83/9</p> <p><b>believe</b> [20] 1/23 3/5 4/22 4/24 5/1 5/2 5/16 7/6 7/12 15/22 19/9 24/4 25/6 28/18 47/3 53/9 57/11 57/16 64/9 95/24</p> <p><b>believed</b> [5] 9/11 15/13 17/25 21/23 84/3</p> <p><b>believes</b> [1] 89/25</p> <p><b>below</b> [4] 28/10 50/13 89/20 90/19</p> <p><b>beneficial</b> [2] 49/11 49/12</p>	<p><b>best</b> [5] 1/22 60/13 86/25 87/4 87/4</p> <p><b>better</b> [6] 57/2 77/5 80/8 80/9 80/15 91/2</p> <p><b>between</b> [7] 33/14 39/15 47/1 74/13 90/9 90/20 96/2</p> <p><b>birth</b> [11] 27/19 29/15 48/2 48/4 48/9 48/14 48/18 88/17 88/18 88/21 89/8</p> <p><b>bit</b> [4] 23/2 52/13 65/17 82/8</p> <p><b>book</b> [5] 6/14 6/17 9/2 33/8 78/25</p> <p><b>both</b> [2] 63/19 88/2</p> <p><b>bottom</b> [18] 14/7 21/20 22/2 22/25 27/7 28/10 35/4 35/5 45/22 46/2 46/19 50/24 57/8 65/16 69/14 70/25 78/16 83/23</p> <p><b>box</b> [3] 35/5 69/14 89/20</p> <p><b>break</b> [3] 17/10 59/23 59/25</p> <p><b>briefly</b> [2] 62/18 92/6</p> <p><b>building</b> [1] 23/22</p> <p><b>busy</b> [6] 41/16 41/20 41/24 42/20 42/21 59/4</p> <p><b>but</b> [110]</p>	<p><b>C</b></p> <p><b>call</b> [5] 1/3 1/8 3/25 53/15 60/3</p> <p><b>called</b> [3] 3/1 13/20 96/24</p> <p><b>calls</b> [3] 20/7 34/13 59/8</p> <p><b>came</b> [7] 3/6 5/22 30/5 39/18 53/16 90/4 98/14</p> <p><b>can</b> [103]</p> <p><b>can't</b> [42] 7/8 7/12 11/11 14/19 15/1 15/5 19/23 20/17 20/18 21/5 24/8 24/11 24/12 24/20 24/24 29/2 30/19 31/20 31/25 32/12 36/20 36/21 37/4 37/8 38/2 42/8 42/15 45/25 47/14 52/8 52/18 56/25 59/3 63/24 67/11 72/19 75/25 76/11 93/6 94/6 96/7 96/18</p> <p><b>cannot</b> [6] 14/23 20/11 24/22 42/12 42/13 75/24</p> <p><b>car</b> [1] 59/6</p> <p><b>care</b> [5] 15/13 18/1 84/3 84/11 87/21</p> <p><b>career</b> [2] 10/11 37/7</p> <p><b>careful</b> [1] 90/5</p> <p><b>carried</b> [2] 27/14</p>
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<p><b>C</b>  <b>carried... [1]</b> 63/15  <b>carry [2]</b> 17/11 40/23  <b>Cartwright [7]</b> 43/2  43/3 87/7 87/9 95/14  100/6 100/12  <b>case [57]</b> 6/2 8/14  9/6 15/21 16/7 16/16  17/3 18/24 20/22 22/8  27/21 32/11 33/24  36/23 37/3 37/22 38/5  38/6 42/21 42/22  45/24 48/9 51/17  51/25 52/23 61/22  62/1 62/12 63/10  63/23 64/5 65/8 66/14  66/21 67/3 67/13  67/19 67/21 68/2  68/16 70/20 73/6  74/17 74/25 75/10  75/21 76/7 79/23 80/2  80/4 80/17 82/24  83/17 86/15 91/12  95/12 96/19  <b>cases [3]</b> 37/5 63/5  95/25  <b>Catalyst [2]</b> 96/25  97/9  <b>cause [2]</b> 26/21  76/13  <b>caution [1]</b> 73/2  <b>CCTV [3]</b> 37/15 37/17  93/16  <b>certain [1]</b> 97/20  <b>certainly [2]</b> 46/21  48/22  <b>Chair [10]</b> 1/3 1/8  52/14 53/20 55/14  60/3 97/8 98/2 100/8  100/14  <b>chances [1]</b> 26/16  <b>change [2]</b> 45/25  98/19  <b>changed [1]</b> 33/11  <b>charge [1]</b> 64/20  <b>charged [2]</b> 33/21  80/22  <b>charges [1]</b> 42/23  <b>charging [2]</b> 26/12  51/15  <b>charities [1]</b> 81/18  <b>check [16]</b> 24/18  27/14 27/16 32/5  32/13 39/20 57/3  57/13 58/9 71/21  91/15 92/2 93/15  93/23 94/19 95/2  <b>checked [7]</b> 57/4  74/5 75/1 90/12 92/3  93/9 95/11  <b>checklists [1]</b> 97/14  <b>checks [13]</b> 27/4  27/24 31/17 31/19  32/19 48/11 48/12  74/2 74/25 75/9 89/11</p>	<p>92/17 93/12  <b>Chief [1]</b> 43/8  <b>choose [2]</b> 70/21  80/12  <b>circumstances [26]</b>  8/8 8/18 8/22 12/4  13/13 15/14 16/10  16/21 18/10 20/2 23/7  25/20 34/9 45/9 69/2  69/6 73/15 73/16  75/13 76/14 82/19  84/4 84/9 84/15 86/7  96/13  <b>city [2]</b> 59/7 59/8  <b>clarity [1]</b> 93/9  <b>clear [4]</b> 12/14 49/2  80/19 85/10  <b>clearly [2]</b> 72/1 89/22  <b>clinicians [2]</b> 54/4  54/9  <b>close [4]</b> 31/1 37/11  62/3 68/16  <b>closed [8]</b> 36/23  37/22 38/5 38/6 91/1  91/3 91/8 95/12  <b>closing [9]</b> 36/23  37/1 62/4 62/10 67/12  68/1 68/19 71/1 92/9  <b>closure [9]</b> 37/6  61/24 62/15 62/18  63/5 63/10 90/22  93/10 93/10  <b>code [6]</b> 92/7 92/9  92/14 93/5 93/11  97/22  <b>codes [1]</b> 64/17  <b>colleague [2]</b> 56/23  56/25  <b>colleagues [2]</b> 40/3  54/15  <b>collect [3]</b> 80/24 81/1  97/16  <b>come [13]</b> 12/20  14/25 15/6 15/10  36/18 38/12 57/6  58/19 64/6 76/23  83/25 95/3 99/6  <b>coming [3]</b> 6/4 18/21  35/22  <b>comment [1]</b> 28/4  <b>commented [1]</b> 9/15  <b>comments [1]</b> 89/19  <b>commit [2]</b> 75/25  85/8  <b>committed [3]</b> 37/18  57/16 85/7  <b>communicate [2]</b>  33/19 33/21  <b>communicated [1]</b>  13/14  <b>communicating [1]</b>  12/17  <b>communication [2]</b>  21/14 88/8  <b>community [8]</b> 2/9  36/12 72/21 80/10</p>	<p>84/14 85/14 85/19  85/25  <b>complainant [10]</b>  50/18 51/6 51/17 67/8  73/11 79/11 79/20  80/1 81/8 86/12  <b>complaint [40]</b> 6/13  6/22 7/5 7/15 7/20  7/25 8/2 8/13 8/15  13/2 13/3 15/23 16/17  17/5 17/9 17/15 18/15  18/25 19/1 19/12  25/11 25/21 26/15  34/2 34/5 34/5 34/20  35/23 37/24 42/23  44/18 44/21 45/10  50/8 50/20 73/12 79/6  79/12 79/18 79/22  <b>complete [4]</b> 16/1  35/11 64/18 67/19  <b>completed [10]</b> 2/19  35/6 35/15 55/3 57/3  57/20 66/21 69/16  74/14 75/2  <b>completely [1]</b> 47/19  <b>completeness [1]</b>  45/14  <b>completing [1]</b> 93/10  <b>completion [1]</b> 93/11  <b>compliance [1]</b> 43/17  <b>computer [4]</b> 32/3  56/3 56/16 57/5  <b>concentrate [1]</b>  39/13  <b>concern [2]</b> 15/15  84/5  <b>concerned [3]</b> 58/19  80/2 84/7  <b>concerns [4]</b> 84/11  94/17 94/24 95/8  <b>conclusion [1]</b> 86/5  <b>conditions [5]</b> 80/18  80/21 80/23 80/25  96/18  <b>conduct [7]</b> 27/24  28/5 28/16 29/21  31/16 32/18 74/1  <b>conducted [5]</b> 27/4  30/4 30/8 43/11 43/14  <b>conducting [1]</b> 67/9  <b>confirm [5]</b> 8/4 44/7  45/16 69/16 69/18  <b>confirmed [2]</b> 22/11  69/3  <b>confirms [1]</b> 23/11  <b>confusing [2]</b> 45/11  91/5  <b>connected [1]</b> 70/18  <b>connection [1]</b> 10/2  <b>consent [9]</b> 77/19  82/20 83/16 84/6  84/10 84/16 84/17  84/20 84/24  <b>consents [1]</b> 84/21  <b>consequences [5]</b>  7/10 7/16 52/24 79/21</p>	<p>80/2  <b>consider [7]</b> 15/20  18/9 25/4 68/7 73/6  80/17 84/12  <b>considerable [1]</b>  59/19  <b>consideration [3]</b>  47/5 94/7 94/23  <b>considered [6]</b> 68/1  73/7 82/3 82/11 82/23  93/4  <b>Considering [1]</b>  81/24  <b>considers [1]</b> 47/19  <b>consistent [1]</b> 53/12  <b>Consolidated [2]</b>  13/21 83/21  <b>constable [9]</b> 2/6  2/17 2/23 3/1 4/25  63/13 64/2 74/8 97/24  <b>Constables [2]</b> 95/22  95/24  <b>Constabulary [1]</b>  42/3  <b>contact [26]</b> 6/3 6/25  12/16 14/17 15/11  16/9 16/14 18/6 21/5  27/18 36/7 38/4 39/9  39/20 46/15 50/10  51/18 55/23 56/1  77/25 78/11 79/9  81/19 81/19 84/1  86/13  <b>contacted [17]</b> 4/5  4/9 12/21 14/24 15/2  15/3 18/2 24/1 34/13  36/21 47/15 59/3 59/4  59/14 77/6 78/9 95/8  <b>contacting [5]</b> 5/25  12/15 21/2 77/11  94/23  <b>content [2]</b> 50/3  68/21  <b>contentious [1]</b> 88/1  <b>contents [3]</b> 1/21  43/10 60/12  <b>context [4]</b> 64/15  90/7 90/9 91/2  <b>continue [2]</b> 38/21  43/23  <b>continued [1]</b> 11/1  <b>contrary [2]</b> 23/14  69/4  <b>control [8]</b> 4/5 4/11  18/2 32/6 32/17 58/4  58/5 94/1  <b>conversation [6]</b>  19/22 20/1 67/10  68/17 68/18 68/21  <b>conversations [3]</b>  32/1 68/11 68/14  <b>correct [41]</b> 1/19 2/8  2/12 2/15 2/18 2/20  2/23 2/24 3/2 4/14  4/17 4/18 6/15 16/20  17/19 22/19 22/24</p>	<p>25/12 26/21 26/22  28/20 28/21 29/3 29/4  29/9 35/16 39/3 39/5  44/25 46/3 56/22 58/8  58/14 61/7 61/11  61/15 61/19 69/18  82/21 89/1 90/23  <b>corrected [1]</b> 45/22  <b>correctly [5]</b> 17/14  28/3 45/21 69/5 89/13  <b>could [54]</b> 5/13 5/16  8/17 11/9 12/20 13/19  14/20 14/23 19/6  19/13 19/14 19/17  20/20 23/18 25/15  27/5 37/16 40/5 44/7  45/8 47/12 48/8 49/24  51/24 52/12 52/13  55/15 55/18 56/7  56/10 56/14 56/20  57/1 57/4 59/2 65/2  66/9 66/11 72/16  72/18 74/12 74/21  78/13 78/14 79/3 81/8  81/9 85/10 85/11  85/12 88/12 97/8  98/18 98/21  <b>couldn't [4]</b> 17/17  45/9 56/7 95/2  <b>counter [5]</b> 4/16 4/20  4/23 5/13 5/20  <b>couple [2]</b> 3/5 33/11  <b>course [2]</b> 15/1 98/5  <b>court [11]</b> 6/23 26/13  50/8 51/19 64/20  72/21 72/24 73/4 73/6  79/7 87/12  <b>CPS [2]</b> 26/12 51/15  <b>create [1]</b> 97/23  <b>created [2]</b> 44/13  70/8  <b>credible [2]</b> 23/13  69/4  <b>crime [29]</b> 12/8 22/17  22/21 23/2 23/7 23/11  23/15 26/6 30/1 30/2  37/18 45/17 46/7  46/11 50/16 57/15  57/19 64/11 65/3  66/12 68/25 69/2 69/3  69/6 86/24 91/4 91/11  96/16 97/21  <b>crimed [6]</b> 46/6 46/9  46/11 46/11 46/13  91/6  <b>crimes [4]</b> 39/17  64/24 73/22 91/19  <b>criminal [3]</b> 17/4  27/10 27/12  <b>criming [2]</b> 8/3 58/23  <b>crisis [3]</b> 18/6 40/23  54/1  <b>critical [3]</b> 43/16 44/3  45/11  <b>criticisms [2]</b> 44/10  87/15</p>
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<b>C</b>	<b>did [76]</b> 5/9 7/1 7/3 7/4 7/6 7/7 7/9 10/5 14/17 15/20 15/22 16/9 18/9 19/14 19/14 19/17 20/5 22/8 24/5 24/20 25/1 25/4 29/21 30/3 31/21 32/5 32/11 33/18 33/23 36/14 37/2 37/10 37/13 37/23 37/25 38/5 39/6 39/19 42/7 42/11 50/17 50/23 52/3 52/7 52/15 52/17 52/18 53/3 53/24 54/6 56/15 56/25 58/22 62/11 63/15 64/12 64/14 65/10 68/7 71/11 71/15 72/18 73/6 74/1 74/8 78/19 80/20 83/4 85/18 88/20 90/6 93/23 94/7 95/22 96/11 96/21	55/2 <b>distance [1]</b> 11/1 <b>distinctive [1]</b> 48/13 <b>diverted [1]</b> 98/21 <b>do [110]</b> <b>document [7]</b> 13/20 13/22 57/6 79/3 83/20 88/13 92/12 <b>documented [1]</b> 78/21 <b>documents [2]</b> 67/16 68/6 <b>does [15]</b> 3/7 5/4 12/1 18/17 27/14 29/7 31/22 41/24 52/14 54/17 66/5 76/1 79/14 79/19 97/23 <b>doesn't [21]</b> 8/1 8/12 25/21 25/22 26/23 44/17 51/6 51/17 51/18 53/12 54/17 55/8 64/3 76/3 79/10 79/13 79/17 79/17 80/9 85/6 86/2 <b>doing [8]</b> 3/14 19/16 55/4 59/16 63/3 77/14 88/18 98/4 <b>domestic [4]</b> 20/9 73/22 96/15 96/19 <b>don't [65]</b> 3/5 5/4 5/5 5/8 7/25 10/9 11/22 14/6 16/16 18/22 19/16 20/3 25/3 25/18 26/3 26/20 29/3 30/6 30/7 31/24 32/9 32/24 34/15 35/24 35/25 36/3 38/19 39/22 39/23 40/3 40/24 42/10 43/21 43/21 47/23 51/3 58/13 59/5 68/8 73/3 73/7 73/12 73/13 73/13 74/10 80/6 81/5 81/18 82/10 83/8 84/19 85/3 86/1 87/6 88/1 90/13 90/25 93/14 93/15 93/24 94/20 94/21 94/22 98/20 98/22 <b>done [42]</b> 7/16 19/11 20/9 20/11 24/9 24/14 24/16 24/17 25/2 29/22 30/13 31/23 31/24 32/6 32/17 32/20 39/22 42/15 52/19 53/21 56/7 59/21 62/2 62/20 63/6 63/17 63/19 64/9 71/22 72/23 74/7 74/9 74/11 74/12 74/17 74/22 75/1 78/7 81/9 94/1 97/5 98/24 <b>door [1]</b> 38/14 <b>double [1]</b> 71/20 <b>down [11]</b> 1/13 6/20 14/8 15/8 18/4 23/2 48/16 65/17 70/1	72/20 79/5 <b>driver [1]</b> 40/24 <b>drug [2]</b> 9/22 85/11 <b>drugs [4]</b> 9/17 10/3 10/6 10/6 <b>due [3]</b> 36/2 92/24 96/17 <b>during [4]</b> 38/21 62/20 64/6 78/18 <b>duties [2]</b> 38/23 39/2 <b>duty [2]</b> 39/4 87/21 <b>dyslexia [1]</b> 45/23	28/23 28/23 45/12 46/3 67/18 <b>entry [41]</b> 6/17 9/2 10/15 10/15 10/19 10/20 11/4 28/8 28/10 28/19 29/5 29/6 33/8 35/7 35/13 45/21 45/25 46/2 46/17 46/19 46/22 46/25 50/2 50/18 57/8 67/15 67/20 67/24 69/9 70/2 70/20 71/3 78/16 78/23 78/24 78/25 79/10 81/11 81/22 81/23 86/12 <b>escalating [1]</b> 58/12 <b>essays [1]</b> 55/2 <b>essential [1]</b> 93/8 <b>essentially [21]</b> 16/18 17/15 35/9 45/8 46/4 47/7 48/23 49/12 62/23 64/17 64/23 66/18 73/3 73/11 73/18 89/8 89/17 90/18 90/22 91/10 94/13 <b>estimation [1]</b> 97/6 <b>ethical [1]</b> 87/22 <b>even [7]</b> 11/8 11/12 11/14 15/23 45/11 49/1 95/2 <b>event [2]</b> 2/1 75/9 <b>events [2]</b> 52/20 60/17 <b>ever [4]</b> 14/5 68/14 68/16 78/7 <b>every [10]</b> 26/17 34/14 35/24 36/1 42/8 45/3 65/10 70/20 74/25 91/21 <b>evidence [52]</b> 1/6 1/24 5/9 5/10 13/4 17/13 19/4 20/17 23/14 25/14 25/25 37/14 37/18 38/10 39/1 42/11 43/7 43/18 43/22 44/21 44/23 45/8 48/20 48/23 49/1 59/23 60/15 62/3 62/24 64/3 64/5 67/4 67/16 68/6 69/4 69/11 69/25 71/2 72/2 72/3 73/1 73/4 74/3 80/20 80/23 81/1 93/18 94/4 96/3 96/10 97/15 97/16 <b>evidenced [1]</b> 78/20 <b>evidential [3]</b> 26/11 66/4 80/20 <b>exactly [4]</b> 7/25 19/23 30/19 45/3 <b>exam [1]</b> 60/24 <b>example [6]</b> 3/21 8/6 55/22 84/10 97/8 98/8 <b>existence [1]</b> 91/18 <b>expect [2]</b> 44/8 80/8
<b>D</b>	<b>dangerous [1]</b> 42/18 <b>data [2]</b> 13/24 50/23 <b>date [11]</b> 27/19 29/15 48/2 48/4 48/8 48/14 48/17 88/17 88/18 88/21 89/8 <b>dated [2]</b> 1/17 60/9 <b>day [12]</b> 4/21 5/16 24/13 32/1 45/11 47/13 47/15 48/24 48/24 49/10 49/10 61/12 <b>days [1]</b> 45/2 <b>DCI [4]</b> 1/4 43/11 43/14 47/4 <b>DCI Goucher [2]</b> 43/11 43/14 <b>DCI Goucher's [1]</b> 47/4 <b>deal [12]</b> 10/7 31/11 31/11 40/20 41/17 41/25 42/5 76/11 86/11 87/19 95/4 96/14 <b>dealing [14]</b> 9/20 10/1 13/20 13/25 17/23 21/11 41/5 41/12 44/16 49/9 53/10 83/20 84/20 85/11 <b>dealings [1]</b> 48/24 <b>dealt [4]</b> 27/13 35/22 40/16 68/25 <b>deciding [1]</b> 82/13 <b>decision [1]</b> 51/16 <b>decisions [1]</b> 80/5 <b>declaration [3]</b> 69/15 69/22 69/24 <b>declare [1]</b> 69/17 <b>decline [1]</b> 85/7 <b>deemed [1]</b> 85/15 <b>deficiency [1]</b> 54/23 <b>defined [1]</b> 23/7 <b>definitely [1]</b> 96/8 <b>degree [3]</b> 2/6 2/19 38/22 <b>delicate [1]</b> 39/14 <b>department [2]</b> 15/16 84/6 <b>description [1]</b> 23/20 <b>detail [4]</b> 27/15 28/5 28/16 89/22 <b>details [11]</b> 15/14 28/13 55/23 56/17 77/25 82/21 84/4 89/2 89/15 89/17 91/22 <b>Detective [1]</b> 43/8 <b>detention [1]</b> 22/7 <b>determine [1]</b> 88/9 <b>devoted [1]</b> 51/25	<b>didn't [50]</b> 5/11 6/12 7/4 7/15 7/20 8/14 13/3 15/22 15/23 15/25 16/2 16/5 16/15 16/24 17/1 17/4 17/14 18/11 18/14 25/6 25/8 25/9 25/10 31/6 32/2 34/19 34/19 34/22 34/23 35/23 36/19 37/20 37/23 38/23 39/17 44/20 44/21 46/11 48/8 54/20 56/23 57/11 72/22 73/9 76/6 78/4 79/11 83/16 84/23 84/25 <b>difference [4]</b> 53/3 75/21 76/7 76/8 <b>different [8]</b> 13/7 21/12 24/23 25/24 27/1 59/18 66/10 97/14 <b>differently [1]</b> 7/17 <b>difficult [5]</b> 8/12 8/14 10/4 40/1 49/5 <b>difficulties [3]</b> 21/24 41/6 66/4 <b>directed [2]</b> 78/13 81/12 <b>directly [1]</b> 12/18 <b>discovered [1]</b> 75/15 <b>discuss [2]</b> 40/22 71/15 <b>discussed [4]</b> 19/5 19/24 37/8 82/12 <b>discussing [2]</b> 2/22 71/15 <b>discussion [1]</b> 57/17 <b>disorder [1]</b> 17/25 <b>disordered [4]</b> 14/8 21/21 48/19 49/2 <b>disposal [3]</b> 64/20 72/21 73/6 <b>disposals [1]</b> 72/24 <b>dissertations [1]</b>	<b>E</b> <b>each [7]</b> 26/9 26/9 26/10 42/5 53/15 76/11 95/25 <b>earlier [5]</b> 22/11 29/7 67/7 79/3 98/21 <b>early [1]</b> 99/6 <b>easier [2]</b> 63/8 92/13 <b>easy [6]</b> 20/14 21/4 45/4 54/2 54/8 87/2 <b>effect [3]</b> 9/15 85/18 86/17 <b>effected [1]</b> 83/22 <b>effective [2]</b> 9/22 65/4 <b>effectively [1]</b> 91/4 <b>effort [1]</b> 75/13 <b>either [4]</b> 23/5 84/16 94/1 94/22 <b>element [1]</b> 35/24 <b>elements [1]</b> 10/5 <b>else [11]</b> 31/19 32/5 33/11 39/25 40/12 53/20 71/8 71/18 75/14 81/9 98/10 <b>elsewhere [1]</b> 98/11 <b>email [1]</b> 98/23 <b>emails [1]</b> 55/3 <b>emergencies [1]</b> 9/23 <b>employs [1]</b> 44/9 <b>end [7]</b> 2/14 9/3 17/16 23/20 31/13 59/22 97/21 <b>ended [1]</b> 19/24 <b>enough [3]</b> 73/4 80/19 86/4 <b>enquiries [7]</b> 12/24 37/16 47/18 81/25 92/4 92/17 92/21 <b>enquiring [1]</b> 66/24 <b>enquiry [7]</b> 34/14 35/10 35/19 48/11 69/10 69/17 74/5 <b>ensure [6]</b> 33/1 50/22 66/19 74/17 91/16 91/19 <b>enter [2]</b> 45/25 70/17 <b>entered [6]</b> 10/17 32/18 32/19 70/5 70/7 71/2 <b>entire [1]</b> 67/25 <b>entries [6]</b> 28/19	

<p><b>E</b></p> <p><b>expectation [1]</b> 64/7  <b>expected [1]</b> 49/3  <b>experience [7]</b> 27/2  47/22 53/19 54/14  63/3 72/4 96/5  <b>experienced [2]</b>  53/18 59/15  <b>explain [19]</b> 4/3 5/20  6/11 7/9 9/19 11/24  13/17 32/2 36/24 61/4  61/23 62/18 64/10  65/1 68/24 73/24 75/9  77/4 92/8  <b>explained [3]</b> 5/12  9/10 10/18  <b>explored [4]</b> 35/9  35/19 82/1 87/19  <b>extent [1]</b> 19/21  <b>extra [2]</b> 46/2 91/14  <b>extremely [1]</b> 18/24</p>	<p><b>finally [1]</b> 58/10  <b>find [4]</b> 27/19 29/2  30/14 71/14  <b>findings [4]</b> 43/17  43/20 44/2 44/24  <b>finished [1]</b> 77/16  <b>first [16]</b> 6/20 14/11  16/3 38/17 43/6 43/10  45/5 50/17 60/18  69/14 79/4 84/20  85/11 87/12 87/17  88/15  <b>firstly [1]</b> 64/21  <b>fit [3]</b> 22/7 41/25 42/5  <b>fitness [1]</b> 22/6  <b>five [10]</b> 2/11 2/23  3/9 11/22 15/5 17/11  42/8 63/4 63/6 95/16  <b>five minutes [2]</b>  17/11 95/16  <b>five months [4]</b> 2/23  3/9 11/22 15/5  <b>five years [2]</b> 2/11  42/8  <b>flag [2]</b> 91/14 92/1  <b>flagged [1]</b> 57/18  <b>flagging [2]</b> 20/21  46/25  <b>flags [1]</b> 20/8  <b>flat [7]</b> 9/4 14/9 23/22  50/15 71/9 75/15 81/3  <b>flatmate [2]</b> 34/7  38/12  <b>follow [11]</b> 3/18 5/4  8/2 19/7 26/23 35/24  41/9 42/4 44/18 54/18  98/9  <b>followed [4]</b> 7/21  46/14 58/23 91/17  <b>following [4]</b> 41/21  49/17 61/10 90/16  <b>Force [11]</b> 4/5 27/1  41/3 41/10 41/17  43/19 44/9 64/23  81/12 81/15 98/6  <b>Force's [4]</b> 41/21  43/17 49/3 88/6  <b>foreseeable [1]</b>  87/24  <b>formal [8]</b> 6/13 7/4  16/17 17/15 25/10  37/24 73/12 79/11  <b>formally [1]</b> 61/8  <b>fort [1]</b> 56/4  <b>forthcoming [1]</b>  26/14  <b>forward [4]</b> 16/13  55/16 56/2 58/16  <b>forwarded [1]</b> 55/16  <b>found [2]</b> 74/6 89/3  <b>foundation [1]</b> 94/19  <b>four [2]</b> 38/23 53/17  <b>four weeks [1]</b> 38/23  <b>framework [1]</b> 65/22  <b>free [1]</b> 62/13  <b>front [8]</b> 1/17 4/16</p>	<p>4/20 4/22 5/13 5/20  60/9 64/3  <b>frontline [5]</b> 21/11  38/23 39/2 49/11  54/25  <b>full [4]</b> 21/25 29/8  55/5 55/5  <b>full-time [2]</b> 55/5 55/5  <b>functions [1]</b> 59/18  <b>further [29]</b> 8/11 13/6  16/18 16/25 17/6 18/3  20/20 21/1 21/9 21/15  35/2 36/5 36/5 38/4  42/20 42/21 48/1  50/14 64/5 66/5 69/24  70/1 73/14 75/17  76/24 81/19 87/6  89/10 89/10  <b>future [1]</b> 88/6</p>	<p>17/5 17/10 18/4 19/11  21/17 26/7 26/13  31/23 34/8 34/25 54/1  57/22 60/15 61/17  61/21 66/10 70/9  76/19 77/17 78/15  92/12 94/5 95/10  95/14  <b>gone [7]</b> 13/5 75/3  75/4 77/14 86/25  98/11 98/11  <b>good [9]</b> 40/15 41/16  41/20 43/4 43/5 55/11  85/21 87/10 87/11  <b>got [4]</b> 12/17 30/22  59/2 64/23  <b>Goucher [8]</b> 1/4 43/9  43/11 43/14 44/24  47/19 87/15 89/3  <b>Goucher's [1]</b> 47/4  <b>GP [2]</b> 18/2 84/12  <b>grabbed [3]</b> 5/23  50/5 50/6  <b>greater [3]</b> 53/19  54/14 97/23  <b>GROB [1]</b> 9/4  <b>ground [1]</b> 49/17  <b>grounds [2]</b> 15/15  84/5  <b>guidance [4]</b> 11/25  49/2 65/20 97/15  <b>guide [2]</b> 42/2 65/3</p>	<p><b>hasn't [2]</b> 32/6 32/8  <b>hate [1]</b> 96/15  <b>have [325]</b>  <b>haven't [2]</b> 70/7  72/13  <b>having [8]</b> 20/1 22/22  56/2 58/25 68/15 76/3  83/9 99/1  <b>he [92]</b> 5/12 5/12  5/21 5/21 5/22 6/1 6/5  6/7 6/12 7/4 7/7 7/9  7/9 7/12 7/14 7/14  7/14 7/15 7/19 8/6  8/23 8/23 8/25 9/6  9/11 9/13 9/14 12/8  12/12 13/8 16/23  16/24 16/25 17/1  18/14 19/5 21/7 25/6  25/10 25/16 26/10  29/24 30/17 30/25  31/1 32/9 33/9 34/6  34/8 34/19 34/19  35/22 38/11 38/14  38/14 38/15 42/19  47/17 50/6 51/1 58/16  59/12 72/14 72/16  72/16 72/18 79/13  79/13 79/16 79/17  79/21 80/20 80/21  80/24 81/11 81/12  85/5 85/6 85/9 85/10  85/13 85/15 85/19  85/24 86/13 89/25  90/1 90/5 92/25 93/1  94/4 96/11  <b>he's [2]</b> 72/5 89/13  <b>heading [1]</b> 23/1  <b>health [72]</b> 9/12 9/17  9/21 10/2 10/7 10/10  11/21 12/9 12/12  12/14 12/21 13/9  13/12 13/16 13/21  13/25 14/1 14/12  14/21 14/25 15/24  18/7 18/19 20/22 21/3  21/11 21/15 21/20  21/24 22/3 36/7 36/14  36/17 40/20 40/23  41/6 41/13 41/18  42/19 46/24 47/2 47/3  47/12 47/18 48/25  49/8 53/23 53/25  59/11 75/24 76/1 76/3  76/12 77/8 82/18 83/6  83/21 85/4 85/6 85/8  85/11 85/12 85/14  85/23 86/3 86/8 86/13  89/21 89/25 90/10  94/8 94/25  <b>heard [9]</b> 5/9 9/14  43/6 48/23 57/5 63/12  67/7 87/17 95/8  <b>help [14]</b> 3/10 4/19  11/5 19/19 52/14 70/4  72/24 73/16 82/3  90/23 93/2 93/6 94/4</p>
<p><b>F</b></p>				
<p><b>fact [21]</b> 21/23 24/6  24/19 25/1 31/18  32/16 41/15 41/20  41/24 47/10 47/24  52/15 57/18 59/12  63/15 63/22 64/1 68/7  68/18 72/10 92/24  <b>factor [3]</b> 8/24 51/11  51/14  <b>facts [2]</b> 75/11 79/25  <b>failing [1]</b> 48/1  <b>failure [3]</b> 48/4 88/16  88/20  <b>fairly [1]</b> 48/13  <b>fall [1]</b> 80/13  <b>falls [1]</b> 84/19  <b>familiar [4]</b> 13/22  66/13 66/16 83/20  <b>February [2]</b> 2/16  61/1  <b>February 2021 [2]</b>  2/16 61/1  <b>fed [1]</b> 48/3  <b>feed [1]</b> 17/11  <b>feel [5]</b> 20/10 21/14  42/5 84/25 85/21  <b>Feven [2]</b> 42/17  52/24  <b>few [5]</b> 30/13 45/1  48/17 56/1 61/22  <b>fifth [1]</b> 81/23  <b>file [3]</b> 37/1 44/22  64/8  <b>filed [15]</b> 17/2 18/15  18/16 19/3 19/11  20/23 26/16 34/3  34/18 35/1 35/24  42/24 44/19 47/11  64/11  <b>filing [1]</b> 19/25  <b>final [2]</b> 54/17 67/19  <b>finalised [1]</b> 61/22</p>	<p><b>gather [2]</b> 69/11  93/18  <b>gave [4]</b> 1/6 11/6  49/2 96/3  <b>general [2]</b> 10/9  87/20  <b>generally [7]</b> 55/24  62/6 62/7 62/8 63/21  64/4 94/12  <b>get [15]</b> 3/13 33/20  34/13 47/6 50/17  53/22 55/8 59/7 76/20  84/13 84/23 95/9  96/11 98/9 98/23  <b>getting [2]</b> 53/15 96/4  <b>give [15]</b> 7/24 8/5 8/7  13/15 25/19 26/25  27/2 40/3 82/20 86/24  94/7 96/18 97/8 97/15  97/21  <b>given [24]</b> 4/21 7/19  18/14 19/10 21/6  33/23 34/18 43/22  45/8 47/12 48/20 51/2  55/24 56/17 63/3 73/9  75/10 75/18 80/3  80/21 80/24 83/5  86/12 98/7  <b>gives [2]</b> 46/20 91/2  <b>giving [3]</b> 11/16  55/22 89/17  <b>go [36]</b> 6/11 6/23  17/12 17/17 17/20  19/21 23/2 23/18  26/13 29/5 32/9 38/21  39/19 45/5 46/18 47/7  50/8 51/19 56/9 62/22  66/9 66/11 70/19  72/20 73/3 73/13  73/13 75/9 79/3 79/7  81/21 83/23 86/6 86/9  92/16 93/15  <b>goes [1]</b> 91/22  <b>going [30]</b> 1/25 2/2  2/21 6/7 8/23 8/25</p>	<p><b>G</b></p>	<p><b>H</b></p> <p><b>habit [1]</b> 96/12  <b>had [155]</b>  <b>hadn't [6]</b> 11/18  11/18 32/4 71/4 83/16  84/24  <b>half [1]</b> 53/17  <b>hand [2]</b> 3/13 70/4  <b>handling [1]</b> 87/16  <b>happen [5]</b> 32/11  33/24 58/12 73/4  97/13  <b>happened [12]</b> 13/17  32/16 42/17 45/7 47/1  56/10 63/22 75/4  90/19 91/8 91/15 96/8  <b>happens [2]</b> 6/2  54/19  <b>harm [3]</b> 6/7 34/8  87/24  <b>has [44]</b> 12/9 19/2  20/8 23/11 32/22 43/9  43/14 43/20 44/13  48/5 51/17 62/15 66/5  67/7 68/15 71/19  74/19 75/1 75/4 75/24  76/12 82/6 85/5 85/7  85/9 86/7 87/15 87/19  88/15 89/3 89/9 89/11  91/5 92/17 93/22  94/12 94/14 94/15  96/8 96/24 97/2 97/5  97/9 98/11</p>	<p><b>gather [2]</b> 69/11  93/18  <b>gave [4]</b> 1/6 11/6  49/2 96/3  <b>general [2]</b> 10/9  87/20  <b>generally [7]</b> 55/24  62/6 62/7 62/8 63/21  64/4 94/12  <b>get [15]</b> 3/13 33/20  34/13 47/6 50/17  53/22 55/8 59/7 76/20  84/13 84/23 95/9  96/11 98/9 98/23  <b>getting [2]</b> 53/15 96/4  <b>give [15]</b> 7/24 8/5 8/7  13/15 25/19 26/25  27/2 40/3 82/20 86/24  94/7 96/18 97/8 97/15  97/21  <b>given [24]</b> 4/21 7/19  18/14 19/10 21/6  33/23 34/18 43/22  45/8 47/12 48/20 51/2  55/24 56/17 63/3 73/9  75/10 75/18 80/3  80/21 80/24 83/5  86/12 98/7  <b>gives [2]</b> 46/20 91/2  <b>giving [3]</b> 11/16  55/22 89/17  <b>go [36]</b> 6/11 6/23  17/12 17/17 17/20  19/21 23/2 23/18  26/13 29/5 32/9 38/21  39/19 45/5 46/18 47/7  50/8 51/19 56/9 62/22  66/9 66/11 70/19  72/20 73/3 73/13  73/13 75/9 79/3 79/7  81/21 83/23 86/6 86/9  92/16 93/15  <b>goes [1]</b> 91/22  <b>going [30]</b> 1/25 2/2  2/21 6/7 8/23 8/25</p>

<b>H</b>	<b>I also [2]</b> 55/2 85/13	62/13 64/16 68/18	<b>I was [10]</b> 11/10 14/2	14/15 14/18 15/4
<b>help... [1]</b> 97/19	<b>I am [1]</b> 1/25	68/20 69/16 71/10	19/19 27/11 38/19	16/24 17/15 18/16
<b>helpful [1]</b> 48/22	<b>I appreciate [1]</b>	77/17 87/17 93/7	38/19 38/22 39/12	19/2 19/5 20/8 21/19
<b>her [13]</b> 1/5 3/6 3/14	91/24	94/17 96/14 99/1	55/4 77/17	22/9 22/15 22/17 23/4
37/11 37/13 47/19	<b>I ask [8]</b> 43/6 43/10	<b>I haven't [1]</b> 70/7	<b>I wasn't [3]</b> 59/15	23/18 23/20 24/2
63/17 74/19 74/20	49/24 52/9 85/2 87/12	<b>I imagine [5]</b> 4/11	77/13 78/6	24/10 25/5 25/7 25/23
75/3 75/6 98/6 98/13	87/14 90/14	19/10 37/25 57/11	<b>I went [1]</b> 49/5	27/13 28/6 28/15 30/1
<b>here [7]</b> 33/23 58/24	<b>I asked [1]</b> 87/13	58/4	<b>I will [2]</b> 6/3 95/17	30/7 30/12 32/15
65/13 78/21 86/10	<b>I believe [14]</b> 3/5	<b>I just [11]</b> 17/10	<b>I would [41]</b> 3/14 7/6	32/18 32/20 33/4
90/11 95/6	4/22 5/2 5/16 7/6 7/12	18/15 28/1 40/11 45/6	7/20 11/19 15/5 16/12	35/20 36/6 37/10 38/4
<b>herself [1]</b> 94/10	15/22 19/9 24/4 25/6	56/9 57/6 58/9 91/7	24/11 24/16 25/2 27/2	38/15 40/16 42/24
<b>him [39]</b> 4/16 5/23	28/18 53/9 57/16	96/5 98/3	32/12 35/25 36/8	44/3 44/14 44/19
5/24 6/6 6/7 7/4 7/6	95/24	<b>I knew [2]</b> 67/11 81/6	39/15 39/22 40/9	45/22 46/11 46/12
7/18 8/5 8/7 12/10	<b>I call [1]</b> 1/3	<b>I know [4]</b> 6/24 50/9	44/16 44/16 48/17	47/1 48/6 50/9 51/14
13/8 13/11 14/3 19/8	<b>I can [2]</b> 8/16 48/16	75/18 79/8	53/22 54/25 59/20	53/9 58/12 61/17
19/17 19/20 24/15	<b>I can't [32]</b> 7/8 7/12	<b>I may [1]</b> 62/9	62/22 65/9 66/15	61/21 61/23 64/10
25/14 25/23 27/13	11/11 14/19 15/1 15/5	<b>I mean [5]</b> 11/22 15/5	71/21 72/12 73/8 74/3	65/6 66/3 69/5 70/9
30/2 32/10 34/7 34/8	19/23 20/18 21/5 24/8	26/25 40/4 62/8	74/4 77/13 78/14	70/10 70/21 75/25
38/6 48/10 50/24	24/11 24/12 24/20	<b>I might [1]</b> 64/5	79/19 82/11 82/25	76/25 77/6 78/1 79/8
53/25 58/25 72/23	30/19 31/20 31/25	<b>I need [3]</b> 6/25 50/10	83/1 86/16 86/22	79/16 81/10 85/3 86/2
81/10 82/7 83/16	32/12 36/20 36/21	79/9	93/13 93/19 94/18	86/14 86/20 87/5
84/24 85/1 86/9 89/18	37/4 37/8 38/2 42/8	<b>I needed [2]</b> 3/13	<b>I wouldn't [7]</b> 13/5	87/16 88/16 88/23
90/4	47/14 52/8 52/18	39/13	31/2 31/3 31/3 47/23	89/9 89/10 89/15 91/6
<b>himself [4]</b> 8/25	56/25 59/3 63/24	<b>I only [4]</b> 6/23 50/8	48/9 71/20	91/15 91/21 91/23
47/17 81/4 90/4	67/11 93/6 96/7	79/7 97/5	<b>I'd [1]</b> 36/7	92/3 94/6 95/2 96/7
<b>hindsight [8]</b> 20/19	<b>I cannot [4]</b> 14/23	<b>I pause [1]</b> 54/2	<b>I'm [18]</b> 2/2 8/6 13/24	<b>incidents [14]</b> 15/10
21/1 35/18 35/21 36/4	20/11 24/22 42/12	<b>I possibly [1]</b> 19/21	14/4 21/17 24/13	20/9 20/10 30/18
44/15 77/5 85/3	<b>I confirm [1]</b> 69/16	<b>I probably [1]</b> 24/21	36/16 44/8 52/8 55/18	30/25 36/18 43/15
<b>his [21]</b> 4/7 5/22 16/3	<b>I considered [1]</b> 73/7	<b>I put [2]</b> 46/2 46/3	58/2 60/15 63/24	45/20 53/14 53/14
25/25 29/10 29/25	<b>I corrected [1]</b> 45/22	<b>I recall [1]</b> 40/22	66/10 76/6 81/17	53/20 59/11 83/25
34/6 38/12 38/12	<b>I could [1]</b> 78/13	<b>I received [1]</b> 61/12	95/10 98/25	95/4
38/17 42/13 48/8	<b>I could [2]</b> 46/9	<b>I recorded [5]</b> 16/23	<b>identified [5]</b> 52/20	<b>include [2]</b> 8/17
56/20 84/23 85/6	46/11	18/15 34/17 42/24	66/4 73/23 82/7 89/1	50/23
85/10 85/12 86/3 90/1	<b>I dealt [1]</b> 27/13	44/19	<b>identify [1]</b> 88/20	<b>included [1]</b> 97/18
90/3 95/9	<b>I declare [1]</b> 69/17	<b>I referred [1]</b> 21/8	<b>if [123]</b>	<b>includes [1]</b> 93/10
<b>history [4]</b> 56/17 74/1	<b>I did [5]</b> 7/3 7/6 15/22	<b>I reviewed [2]</b> 67/15	<b>ignore [1]</b> 96/12	<b>including [5]</b> 41/5
75/16 90/15	52/18 65/10	67/24	<b>ill [1]</b> 21/24	41/12 43/23 82/1
<b>holding [2]</b> 56/4 96/1	<b>I didn't [8]</b> 5/11 15/25	<b>I said [1]</b> 85/5	<b>illegal [1]</b> 10/3	92/19
<b>holiday [1]</b> 98/11	18/11 31/6 39/17	<b>I say [1]</b> 36/17	<b>imagine [6]</b> 4/11	<b>incorrect [1]</b> 90/2
<b>home [2]</b> 5/21 14/9	44/21 57/11 84/25	<b>I see [1]</b> 58/5	19/10 32/12 37/25	<b>increase [1]</b> 53/13
<b>honest [1]</b> 83/9	<b>I do [6]</b> 6/22 19/24	<b>I should [3]</b> 25/2 73/5	57/11 58/4	<b>increasing [1]</b> 53/15
<b>hours [13]</b> 3/25 4/17	27/20 47/22 50/7 79/6	74/12	<b>imately [1]</b> 50/6	<b>indeed [1]</b> 49/15
10/15 18/23 18/23	<b>I don't [38]</b> 3/5 5/8	<b>I spoke [2]</b> 25/6	<b>immediate [3]</b> 15/12	<b>independent [4]</b> 5/4
28/11 35/13 35/15	11/22 14/6 16/16	36/20	18/1 84/2	5/5 37/19 69/22
36/1 36/1 36/1 67/5	19/16 20/3 25/3 25/18	<b>I supervised [1]</b> 62/1	<b>immediately [2]</b> 9/6	<b>indicate [4]</b> 52/12
67/8	26/3 30/6 32/24 35/25	<b>I take [2]</b> 38/20 83/19	23/14	53/13 73/21 94/18
<b>how [31]</b> 3/3 4/19	38/19 39/22 39/23	<b>I then [1]</b> 87/18	<b>imminent [2]</b> 86/9	<b>individual [1]</b> 27/17
6/25 11/18 20/12	40/24 43/21 43/21	<b>I think [27]</b> 3/6 13/14	95/5	<b>individuals [2]</b> 8/19
36/23 40/20 41/17	47/23 68/8 73/7 73/12	26/9 45/14 48/21	<b>impact [3]</b> 47/10 48/5	48/20
43/25 43/25 45/8	74/10 80/6 81/5 81/18	49/10 49/12 53/17	88/16	<b>inform [2]</b> 8/10 38/6
50/10 54/6 58/10	83/8 84/19 85/3 87/6	56/11 56/12 57/23	<b>impacted [3]</b> 79/23	<b>information [42]</b> 5/19
58/22 59/17 59/20	90/13 90/25 93/14	58/25 71/19 77/13	89/9 89/11	6/8 7/17 7/19 7/22
61/22 70/14 72/12	93/15 94/21 98/20	80/6 81/11 86/25 87/3	<b>importance [1]</b> 45/16	15/25 17/17 21/6
77/13 78/4 79/9 80/4	98/22	91/18 91/25 93/24	<b>important [5]</b> 21/16	21/10 27/17 27/20
87/1 92/25 94/14	<b>I even [1]</b> 11/14	94/20 95/7 95/15	41/2 41/9 49/8 58/11	30/21 30/22 33/14
95/22 95/25 97/9	<b>I feel [2]</b> 21/14 85/21	96/13 98/20 99/5	<b>impressed [2]</b> 41/1	33/17 33/23 34/17
97/15	<b>I followed [1]</b> 58/23	<b>I thought [1]</b> 83/8	41/8	51/1 67/12 69/17
<b>however [6]</b> 13/2	<b>I give [1]</b> 26/25	<b>I took [4]</b> 29/14 30/19	<b>improve [1]</b> 97/2	71/10 71/11 76/15
14/1 16/24 19/10	<b>I had [7]</b> 12/15 12/17	31/14 42/8	<b>improved [2]</b> 54/12	76/16 77/7 77/21 78/5
20/23 35/21	27/21 30/21 39/12	<b>I understand [6]</b> 8/23	97/10	81/13 82/18 83/10
<b>huge [3]</b> 10/12 40/24	39/16 44/22	12/25 17/13 24/24	<b>inappropriate [1]</b>	83/14 84/8 85/18
48/23	<b>I hadn't [1]</b> 11/18	64/16 77/18	47/20	85/21 85/23 86/4
<b>I</b>	<b>I have [24]</b> 25/24	<b>I used [3]</b> 64/17	<b>incident [98]</b> 2/21	88/22 92/14 93/7
	27/9 28/2 30/8 33/8	64/25 64/25	2/25 4/10 4/13 6/24	93/25 95/10 97/20
<b>I agree [1]</b> 57/1	40/11 45/1 45/2 45/23	<b>I very [1]</b> 74/12	8/11 10/13 10/25	<b>informed [10]</b> 4/6
	45/23 47/23 55/1	<b>I want [1]</b> 38/3	13/23 14/5 14/6 14/12	8/23 9/13 16/22 33/9

<b>I</b>	62/9 64/6 64/8 64/18 66/19 76/4 76/25 78/18 78/20 92/16 <b>investigations [9]</b> 62/8 64/9 65/19 65/25 82/1 92/18 92/22 97/3 97/10 <b>involved [6]</b> 30/17 43/16 46/14 80/14 96/4 96/11 <b>involvement [9]</b> 2/1 3/24 27/10 44/10 47/6 48/3 60/16 73/10 80/7 <b>involves [1]</b> 62/19 <b>involving [2]</b> 30/25 52/21 <b>IP [9]</b> 13/3 13/6 26/14 26/14 34/2 37/16 37/19 42/22 50/21 <b>is [298]</b> <b>isn't [12]</b> 26/7 26/14 26/21 29/11 32/7 32/9 32/22 57/23 69/25 72/6 85/9 93/16 <b>issue [14]</b> 12/11 12/15 13/2 20/22 74/23 85/5 85/23 89/4 89/4 89/6 90/9 90/10 90/11 91/5 <b>issues [11]</b> 10/2 10/6 21/12 44/12 48/25 76/3 76/12 83/6 85/5 88/15 94/17 <b>it [278]</b> <b>it's [5]</b> 10/4 34/24 72/14 76/21 78/13 <b>item [1]</b> 45/3 <b>itself [1]</b> 61/21	95/23 <b>June [1]</b> 3/7 <b>June 2021 [1]</b> 3/7 <b>junior [1]</b> 27/1 <b>just [62]</b> 2/2 8/2 11/7 11/9 11/12 11/25 12/10 12/18 13/17 14/4 14/7 16/3 17/10 18/15 19/24 24/18 26/16 26/19 26/19 27/2 28/1 34/24 35/15 36/9 36/10 40/11 41/25 44/7 45/6 45/14 48/19 49/12 50/1 50/2 54/17 55/15 55/24 56/9 56/11 57/6 57/7 57/22 58/9 58/10 59/1 60/17 63/11 64/21 65/16 67/19 68/19 72/24 76/23 79/13 87/19 88/12 91/7 92/7 96/5 97/8 98/3 98/13	<b>learn [1]</b> 59/20 <b>learned [1]</b> 40/20 <b>learning [3]</b> 21/24 44/12 59/16 <b>leave [3]</b> 38/20 55/22 95/17 <b>leaving [1]</b> 98/5 <b>led [5]</b> 8/1 8/15 16/20 16/21 73/18 <b>left [4]</b> 2/13 38/14 81/1 99/3 <b>legal [1]</b> 87/22 <b>let [2]</b> 13/14 87/5 <b>Let's [2]</b> 52/19 92/12 <b>level [7]</b> 3/10 18/24 20/24 34/17 73/19 75/23 84/11 <b>life [2]</b> 86/10 95/5 <b>like [9]</b> 9/16 11/16 11/25 12/18 54/20 72/9 73/2 98/8 98/23 <b>likely [1]</b> 72/14 <b>limb [2]</b> 86/10 95/5 <b>limited [1]</b> 61/24 <b>line [3]</b> 10/20 23/21 70/8 <b>lines [8]</b> 35/10 35/18 66/20 69/10 69/17 69/21 71/3 97/12 <b>link [5]</b> 52/16 70/5 70/9 70/19 70/21 <b>linked [4]</b> 89/4 89/10 92/9 94/5 <b>list [2]</b> 81/17 92/4 <b>listed [1]</b> 65/21 <b>lists [1]</b> 69/25 <b>little [2]</b> 62/10 62/13 <b>live [1]</b> 80/12 <b>lived [6]</b> 8/19 31/1 42/19 79/21 80/3 93/1 <b>lives [1]</b> 14/9 <b>living [5]</b> 33/5 33/10 42/18 77/1 80/10 <b>local [3]</b> 15/16 18/8 84/6 <b>locate [2]</b> 28/12 58/6 <b>location [2]</b> 9/1 29/11 <b>locked [1]</b> 38/14 <b>locker [1]</b> 39/12 <b>log [32]</b> 10/13 15/4 15/4 23/18 24/10 24/10 27/13 28/6 28/15 30/7 30/8 30/10 32/15 32/16 32/18 32/20 32/23 33/2 35/3 67/19 68/1 69/9 69/12 70/21 78/15 81/21 86/12 86/16 86/22 88/23 91/21 91/23 <b>logs [2]</b> 67/15 67/24 <b>long [2]</b> 3/3 95/14 <b>look [35]</b> 6/20 9/2 9/21 11/16 14/7 23/19 26/11 26/12 28/6 35/3 46/24 52/9 52/15 53/14 55/8 56/11	56/15 56/23 56/24 57/7 65/15 70/1 70/25 80/23 88/12 89/15 89/20 90/6 90/14 90/17 91/11 91/13 91/20 92/6 93/12 <b>looked [15]</b> 28/15 31/2 31/3 37/14 40/2 40/5 53/1 53/19 59/1 72/8 85/13 85/16 85/19 85/24 92/2 <b>looking [12]</b> 10/20 14/2 19/19 20/19 28/22 29/1 36/6 52/10 59/9 65/9 75/20 81/22 <b>looks [2]</b> 54/20 72/9 <b>lot [4]</b> 45/1 45/2 49/6 93/12 <b>lots [1]</b> 18/21 <b>love [1]</b> 35/25 <b>low [8]</b> 18/24 18/24 20/24 34/16 34/16 73/19 73/20 75/23 <b>lunch [1]</b> 99/6
	<b>J</b>	<b>K</b>	<b>M</b>	
<b>informed... [5]</b> 34/4 38/12 44/11 57/3 69/10 <b>inhibit [1]</b> 88/7 <b>initial [2]</b> 60/21 91/22 <b>injured [1]</b> 16/22 <b>injuries [6]</b> 26/6 26/11 26/14 26/19 26/21 51/17 <b>injury [5]</b> 18/25 19/1 25/16 26/1 26/23 <b>inpatients [1]</b> 22/5 <b>input [2]</b> 37/2 97/19 <b>inputted [1]</b> 93/7 <b>inputting [1]</b> 93/25 <b>inquiries [3]</b> 24/5 25/1 75/17 <b>inquiry [13]</b> 1/24 5/9 9/14 13/21 19/4 32/22 38/10 43/9 66/20 67/7 69/21 83/19 97/12 <b>Inquiry's [1]</b> 1/5 <b>inside [2]</b> 23/22 24/7 <b>Inspector [2]</b> 43/9 47/18 <b>instance [4]</b> 34/24 93/16 94/16 96/18 <b>instances [1]</b> 80/13 <b>instruction [1]</b> 87/3 <b>insufficient [3]</b> 27/15 28/5 28/16 <b>intelligence [6]</b> 92/22 92/23 92/25 93/2 93/3 93/19 <b>intensity [1]</b> 63/25 <b>intent [1]</b> 87/4 <b>interactions [1]</b> 53/2 <b>interest [3]</b> 20/6 76/21 83/17 <b>internal [1]</b> 92/13 <b>interrogation [1]</b> 97/24 <b>intervene [1]</b> 73/20 <b>intervention [1]</b> 53/11 <b>interview [2]</b> 22/1 22/7 <b>interviewed [1]</b> 71/4 <b>into [15]</b> 3/9 11/22 15/11 31/3 38/12 40/3 40/5 45/5 66/25 70/17 84/1 84/19 88/13 90/1 95/9 <b>intranet [1]</b> 97/11 <b>intrusively [2]</b> 65/18 65/24 <b>investigate [3]</b> 21/19 31/8 93/15 <b>investigated [1]</b> 13/5 <b>investigating [1]</b> 22/15 <b>investigation [18]</b> 21/25 33/1 35/6 35/11 35/15 49/16 62/1 62/5	<b>job [32]</b> 3/13 4/11 11/22 13/2 17/2 17/8 18/15 18/16 19/11 20/23 20/24 26/16 26/17 30/15 30/23 34/2 34/16 34/17 34/18 34/24 35/1 35/23 36/2 40/4 42/5 42/24 44/19 44/22 45/20 47/10 53/4 59/6 <b>jobs [11]</b> 3/12 14/25 14/25 18/21 31/2 31/3 31/4 31/10 31/11 35/21 55/3 <b>jobs: [1]</b> 55/5 <b>jobs: at [1]</b> 55/5 <b>joined [3]</b> 2/5 60/19 60/22 <b>judge [2]</b> 26/9 26/17 <b>juice [1]</b> 99/2 <b>July [14]</b> 2/1 2/22 3/24 38/11 38/25 45/19 53/4 53/18 54/2 54/14 60/17 61/18 67/5 95/23 <b>July 2021 [2]</b> 54/14	<b>keep [2]</b> 11/1 82/8 <b>kind [4]</b> 51/25 63/25 76/8 83/6 <b>kinds [1]</b> 81/7 <b>kit [1]</b> 39/11 <b>kitchen [2]</b> 90/1 90/3 <b>knew [5]</b> 24/6 67/11 81/6 83/5 85/13 <b>knocking [1]</b> 38/13 <b>know [42]</b> 6/24 8/13 13/5 13/14 15/23 19/24 20/10 24/11 25/3 27/20 30/6 30/13 32/8 32/24 34/15 41/2 42/10 43/21 43/21 44/16 47/23 48/8 50/9 52/17 52/19 54/6 57/10 58/3 75/18 78/4 79/8 81/3 81/5 81/16 81/18 84/23 87/5 93/21 95/7 96/10 98/20 98/22 <b>knowing [4]</b> 24/17 24/25 41/16 74/8 <b>knowledge [2]</b> 1/22 60/13 <b>known [6]</b> 30/2 59/9 59/12 73/25 78/14 87/24	<b>ma'am [8]</b> 1/14 16/4 55/18 55/20 55/25 56/6 56/19 56/25 <b>Madam [1]</b> 98/1 <b>made [32]</b> 10/15 10/15 16/14 20/11 25/1 28/19 28/23 28/23 31/19 34/14 35/7 36/16 36/17 37/16 39/10 44/11 48/11 53/3 63/11 67/20 69/11 69/21 75/13 75/21 76/7 76/8 79/20 80/5 81/23 87/16 89/11 89/21 <b>main [2]</b> 70/15 70/19 <b>make [61]</b> 6/12 6/22 6/23 7/4 7/15 7/20 7/25 8/2 8/9 8/12 8/14 12/24 13/3 13/17 14/17 16/17 16/23 17/1 17/4 17/14 18/14 24/5 25/10 25/21 25/22 26/15 28/2 32/7 32/8 34/19 34/20 35/23 36/9 36/19 37/20 37/24 42/23 44/5 44/17 44/20 45/20 47/17 50/7 50/9 50/20 51/19 70/20 73/12 74/14 75/17 76/2 76/13 79/6 79/7 79/11 79/13 79/16 79/18 80/7 80/8 86/19 <b>makes [6]</b> 43/16 44/10 63/8 76/14 80/14 96/4 <b>making [4]</b> 4/7 17/6 37/17 79/22 <b>Male [1]</b> 28/9	
	<b>L</b>			
	<b>language [2]</b> 11/9 64/22 <b>laptop [3]</b> 39/12 39/16 39/17 <b>large [1]</b> 57/8 <b>last [6]</b> 10/20 17/13 23/21 38/3 45/1 87/13 <b>later [3]</b> 35/15 38/11 94/3 <b>law [3]</b> 23/8 60/24 69/2			

<p><b>M</b></p> <p><b>man [2]</b> 42/17 42/18</p> <p><b>manage [1]</b> 59/20</p> <p><b>managing [1]</b> 39/16</p> <p><b>many [5]</b> 4/19 34/13 59/18 95/22 95/25</p> <p><b>March [1]</b> 1/1</p> <p><b>marker [12]</b> 19/6 19/13 19/15 20/4 20/5 20/6 20/15 21/2 94/5 94/7 94/8 94/15</p> <p><b>markers [2]</b> 94/9 94/11</p> <p><b>marrying [1]</b> 48/6</p> <p><b>MASH [1]</b> 47/6</p> <p><b>mate [1]</b> 23/22</p> <p><b>matter [10]</b> 15/1 17/6 17/16 22/12 27/11 36/25 54/17 68/25 92/10 96/24</p> <p><b>matters [4]</b> 27/10 27/12 41/25 52/23</p> <p><b>may [18]</b> 1/8 3/18 11/8 15/10 20/21 36/16 36/21 43/6 55/23 56/1 60/3 62/9 71/8 72/20 75/14 83/25 84/9 84/11</p> <p><b>maybe [4]</b> 40/2 40/5 86/25 98/22</p> <p><b>me [32]</b> 3/22 5/18 8/23 9/13 10/17 11/10 11/18 21/6 34/18 39/16 42/16 42/21 45/1 45/4 50/7 51/2 52/6 52/21 62/22 64/3 64/7 65/1 68/19 68/20 69/10 71/13 71/13 71/21 72/4 74/4 74/15 93/19</p> <p><b>mean [14]</b> 7/22 11/22 15/5 16/21 26/25 40/4 62/7 62/8 64/14 64/17 73/17 75/7 85/6 86/2</p> <p><b>means [4]</b> 71/25 85/10 90/21 98/7</p> <p><b>meant [5]</b> 17/5 37/21 55/6 57/10 65/1</p> <p><b>mechanism [1]</b> 82/17</p> <p><b>mechanical [2]</b> 9/23 53/24</p> <p><b>meet [1]</b> 80/20</p> <p><b>meetings [1]</b> 49/7</p> <p><b>member [6]</b> 8/12 17/23 27/24 31/16 42/2 55/7</p> <p><b>members [1]</b> 31/21</p> <p><b>mental [74]</b> 9/12 9/16 9/20 10/2 10/7 10/9 11/21 12/9 12/12 12/14 12/21 13/9 13/12 13/16 13/21 13/25 14/1 14/12 14/21 14/25 15/24 17/25 18/7 18/19</p>	<p>20/22 21/3 21/7 21/11 21/15 21/19 21/23 22/3 36/7 36/14 36/17 40/20 40/23 41/5 41/12 41/18 42/19 46/24 47/2 47/3 47/12 47/18 48/25 49/8 53/22 53/25 59/11 75/24 76/1 76/3 76/12 77/7 82/18 83/6 83/21 85/4 85/6 85/8 85/10 85/12 85/14 85/23 86/3 86/8 86/13 89/21 89/25 90/10 94/8 94/24</p> <p><b>mentally [4]</b> 14/8 21/21 48/19 49/2</p> <p><b>mention [1]</b> 30/3</p> <p><b>message [4]</b> 38/15 38/16 38/18 40/6</p> <p><b>messed [1]</b> 38/11</p> <p><b>MH [1]</b> 22/3</p> <p><b>might [19]</b> 9/16 10/10 11/15 11/15 18/8 47/3 51/3 51/8 53/21 64/4 64/5 74/4 74/23 74/25 75/16 76/8 76/9 77/7 98/19</p> <p><b>MILLAR [10]</b> 1/12 43/7 43/24 45/15 47/16 60/6 87/19 89/16 100/4 100/11</p> <p><b>mind [7]</b> 20/5 43/22 46/22 65/13 70/23 83/4 95/13</p> <p><b>minimal [1]</b> 80/13</p> <p><b>minutes [2]</b> 17/11 95/16</p> <p><b>misleading [1]</b> 11/15</p> <p><b>mixed [3]</b> 10/19 46/1 86/18</p> <p><b>Mm [3]</b> 6/10 41/7 52/25</p> <p><b>mobile [8]</b> 38/8 39/7 39/17 39/24 39/24 98/6 98/6 98/8</p> <p><b>module [1]</b> 40/19</p> <p><b>Moloney [4]</b> 40/12 40/13 40/14 100/5</p> <p><b>moment [2]</b> 30/16 97/5</p> <p><b>monitored [1]</b> 39/25</p> <p><b>monitoring [1]</b> 39/9</p> <p><b>month [3]</b> 39/21 55/9 61/12</p> <p><b>months [9]</b> 2/23 3/5 3/9 11/22 15/5 33/11 48/17 63/4 63/7</p> <p><b>months' [1]</b> 9/5</p> <p><b>more [16]</b> 11/16 21/14 40/1 40/3 48/22 49/7 49/9 49/9 49/10 51/7 51/9 51/20 51/24 53/17 57/2 73/22</p> <p><b>morning [4]</b> 38/13 40/15 43/4 43/5</p>	<p><b>most [2]</b> 36/17 63/2</p> <p><b>Mostly [1]</b> 73/1</p> <p><b>move [3]</b> 17/20 52/13 88/12</p> <p><b>moved [1]</b> 61/1</p> <p><b>moving [10]</b> 8/24 9/4 9/6 15/8 27/4 33/9 36/23 50/15 50/25 79/25</p> <p><b>Mr [10]</b> 40/12 40/13 40/14 49/22 49/23 95/18 95/19 100/5 100/7 100/13</p> <p><b>Mr Beggs [6]</b> 49/22 49/23 95/18 95/19 100/7 100/13</p> <p><b>Mr Moloney [4]</b> 40/12 40/13 40/14 100/5</p> <p><b>MS [17]</b> 1/12 43/2 43/3 43/7 43/24 45/15 47/16 60/6 87/7 87/9 87/19 89/16 95/14 100/4 100/6 100/11 100/12</p> <p><b>Ms Cartwright [7]</b> 43/2 43/3 87/7 87/9 95/14 100/6 100/12</p> <p><b>MS MILLAR [10]</b> 1/12 43/7 43/24 45/15 47/16 60/6 87/19 89/16 100/4 100/11</p> <p><b>much [5]</b> 21/6 42/25 51/20 51/24 55/13</p> <p><b>mumbling [1]</b> 5/22</p> <p><b>must [2]</b> 21/24 78/20</p> <p><b>my [34]</b> 11/22 24/23 27/10 27/11 38/22 39/11 39/11 39/12 39/13 39/16 39/16 39/17 39/17 45/21 46/3 49/6 49/21 50/6 55/2 57/17 62/2 64/7 71/25 71/25 76/21 78/2 78/2 83/9 86/2 88/25 89/13 93/6 93/7 95/24</p> <p><b>my role [1]</b> 62/2</p> <p><b>myself [2]</b> 4/11 93/16</p>	<p>91/9 91/18</p> <p><b>NCRS's [1]</b> 46/14</p> <p><b>nd [1]</b> 50/6</p> <p><b>necessarily [11]</b> 3/21 3/22 5/17 12/15 13/15 31/25 32/19 45/4 74/19 80/12 86/1</p> <p><b>necessary [5]</b> 8/10 65/20 74/6 74/21 75/5</p> <p><b>need [21]</b> 6/25 15/13 20/10 21/14 30/22 31/24 32/9 50/10 51/14 56/1 73/1 73/4 76/13 76/18 79/9 82/5 84/3 85/1 93/24 94/19 97/5</p> <p><b>needed [13]</b> 3/13 19/21 19/22 37/22 39/13 55/3 57/20 77/18 77/22 82/13 90/11 91/14 98/9</p> <p><b>needing [1]</b> 32/8</p> <p><b>needs [3]</b> 90/5 92/15 97/12</p> <p><b>neither [1]</b> 28/23</p> <p><b>never [2]</b> 26/24 80/21</p> <p><b>nevertheless [2]</b> 15/13 84/3</p> <p><b>next [7]</b> 5/18 23/19 38/23 52/13 62/22 63/8 89/20</p> <p><b>NGPF0000043 [7]</b> 35/4 46/18 69/13 78/16 81/22 88/12 92/13</p> <p><b>NGPF0000044 [6]</b> 10/14 23/19 28/6 45/5 57/7 90/15</p> <p><b>NGPF0000045 [4]</b> 6/16 9/3 49/24 79/4</p> <p><b>NGPF0006002 [4]</b> 13/19 17/21 21/20 83/19</p> <p><b>NGPF0006050 [1]</b> 22/20</p> <p><b>NGPF0010698 [1]</b> 65/2</p> <p><b>NGPF0010699 [1]</b> 66/11</p> <p><b>NHS [5]</b> 9/11 12/15 18/5 54/3 89/24</p> <p><b>nice [1]</b> 56/8</p> <p><b>NICHE [30]</b> 27/14 27/16 27/16 28/12 28/17 29/2 29/15 29/21 30/5 30/9 30/16 42/7 42/11 42/15 52/3 52/15 57/6 57/13 58/7 59/9 59/18 64/8 67/17 70/17 74/2 89/14 93/13 93/21 94/10 97/19</p> <p><b>no [128]</b></p> <p><b>nobody [1]</b> 43/19</p> <p><b>nominal [2]</b> 70/15 88/24</p>	<p><b>nominals [1]</b> 89/5</p> <p><b>non [5]</b> 13/2 15/23 17/9 18/25 19/12</p> <p><b>non-complaint [1]</b> 18/25</p> <p><b>none [2]</b> 15/8 28/22</p> <p><b>nonurgent [1]</b> 15/9</p> <p><b>normally [5]</b> 20/9 53/16 72/12 80/12 86/9</p> <p><b>not [140]</b></p> <p><b>note [4]</b> 10/21 67/13 68/4 69/8</p> <p><b>notebook [6]</b> 8/3 16/25 19/2 37/21 50/2 50/24</p> <p><b>notebooks [1]</b> 50/21</p> <p><b>notes [8]</b> 6/21 21/8 21/22 23/3 23/21 27/8 79/5 83/24</p> <p><b>nothing [3]</b> 8/15 33/11 62/10</p> <p><b>Notice [1]</b> 15/17</p> <p><b>notices [1]</b> 96/20</p> <p><b>notifiable [1]</b> 23/4</p> <p><b>notifying [1]</b> 76/10</p> <p><b>Nottingham [3]</b> 33/15 34/22 44/6</p> <p><b>Nottinghamshire [11]</b> 2/5 2/11 2/14 4/1 22/21 33/15 33/19 42/2 53/2 60/19 96/25</p> <p><b>Nottinghamshire's [1]</b> 97/10</p> <p><b>notwithstanding [1]</b> 43/18</p> <p><b>November [1]</b> 60/24</p> <p><b>now [30]</b> 11/14 11/19 12/4 15/5 24/11 25/2 27/2 42/16 44/1 47/16 47/22 48/18 51/22 52/2 52/7 53/1 53/17 54/8 59/23 75/18 77/17 78/2 81/2 83/9 89/2 90/15 93/21 95/7 97/11 98/7</p> <p><b>number [9]</b> 38/8 39/7 39/10 43/16 50/16 52/2 56/14 57/23 58/1</p> <p><b>numbers [2]</b> 28/22 98/8</p> <p><b>nurse [3]</b> 36/12 40/23 84/14</p> <p><b>nurses [10]</b> 9/12 10/25 12/9 12/12 12/22 46/24 47/18 86/14 86/19 89/25</p>
<b>O</b>				
<p><b>o'clock [1]</b> 38/13</p> <p><b>obtain [1]</b> 84/21</p> <p><b>obtained [2]</b> 25/4 84/7</p> <p><b>obvious [2]</b> 85/4 85/22</p> <p><b>obviously [4]</b> 46/19</p>				

<p><b>O</b></p> <p><b>obviously... [3]</b> 72/1 91/7 94/6</p> <p><b>occur [1]</b> 21/13</p> <p><b>occurred [10]</b> 11/18 13/15 18/16 19/3 20/8 23/11 44/14 69/3 89/18 90/9</p> <p><b>occurrence [30]</b> 15/4 24/10 30/7 32/16 32/21 32/23 33/2 35/3 43/25 61/24 62/3 62/4 62/13 62/15 62/19 63/11 67/15 67/17 67/19 67/24 67/25 69/9 69/12 70/21 71/1 78/15 81/21 86/11 88/24 88/25</p> <p><b>Occurrence Log [2]</b> 70/21 78/15</p> <p><b>occurrences [1]</b> 70/17</p> <p><b>occurring [2]</b> 16/24 24/22</p> <p><b>occurs [2]</b> 8/9 8/11</p> <p><b>October [4]</b> 1/18 2/7 60/9 61/8</p> <p><b>October 2020 [1]</b> 2/7</p> <p><b>October 2021 [1]</b> 61/8</p> <p><b>OEL [5]</b> 70/8 71/20 78/21 92/4 93/6</p> <p><b>OELs [2]</b> 62/22 67/15</p> <p><b>off [4]</b> 38/16 44/14 92/1 98/5</p> <p><b>offence [16]</b> 21/25 23/5 31/8 33/21 71/5 72/5 73/19 75/23 76/4 81/24 85/7 90/19 90/20 91/1 91/3 91/9</p> <p><b>offences [7]</b> 29/25 36/18 57/10 57/12 75/25 85/8 97/14</p> <p><b>offending [1]</b> 74/1</p> <p><b>office [2]</b> 56/3 98/23</p> <p><b>officer [48]</b> 2/10 5/12 5/13 11/8 17/23 22/14 38/20 40/1 40/22 40/24 42/7 42/25 43/4 43/6 43/19 48/21 50/1 51/11 51/20 54/3 55/7 55/16 56/4 62/21 62/25 68/9 68/15 74/6 78/13 78/24 87/3 87/10 87/14 88/7 88/20 90/16 90/18 91/10 91/22 93/15 93/22 94/6 94/10 94/11 94/12 94/15 95/8 99/5</p> <p><b>officer's [1]</b> 69/9</p> <p><b>officers [24]</b> 4/4 10/22 11/4 11/9 11/13 15/10 18/5 21/10 24/2 24/5 24/17 31/23</p>	<p>49/11 49/17 65/19 71/17 83/25 84/11 86/17 86/18 87/21 93/17 94/2 98/7</p> <p><b>officers' [1]</b> 48/24</p> <p><b>often [2]</b> 62/20 94/9</p> <p><b>OIC [5]</b> 4/12 22/11 22/14 32/25 35/6</p> <p><b>Okay [1]</b> 2/4</p> <p><b>old [3]</b> 28/9 64/16 64/22</p> <p><b>on [145]</b></p> <p><b>on NICHE [1]</b> 29/15</p> <p><b>once [2]</b> 30/20 52/11</p> <p><b>one [29]</b> 4/22 5/12 11/8 11/16 12/8 13/9 47/4 51/7 52/23 53/10 54/17 59/6 59/7 61/12 62/20 62/20 62/21 62/21 71/2 71/23 72/4 72/10 74/24 75/1 76/18 84/14 86/13 87/16 88/15</p> <p><b>one-day [1]</b> 61/12</p> <p><b>ongoing [2]</b> 65/19 65/24</p> <p><b>only [15]</b> 5/12 6/23 9/25 21/25 48/16 48/16 50/8 55/1 59/6 59/16 62/13 76/20 79/7 95/4 97/5</p> <p><b>onto [6]</b> 32/18 32/19 40/1 57/2 97/19 98/10</p> <p><b>onus [2]</b> 12/22 13/11</p> <p><b>onward [1]</b> 76/8</p> <p><b>open [1]</b> 18/6</p> <p><b>operate [2]</b> 39/15 59/17</p> <p><b>operated [1]</b> 44/6</p> <p><b>operating [2]</b> 54/23 59/6</p> <p><b>operation [1]</b> 96/24</p> <p><b>operator [3]</b> 52/13 58/4 58/6</p> <p><b>opinion [1]</b> 76/21</p> <p><b>option [1]</b> 14/11</p> <p><b>options [4]</b> 18/8 18/9 19/19 20/2</p> <p><b>or [98]</b> 4/22 6/23 7/24 9/17 11/24 12/16 14/9 14/24 15/2 15/4 15/10 15/12 15/13 17/23 18/7 18/22 20/9 21/5 21/10 21/24 22/1 24/10 25/16 26/1 26/7 26/12 27/19 29/15 30/7 32/8 32/15 33/20 36/18 36/20 36/21 37/7 40/7 41/21 42/10 42/23 44/12 44/12 50/8 51/19 52/7 52/17 53/15 56/3 57/13 57/17 57/19 62/13 62/21 64/2 64/20 66/5 66/25 67/11 67/16 68/6 68/12 68/22</p>	<p>69/22 71/4 73/7 73/22 74/2 74/24 75/14 76/9 78/21 78/21 79/7 80/4 80/13 81/9 82/11 83/25 84/2 84/3 84/10 84/13 84/16 84/16 84/23 85/1 85/13 86/10 89/1 93/16 93/16 94/1 94/13 94/22 95/5 98/11 98/16 98/21</p> <p><b>order [2]</b> 16/1 16/7</p> <p><b>orders [1]</b> 96/20</p> <p><b>original [1]</b> 58/5</p> <p><b>originally [1]</b> 90/18</p> <p><b>other [26]</b> 15/24 17/6 18/8 20/9 21/7 31/20 31/23 35/18 44/21 47/24 67/16 68/6 70/17 71/2 71/24 72/4 72/10 73/23 74/24 76/10 76/20 80/23 81/1 81/7 84/8 94/2</p> <p><b>others [3]</b> 15/12 84/2 93/1</p> <p><b>ought [1]</b> 54/11</p> <p><b>our [7]</b> 18/21 29/24 49/10 50/21 57/2 73/9 97/11</p> <p><b>out [21]</b> 5/22 8/24 9/4 9/6 9/21 27/14 33/9 47/7 55/24 56/3 56/14 63/15 64/20 72/21 72/24 73/6 80/13 85/16 95/3 98/23 99/2</p> <p><b>outcome [13]</b> 64/17 64/19 64/25 65/3 66/3 66/18 66/23 66/24 69/19 75/10 92/15 97/19 97/22</p> <p><b>outcomes [4]</b> 65/21 66/2 66/12 92/5</p> <p><b>Outpatient [1]</b> 22/4</p> <p><b>outstanding [2]</b> 27/9 27/12</p> <p><b>over [9]</b> 22/2 23/9 53/9 61/12 74/20 88/13 88/24 91/1 92/16</p> <p><b>overall [3]</b> 22/14 74/19 75/3</p> <p><b>overdoses [1]</b> 10/6</p> <p><b>override [2]</b> 84/10 84/17</p> <p><b>oversight [1]</b> 88/11</p> <p><b>own [5]</b> 41/10 41/17 41/21 44/9 46/22</p> <p><b>Ozan [1]</b> 28/9</p>	<p>56/12 57/7 57/22 57/22 65/15 66/9 69/13 70/1 70/15 70/19 70/25 78/16 79/4 81/22 83/23 88/13 88/14 88/14 90/15 91/2 92/13 92/16 97/11 97/18 100/2</p> <p><b>page 10 [4]</b> 22/25 69/13 78/16 81/22</p> <p><b>page 13 [2]</b> 14/7 83/23</p> <p><b>page 14 [1]</b> 17/21</p> <p><b>page 19 [1]</b> 21/20</p> <p><b>page 21 [1]</b> 22/2</p> <p><b>page 3 [3]</b> 28/7 57/22 65/15</p> <p><b>page 4 [1]</b> 66/9</p> <p><b>page 5 [5]</b> 10/14 27/7 29/5 57/7 90/15</p> <p><b>page 6 [2]</b> 45/6 88/13</p> <p><b>page 7 [1]</b> 88/14</p> <p><b>page 8 [4]</b> 35/4 46/18 56/12 92/13</p> <p><b>Pannell [19]</b> 1/3 1/9 1/11 1/16 40/10 40/15 40/15 63/11 63/19 64/11 67/7 67/20 68/12 69/15 71/16 74/8 79/1 98/4 100/3</p> <p><b>paperwork [2]</b> 45/1 45/3</p> <p><b>paragraph [25]</b> 4/3 5/21 6/11 9/19 14/10 22/4 27/7 27/8 28/1 29/13 31/13 36/24 52/9 52/11 56/12 57/8 59/1 65/16 67/13 68/24 69/8 73/24 77/4 82/16 83/24</p> <p><b>paragraph 10 [1]</b> 4/3</p> <p><b>paragraph 12 [1]</b> 5/21</p> <p><b>paragraph 16 [1]</b> 67/13</p> <p><b>paragraph 17 [1]</b> 36/24</p> <p><b>paragraph 20 [1]</b> 73/24</p> <p><b>paragraph 21 [4]</b> 27/7 27/8 52/9 52/11</p> <p><b>paragraph 3.2.2 [1]</b> 83/24</p> <p><b>paragraph 30 [1]</b> 68/24</p> <p><b>paragraph 31 [1]</b> 56/12</p> <p><b>paragraph 34 [1]</b> 77/4</p> <p><b>paragraph 35 [1]</b> 82/16</p> <p><b>paragraph 6 [1]</b> 9/19</p> <p><b>parameters [2]</b> 92/14 92/19</p> <p><b>pardon [3]</b> 17/12</p>	<p>60/21 77/15</p> <p><b>part [10]</b> 50/19 52/16 68/19 92/11 92/18 93/4 93/10 93/12 95/11 97/13</p> <p><b>particular [16]</b> 5/18 12/11 12/16 14/2 14/4 15/7 20/7 24/12 26/10 30/20 32/10 34/24 42/5 59/16 75/11 96/7</p> <p><b>particularly [4]</b> 8/13 24/6 45/24 46/21</p> <p><b>parties [1]</b> 30/23</p> <p><b>partner [2]</b> 3/12 13/24</p> <p><b>partnered [2]</b> 5/2 5/16</p> <p><b>parts [1]</b> 66/16</p> <p><b>party [3]</b> 16/22 30/2 94/14</p> <p><b>passed [5]</b> 15/15 60/24 84/5 84/8 98/10</p> <p><b>past [1]</b> 37/6</p> <p><b>pathways [2]</b> 49/13 49/15</p> <p><b>pattern [4]</b> 53/12 53/14 58/11 59/10</p> <p><b>patterns [1]</b> 58/10</p> <p><b>pause [2]</b> 54/2 66/10</p> <p><b>PC [36]</b> 1/3 1/8 1/11 1/16 3/1 3/3 3/6 3/11 3/15 4/25 5/14 11/10 20/2 37/2 37/6 40/10 40/15 40/15 63/11 63/19 63/20 64/11 67/7 67/20 68/12 68/12 69/15 71/16 74/8 74/16 75/4 75/7 75/8 79/1 98/4 100/3</p> <p><b>PC Amy [3]</b> 1/8 1/11 100/3</p> <p><b>PC Pannell [14]</b> 1/3 1/16 40/15 40/15 63/11 64/11 67/7 67/20 68/12 69/15 71/16 74/8 79/1 98/4</p> <p><b>PC Wakefield [16]</b> 3/1 3/6 3/11 3/15 4/25 5/14 11/10 20/2 37/2 37/6 63/20 68/12 74/16 75/4 75/7 75/8</p> <p><b>PCGA [1]</b> 38/19</p> <p><b>pending [1]</b> 80/25</p> <p><b>people [24]</b> 4/19 6/3 9/20 9/22 10/5 11/20 12/13 12/16 21/11 31/1 32/13 36/8 39/20 40/20 41/5 41/12 41/17 42/18 55/23 56/1 80/11 85/8 96/8 98/8</p> <p><b>per [1]</b> 17/2</p> <p><b>perform [1]</b> 93/23</p> <p><b>performed [1]</b> 48/12</p> <p><b>perhaps [6]</b> 15/9 45/14 46/18 58/15</p>
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<p><b>P</b></p> <p><b>perhaps...</b> [2] 91/2 98/9</p> <p><b>period</b> [4] 38/21 43/7 49/5 61/12</p> <p><b>permanently</b> [1] 46/2</p> <p><b>permission</b> [5] 16/6 16/11 16/12 76/19 77/23</p> <p><b>Perpetrator</b> [1] 50/5</p> <p><b>person</b> [19] 8/7 8/10 8/18 11/16 15/14 17/24 17/24 18/5 27/18 29/14 30/14 32/7 49/6 70/16 79/21 84/4 84/7 84/12 88/8</p> <p><b>person's</b> [2] 18/2 74/24</p> <p><b>personal</b> [2] 4/6 24/1</p> <p><b>personally</b> [2] 4/9 30/4</p> <p><b>persons</b> [8] 4/22 13/20 14/9 15/11 22/6 30/15 83/21 84/1</p> <p><b>perspective</b> [1] 97/9</p> <p><b>phone</b> [11] 39/11 39/19 55/22 56/2 98/6 98/6 98/8 98/13 98/21 98/24 99/3</p> <p><b>physically</b> [5] 3/18 3/19 4/7 5/6 62/25</p> <p><b>picked</b> [1] 89/6</p> <p><b>picking</b> [1] 55/15</p> <p><b>pinpoint</b> [1] 45/2</p> <p><b>place</b> [6] 3/19 13/4 65/5 82/17 92/18 96/14</p> <p><b>plan</b> [1] 97/12</p> <p><b>plans</b> [1] 65/20</p> <p><b>please</b> [45] 1/8 6/16 9/3 10/13 13/19 14/7 17/20 22/3 22/20 22/25 23/3 23/9 23/18 23/19 27/6 27/7 28/7 29/6 33/13 33/13 35/3 42/16 45/6 49/25 50/2 51/3 53/11 60/3 60/7 65/2 65/15 66/9 66/11 67/3 69/13 78/15 79/3 81/21 83/19 83/23 88/12 88/13 89/20 90/14 92/16</p> <p><b>plural</b> [4] 11/4 11/13 11/17 67/25</p> <p><b>pm</b> [3] 35/14 99/6 99/8</p> <p><b>PNB</b> [1] 78/24</p> <p><b>PNC</b> [11] 32/5 32/13 32/18 56/24 74/2 93/13 93/21 93/22 93/23 94/7 94/9</p> <p><b>pocket</b> [11] 6/14 6/17 8/3 9/2 16/25 19/2 33/8 37/21 50/21 50/24 78/25</p>	<p><b>POI</b> [1] 21/2</p> <p><b>point</b> [20] 3/4 3/23 4/5 10/1 10/10 13/7 20/6 26/19 29/18 37/7 44/13 55/15 63/5 76/23 78/18 80/6 83/2 84/25 86/2 97/12</p> <p><b>pointed</b> [1] 81/8</p> <p><b>police</b> [65] 2/5 2/6 2/9 2/10 2/11 2/14 2/17 4/1 4/7 4/15 4/20 6/24 6/24 7/10 8/11 11/9 12/23 17/4 18/14 20/10 21/16 22/21 25/15 27/18 27/22 29/24 32/3 33/15 34/15 38/16 38/20 39/17 40/24 50/9 50/10 51/6 53/2 53/16 55/4 55/7 56/16 56/18 57/4 60/19 66/6 67/1 79/8 79/8 79/16 79/18 79/22 80/7 80/8 81/8 81/12 82/18 84/17 86/8 87/21 87/23 94/11 94/12 96/4 96/11 96/25</p> <p><b>policies</b> [11] 14/1 41/2 41/9 42/1 42/4 43/17 44/5 49/3 66/17 73/21 96/14</p> <p><b>policing</b> [5] 39/15 49/10 55/1 55/5 60/22</p> <p><b>policy</b> [25] 11/24 13/23 14/4 17/2 17/20 21/20 22/21 41/17 41/21 45/15 48/19 49/2 49/3 49/17 50/19 65/5 65/7 65/10 66/9 66/11 66/15 77/18 77/20 78/6 88/7</p> <p><b>portal</b> [1] 97/18</p> <p><b>portion</b> [1] 48/24</p> <p><b>position</b> [1] 94/20</p> <p><b>positive</b> [2] 64/19 96/15</p> <p><b>positively</b> [1] 13/8</p> <p><b>possibilities</b> [1] 87/1</p> <p><b>possibility</b> [1] 88/5</p> <p><b>possible</b> [4] 65/21 66/2 91/20 98/22</p> <p><b>possibly</b> [8] 3/22 15/5 19/19 19/21 21/2 37/8 53/25 55/18</p> <p><b>post</b> [1] 2/13</p> <p><b>posted</b> [1] 2/16</p> <p><b>potential</b> [5] 12/8 12/23 26/5 80/3 86/24</p> <p><b>potentially</b> [10] 7/10 7/16 8/10 12/10 12/20 14/20 18/19 51/4 68/22 83/7</p> <p><b>PPN</b> [21] 15/16 15/17 15/20 16/1 16/6 16/7 16/9 16/13 16/19 82/2 82/6 82/13 82/23 83/3</p>	<p>83/4 83/10 83/12 84/6 84/15 85/1 92/20</p> <p><b>practicable</b> [2] 84/9 84/16</p> <p><b>practice</b> [2] 31/22 37/5</p> <p><b>preclude</b> [2] 21/24 76/3</p> <p><b>premises</b> [1] 17/24</p> <p><b>present</b> [8] 4/25 5/14 5/17 62/25 63/17 63/20 71/18 95/3</p> <p><b>presented</b> [6] 37/2 37/11 74/4 74/14 74/18 80/1</p> <p><b>presenting</b> [2] 15/11 84/1</p> <p><b>press</b> [2] 42/23 45/24</p> <p><b>pressure</b> [1] 40/4</p> <p><b>pressures</b> [1] 36/2</p> <p><b>presumption</b> [1] 22/6</p> <p><b>prevent</b> [2] 22/1 66/4</p> <p><b>prevented</b> [1] 77/11</p> <p><b>previous</b> [17] 27/18 29/25 30/17 30/24 31/2 46/3 52/20 53/1 53/9 53/19 56/17 59/10 59/13 70/9 74/1 75/18 75/23</p> <p><b>previously</b> [3] 11/20 75/25 76/12</p> <p><b>Price</b> [8] 36/25 37/3 37/10 37/23 60/4 60/5 87/6 100/10</p> <p><b>principles</b> [2] 23/1 87/20</p> <p><b>prior</b> [4] 2/9 53/10 85/5 96/8</p> <p><b>priority</b> [1] 88/9</p> <p><b>private</b> [1] 17/24</p> <p><b>probabilities</b> [1] 23/6</p> <p><b>probably</b> [7] 24/21 27/1 37/25 63/17 66/15 87/4 99/2</p> <p><b>probation</b> [3] 3/9 91/10 94/6</p> <p><b>probationary</b> [7] 48/21 49/1 63/13 64/2 88/19 90/16 93/22</p> <p><b>probationer</b> [4] 2/17 2/22 68/10 74/8</p> <p><b>problem</b> [2] 12/7 12/22</p> <p><b>problematic</b> [1] 49/9</p> <p><b>problems</b> [5] 9/21 40/21 41/13 41/18 42/19</p> <p><b>procedural</b> [2] 13/20 65/3</p> <p><b>procedure</b> [9] 8/3 19/22 38/7 41/21 43/18 44/13 44/18 50/19 66/12</p> <p><b>procedures</b> [10] 13/21 41/2 41/9 42/1 42/4 44/5 49/4 83/22</p>	<p>90/17 91/16</p> <p><b>proceed</b> [1] 52/19</p> <p><b>process</b> [9] 7/21 8/2 19/1 30/1 52/16 58/23 89/4 92/19 93/4</p> <p><b>processes</b> [1] 91/16</p> <p><b>professional</b> [3] 2/3 36/15 60/18</p> <p><b>professionals</b> [5] 11/21 13/10 13/12 13/16 14/22</p> <p><b>programme</b> [1] 2/6</p> <p><b>promoted</b> [1] 61/8</p> <p><b>promotion</b> [1] 61/10</p> <p><b>prompted</b> [1] 75/16</p> <p><b>proper</b> [4] 49/18 91/16 91/19 92/2</p> <p><b>properly</b> [1] 46/6</p> <p><b>property</b> [4] 8/24 12/13 12/17 71/17</p> <p><b>proportionate</b> [4] 66/20 69/16 74/6 74/21</p> <p><b>propose</b> [1] 53/20</p> <p><b>prosecute</b> [2] 72/19 73/2</p> <p><b>prosecuted</b> [2] 26/20 26/24</p> <p><b>prosecution</b> [3] 73/5 76/4 88/6</p> <p><b>protect</b> [1] 87/23</p> <p><b>protection</b> [3] 15/17 92/24 96/19</p> <p><b>provide</b> [7] 12/3 29/8 65/20 76/15 77/25 79/10 79/17</p> <p><b>provided</b> [10] 3/10 5/19 6/8 7/18 11/20 21/10 21/18 28/13 62/3 92/15</p> <p><b>providing</b> [1] 11/12</p> <p><b>proximity</b> [2] 31/1 93/1</p> <p><b>PS</b> [3] 60/3 60/5 100/10</p> <p><b>PS ZOXY</b> [2] 60/5 100/10</p> <p><b>psychiatric</b> [2] 36/12 84/14</p> <p><b>public</b> [13] 4/16 4/20 5/13 8/12 15/17 48/25 55/7 76/21 83/17 85/16 87/24 88/3 92/24</p> <p><b>pulled</b> [1] 57/18</p> <p><b>purpose</b> [2] 1/24 88/5</p> <p><b>purposes</b> [4] 1/7 1/20 60/11 60/15</p> <p><b>pushed</b> [3] 5/23 50/7 57/19</p> <p><b>put</b> [17] 13/11 16/13 19/6 19/13 19/14 20/6 20/15 40/1 46/1 46/2 46/3 48/16 49/24 55/16 78/23 80/18</p>	<p>94/11</p> <p><b>putting</b> [1] 12/22</p> <hr/> <p><b>Q</b></p> <p><b>quality</b> [1] 97/2</p> <p><b>quantity</b> [1] 31/11</p> <p><b>question</b> [8] 17/13 24/23 34/21 44/7 52/6 81/23 90/25 99/1</p> <p><b>Questioned</b> [18] 1/12 40/14 43/3 49/23 55/14 60/6 87/9 95/19 98/2 100/4 100/5 100/6 100/7 100/8 100/11 100/12 100/13 100/14</p> <p><b>questions</b> [15] 1/25 2/2 40/10 40/12 47/16 49/21 52/4 60/16 61/22 63/9 64/5 87/7 87/8 87/13 97/20</p> <p><b>quick</b> [3] 26/18 53/12 95/21</p> <p><b>quickly</b> [3] 30/13 62/2 99/2</p> <p><b>quite</b> [3] 59/19 95/14 99/2</p> <hr/> <p><b>R</b></p> <p><b>Radford</b> [5] 2/17 4/15 27/22 60/22 61/2</p> <p><b>radio</b> [2] 4/6 24/1</p> <p><b>raise</b> [1] 95/18</p> <p><b>raised</b> [1] 91/5</p> <p><b>raises</b> [1] 90/8</p> <p><b>rarely</b> [1] 21/25</p> <p><b>rather</b> [3] 11/17 12/23 87/3</p> <p><b>Rationale</b> [1] 70/25</p> <p><b>re</b> [2] 44/12 93/15</p> <p><b>re-investigate</b> [1] 93/15</p> <p><b>re-training</b> [1] 44/12</p> <p><b>reach</b> [1] 86/5</p> <p><b>read</b> [5] 31/4 45/2 50/1 52/12 67/18</p> <p><b>reading</b> [3] 14/6 27/13 52/11</p> <p><b>real</b> [2] 45/7 93/9</p> <p><b>realised</b> [1] 38/14</p> <p><b>realistic</b> [2] 51/24 51/25</p> <p><b>really</b> [8] 8/16 21/16 34/21 42/7 46/25 65/1 91/14 91/15</p> <p><b>reason</b> [12] 19/10 25/9 32/10 40/6 41/16 41/20 78/20 79/11 79/15 79/17 85/9 91/18</p> <p><b>reasonable</b> [4] 69/10 69/21 87/23 92/4</p> <p><b>reasoning</b> [1] 68/19</p> <p><b>reasonings</b> [1] 66/25</p> <p><b>reasons</b> [2] 75/22 76/18</p>
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<p><b>R</b></p> <p><b>reassure [1]</b> 81/9</p> <p><b>recall [26]</b> 3/5 5/8 9/17 10/4 11/23 14/6 14/19 14/23 19/16 19/23 20/3 21/6 25/18 26/3 26/4 31/20 31/25 39/22 40/22 40/24 42/8 45/12 52/3 62/14 73/25 83/8</p> <p><b>received [5]</b> 3/25 10/1 61/4 61/10 61/12</p> <p><b>receiving [3]</b> 21/7 38/17 39/22</p> <p><b>reception [1]</b> 27/22</p> <p><b>recollection [1]</b> 5/6</p> <p><b>record [15]</b> 19/2 44/1 48/4 48/9 48/17 58/16 58/22 64/24 68/15 68/16 68/22 88/16 88/21 89/12 97/19</p> <p><b>recorded [41]</b> 6/13 15/3 16/23 18/15 22/17 23/4 23/15 24/9 24/21 29/24 30/10 30/15 32/15 32/21 32/22 33/2 34/3 34/17 42/24 43/25 44/19 45/21 45/23 48/2 48/14 48/15 50/21 50/22 51/8 57/1 58/13 58/20 66/3 66/12 68/14 69/1 69/5 89/13 90/18 91/23 93/2</p> <p><b>recording [6]</b> 23/2 45/17 78/18 90/21 91/4 91/19</p> <p><b>recordings [1]</b> 92/6</p> <p><b>records [1]</b> 52/16</p> <p><b>recurring [1]</b> 48/5</p> <p><b>redacted [2]</b> 15/25 16/1</p> <p><b>reference [6]</b> 15/17 42/1 70/6 78/25 88/17 89/21</p> <p><b>referenced [2]</b> 43/8 43/24</p> <p><b>references [2]</b> 47/4 48/1</p> <p><b>referencing [1]</b> 89/23</p> <p><b>referral [1]</b> 47/6</p> <p><b>referrals [1]</b> 76/9</p> <p><b>referred [4]</b> 21/8 22/22 29/7 65/4</p> <p><b>referring [4]</b> 11/5 20/4 28/14 77/20</p> <p><b>refers [1]</b> 11/4</p> <p><b>reflect [1]</b> 31/22</p> <p><b>Reflecting [1]</b> 52/6</p> <p><b>regard [1]</b> 96/21</p> <p><b>regarding [1]</b> 71/5</p> <p><b>Regardless [1]</b> 88/5</p> <p><b>regular [1]</b> 10/7</p> <p><b>regularly [3]</b> 14/24 63/6 89/24</p>	<p><b>relate [1]</b> 84/11</p> <p><b>related [11]</b> 9/16 12/14 14/1 14/25 15/24 20/9 36/17 47/2 47/3 59/11 86/3</p> <p><b>relating [1]</b> 92/3</p> <p><b>relation [39]</b> 4/9 4/13 9/20 10/1 10/5 13/25 16/18 20/20 21/2 21/6 22/11 25/7 25/22 27/5 28/4 33/17 35/19 36/8 36/10 40/25 50/19 53/23 53/25 57/15 57/21 58/10 61/23 64/10 64/21 66/2 66/18 66/23 72/21 76/1 76/24 82/22 83/2 92/11 96/15</p> <p><b>relationships [1]</b> 96/9</p> <p><b>relatively [3]</b> 17/8 19/20 20/14</p> <p><b>relevant [21]</b> 1/6 16/10 17/6 17/17 32/4 33/1 34/10 36/8 45/15 51/4 53/11 54/3 54/8 61/14 81/25 82/2 92/22 92/23 92/25 93/3 95/10</p> <p><b>relying [2]</b> 31/18 69/21</p> <p><b>remain [1]</b> 12/1</p> <p><b>remained [1]</b> 39/11</p> <p><b>remediation [2]</b> 44/4 44/12</p> <p><b>remember [45]</b> 7/8 7/12 10/9 11/11 15/1 15/6 20/1 20/11 20/17 20/18 24/8 24/11 24/12 24/20 24/22 24/24 25/17 30/19 32/12 36/20 36/22 37/4 37/9 38/1 38/2 38/17 39/23 42/12 42/13 42/15 47/14 51/3 52/7 52/8 52/18 56/25 59/3 62/11 63/22 67/11 68/7 68/11 71/15 73/7 74/10</p> <p><b>remind [1]</b> 50/2</p> <p><b>remove [1]</b> 8/25</p> <p><b>repetitive [1]</b> 53/12</p> <p><b>report [2]</b> 18/13 18/17</p> <p><b>reported [8]</b> 17/8 20/24 23/7 46/5 46/8 46/21 69/2 90/7</p> <p><b>reporting [4]</b> 22/21 23/13 38/16 48/7</p> <p><b>reports [1]</b> 62/23</p> <p><b>request [1]</b> 63/10</p> <p><b>requested [3]</b> 16/15 36/25 64/11</p> <p><b>required [3]</b> 49/16 69/1 97/22</p>	<p><b>requires [1]</b> 18/1</p> <p><b>research [2]</b> 35/25 52/3</p> <p><b>resolution [1]</b> 72/22</p> <p><b>resolve [1]</b> 80/15</p> <p><b>resource [1]</b> 14/13</p> <p><b>resources [1]</b> 18/23</p> <p><b>respect [4]</b> 48/2 81/15 83/5 93/25</p> <p><b>respond [1]</b> 54/20</p> <p><b>responded [2]</b> 40/7 40/9</p> <p><b>responding [1]</b> 82/4</p> <p><b>response [9]</b> 27/11 27/23 31/15 48/24 51/11 51/20 54/3 54/15 60/22</p> <p><b>responsibilities [2]</b> 87/22 92/8</p> <p><b>responsibility [9]</b> 22/15 32/25 65/24 74/16 74/19 74/20 74/25 77/15 78/9</p> <p><b>responsible [3]</b> 65/18 66/19 66/24</p> <p><b>result [5]</b> 27/18 27/20 29/23 57/13 91/9</p> <p><b>resulted [3]</b> 46/5 46/6 91/6</p> <p><b>results [1]</b> 30/9</p> <p><b>return [1]</b> 38/23</p> <p><b>returned [3]</b> 2/13 39/4 54/25</p> <p><b>review [27]</b> 14/25 36/25 43/11 43/15 44/2 44/9 44/25 45/18 45/20 46/4 47/4 47/19 48/1 62/2 62/24 63/16 63/19 63/25 67/3 67/9 69/9 87/15 88/19 89/3 91/4 91/9 93/18</p> <p><b>reviewed [10]</b> 15/2 65/6 67/4 67/12 67/15 67/24 68/5 83/9 86/15 89/16</p> <p><b>reviewing [9]</b> 61/24 62/12 62/18 63/1 63/5 65/8 66/14 66/19 67/20</p> <p><b>rid [1]</b> 64/23</p> <p><b>right [32]</b> 2/5 3/7 3/25 4/12 9/10 22/14 22/18 22/23 24/3 26/25 29/11 33/4 38/5 43/14 44/23 46/16 58/9 60/18 61/6 61/25 62/15 64/12 66/7 67/4 70/2 70/4 71/5 71/7 77/2 77/8 88/11 95/15</p> <p><b>right-hand [1]</b> 70/4</p> <p><b>rigorous [1]</b> 51/9</p> <p><b>ring [1]</b> 18/5</p> <p><b>RIO [1]</b> 95/2</p> <p><b>risk [7]</b> 15/12 49/18 51/4 73/20 84/2 87/24 92/23</p>	<p><b>Road [5]</b> 2/17 4/15 27/22 60/22 61/2</p> <p><b>role [5]</b> 61/11 61/14 61/23 62/2 88/11</p> <p><b>room [12]</b> 3/23 4/5 4/11 5/22 14/9 32/6 32/17 38/13 58/4 58/5 94/1 95/9</p> <p><b>root [1]</b> 47/1</p> <p><b>RTS [1]</b> 17/10</p> <p><b>run [2]</b> 37/5 99/2</p> <p><b>running [1]</b> 95/20</p> <hr/> <p><b>S</b></p> <p><b>safe [1]</b> 71/19</p> <p><b>safeguard [1]</b> 96/17</p> <p><b>safeguarding [2]</b> 80/18 82/1</p> <p><b>said [31]</b> 3/6 6/5 7/12 15/25 16/16 19/5 19/13 19/23 24/12 25/10 25/24 25/25 29/13 30/8 30/16 31/14 36/4 36/10 38/15 48/22 56/10 58/10 67/23 68/9 72/1 85/5 85/9 85/15 91/4 93/21 96/14</p> <p><b>same [9]</b> 3/19 3/22 3/23 7/21 12/3 12/4 27/25 31/17 44/18</p> <p><b>satisfactory [1]</b> 98/16</p> <p><b>satisfied [2]</b> 35/10 69/20</p> <p><b>saw [1]</b> 79/3</p> <p><b>say [34]</b> 4/24 7/22 8/6 8/17 12/19 15/9 17/1 17/10 28/14 34/5 36/17 51/3 53/24 54/11 56/15 57/5 58/25 64/22 68/4 69/20 71/23 73/5 73/16 75/7 76/6 77/17 79/14 79/15 79/19 81/1 82/15 83/12 96/12 99/1</p> <p><b>saying [5]</b> 25/17 44/8 58/6 85/22 90/5</p> <p><b>says [19]</b> 6/1 7/1 14/10 15/8 15/9 17/21 22/4 28/8 28/11 35/5 45/4 57/9 57/22 69/15 70/5 79/13 81/5 82/25 86/17</p> <p><b>scene [1]</b> 24/6</p> <p><b>school [5]</b> 40/17 40/19 41/1 41/8 41/15</p> <p><b>screen [9]</b> 6/16 10/13 13/19 22/20 27/6 33/13 49/25 65/2 69/12</p> <p><b>scroll [1]</b> 14/8</p> <p><b>search [11]</b> 27/16 27/16 28/6 28/16 29/21 29/23 30/4 30/9</p>	<p>42/7 42/11 42/15</p> <p><b>searched [3]</b> 27/19 29/15 30/16</p> <p><b>seated [1]</b> 60/7</p> <p><b>Sebastian [68]</b> 1/6 4/1 4/6 4/15 5/9 5/15 5/19 5/23 6/7 6/12 7/2 9/4 9/10 9/14 10/23 16/5 16/15 16/16 17/14 20/21 21/18 23/24 25/6 25/10 25/17 25/25 27/22 28/20 29/7 29/18 30/21 33/5 33/9 34/6 34/8 34/18 35/14 37/20 37/23 38/4 38/6 42/17 43/15 45/9 46/5 46/8 46/23 47/2 47/17 48/7 48/8 54/18 57/19 58/15 77/1 85/11 85/15 85/20 86/18 86/19 89/17 90/2 90/6 90/10 90/20 95/7 96/21 98/9</p> <p><b>Sebastian's [6]</b> 10/19 19/4 25/14 38/10 94/4 96/10</p> <p><b>second [3]</b> 14/10 22/4 23/21</p> <p><b>secondary [2]</b> 14/12 18/7</p> <p><b>Secondly [2]</b> 50/23 96/3</p> <p><b>section [5]</b> 14/8 17/21 59/13 65/15 65/16</p> <p><b>section 3 [1]</b> 65/15</p> <p><b>sectioning [1]</b> 14/3</p> <p><b>see [50]</b> 5/10 9/3 10/14 10/16 12/7 12/22 17/21 19/6 19/13 19/14 19/17 21/21 24/5 24/19 28/8 29/6 29/7 30/7 35/4 35/13 40/11 45/10 45/21 46/13 46/14 46/19 58/5 65/17 69/14 70/1 71/1 71/3 71/12 71/17 74/23 78/17 83/24 85/25 86/7 86/9 87/20 88/17 89/16 90/19 90/22 91/1 92/13 92/17 92/19 92/21</p> <p><b>seeing [1]</b> 76/19</p> <p><b>seem [1]</b> 54/17</p> <p><b>seemed [3]</b> 11/25 12/18 47/24</p> <p><b>seen [7]</b> 14/5 32/22 40/6 42/16 58/11 68/20 83/16</p> <p><b>sense [2]</b> 76/2 76/14</p> <p><b>sensible [3]</b> 11/25 12/18 47/24</p> <p><b>sensibly [1]</b> 53/21</p> <p><b>sent [3]</b> 45/1 54/18</p>
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<p><b>S</b></p> <p>sent... [1] 64/7</p> <p>separate [2] 70/23 97/18</p> <p>separately [1] 94/22</p> <p>September [4] 2/19 9/5 33/10 50/15</p> <p>September 2023 [1] 2/19</p> <p>sergeant [17] 36/25 37/3 37/10 37/23 57/17 61/2 61/5 61/8 61/15 61/18 62/16 63/4 63/7 87/6 91/20 95/20 97/24</p> <p>Sergeant Price [4] 37/3 37/10 37/23 87/6</p> <p>Sergeant's [1] 60/24</p> <p>Sergeants [1] 65/18</p> <p>serious [3] 51/7 52/23 73/22</p> <p>seriousness [3] 51/11 51/14 81/24</p> <p>service [4] 18/2 19/21 22/3 48/17</p> <p>services [13] 15/16 18/7 18/20 21/3 21/7 21/15 53/23 53/25 81/8 82/18 84/6 85/17 87/5</p> <p>serving [1] 43/19</p> <p>sessions [2] 61/13 61/14</p> <p>set [1] 56/14</p> <p>share [6] 17/17 34/10 34/22 76/16 78/4 82/18</p> <p>shared [7] 43/12 44/4 44/24 49/4 82/21 83/11 83/13</p> <p>SharePoint [1] 97/11</p> <p>sharing [4] 13/24 33/14 33/17 77/21</p> <p>she [17] 3/21 5/2 5/6 5/16 37/25 52/13 63/12 71/19 74/9 74/19 75/3 75/5 75/5 75/7 93/24 98/4 98/14</p> <p>she's [1] 71/21</p> <p>shift [5] 3/15 3/16 3/20 27/23 31/15</p> <p>shirt [3] 5/23 50/6 57/18</p> <p>short [4] 59/25 95/20 97/23 99/9</p> <p>shortly [1] 67/9</p> <p>should [42] 1/16 6/2 10/23 11/2 12/8 13/9 14/11 15/9 15/15 15/20 18/2 21/25 24/14 24/17 24/24 25/2 25/4 35/19 39/24 44/3 44/11 47/5 47/17 48/14 60/8 73/5 73/21 74/11 74/12 83/4</p>	<p>83/10 84/5 84/7 86/13 87/23 88/7 90/2 92/1 93/3 94/23 95/10 95/11</p> <p>show [1] 53/12</p> <p>shows [1] 90/13</p> <p>side [1] 70/4</p> <p>sight [1] 77/17</p> <p>sign [5] 7/2 8/3 19/1 50/18 50/22</p> <p>signed [5] 7/1 16/25 37/20 38/16 50/12</p> <p>significantly [1] 92/21</p> <p>signpost [2] 18/5 18/18</p> <p>signposting [1] 21/12</p> <p>signs [2] 9/21 91/25</p> <p>similar [1] 11/20</p> <p>simple [3] 17/8 18/13 34/16</p> <p>simplicity [1] 18/17</p> <p>simply [4] 18/22 30/12 98/13 99/3</p> <p>Simultaneously [1] 85/22</p> <p>since [3] 54/14 89/1 96/24</p> <p>single [4] 36/2 45/3 65/10 91/21</p> <p>singular [1] 11/17</p> <p>sit [4] 1/13 62/21 86/1 98/13</p> <p>situation [15] 8/9 13/18 16/22 18/21 19/20 26/9 26/10 26/10 31/9 44/17 53/21 54/1 80/7 96/6 96/21</p> <p>situations [2] 80/10 96/4</p> <p>slightly [4] 13/7 13/7 24/23 25/24</p> <p>so [186]</p> <p>social [3] 15/16 52/23 84/6</p> <p>sole [1] 25/9</p> <p>some [11] 2/2 10/5 36/4 50/13 61/12 66/16 80/18 83/6 87/18 87/19 91/22</p> <p>somebody [5] 20/7 55/21 75/24 76/12 98/10</p> <p>someone [15] 12/3 12/9 14/9 17/4 18/19 25/19 26/5 26/20 26/24 31/19 39/25 44/17 64/1 76/3 98/10</p> <p>Somerset [1] 2/10</p> <p>something [23] 5/22 10/7 13/15 13/17 14/2 21/3 30/10 34/9 40/2 40/4 44/15 49/8 54/11 63/3 63/6 70/7 70/23</p>	<p>73/8 74/3 74/4 78/7 78/13 98/4</p> <p>sometimes [5] 45/23 59/4 80/7 80/15 96/3</p> <p>somewhere [3] 15/4 24/10 81/11</p> <p>sorry [19] 16/4 24/13 36/19 42/10 44/7 46/10 52/8 63/24 68/13 68/21 75/8 77/15 77/23 79/15 79/24 82/9 83/12 88/13 90/25</p> <p>sort [4] 11/22 61/13 72/1 82/25</p> <p>sought [1] 97/2</p> <p>sound [1] 3/7</p> <p>sounded [1] 9/16</p> <p>source [1] 85/21</p> <p>speak [15] 10/25 12/9 13/9 13/12 16/5 25/7 25/15 36/14 37/10 71/8 72/22 75/14 81/2 85/1 86/19</p> <p>speaking [4] 11/21 13/6 14/21 14/21</p> <p>specific [2] 61/5 61/10</p> <p>specifically [1] 62/11</p> <p>spend [2] 18/23 36/1</p> <p>spoke [11] 4/16 5/7 5/12 5/15 7/10 9/15 23/23 25/6 29/18 36/20 67/7</p> <p>spoken [12] 24/15 24/19 27/21 28/20 30/21 35/14 36/8 58/25 72/2 72/13 72/16 84/24</p> <p>staff [5] 9/11 15/10 17/23 83/25 89/24</p> <p>staffing [1] 4/20</p> <p>stage [2] 61/5 73/9</p> <p>start [3] 2/2 6/9 43/7</p> <p>starting [2] 23/20 27/8</p> <p>state [1] 78/19</p> <p>stated [3] 12/12 44/22 72/9</p> <p>statement [48] 1/4 1/5 1/17 1/21 4/3 4/24 5/20 6/11 6/23 9/19 10/18 17/1 22/22 25/22 27/6 28/2 29/14 30/4 31/13 32/2 34/19 36/24 37/17 37/20 43/8 46/22 50/8 51/19 52/10 56/11 56/13 59/1 60/8 60/12 61/4 64/11 65/4 67/14 67/23 68/4 68/24 69/8 72/9 73/24 77/4 79/7 82/16 86/11</p> <p>statements [1] 97/17</p> <p>states [2] 78/17 88/7</p> <p>station [8] 2/17 3/22</p>	<p>4/7 4/15 4/21 5/3 5/17 27/22</p> <p>Statistics [1] 45/17</p> <p>statutory [1] 92/8</p> <p>step [1] 42/8</p> <p>steps [10] 20/20 21/1 21/17 30/19 36/5 36/5 46/7 76/9 76/24 87/23</p> <p>still [19] 11/13 11/18 13/2 13/10 20/23 21/3 23/22 23/24 24/7 33/10 42/20 43/19 43/23 43/25 44/9 44/18 47/9 72/18 80/24</p> <p>straightforward [1] 62/9</p> <p>Street [10] 14/11 14/14 36/11 47/7 47/13 47/14 59/2 59/14 94/24 95/1</p> <p>structurally [1] 55/6</p> <p>structure [1] 97/23</p> <p>student [4] 33/6 38/19 77/2 80/9</p> <p>students [3] 33/5 33/20 77/1</p> <p>studies [2] 38/22 39/14</p> <p>subject [2] 70/16 70/16</p> <p>submission [1] 82/2</p> <p>submit [4] 15/20 16/7 84/15 85/1</p> <p>submitted [4] 82/14 83/5 83/10 83/12</p> <p>submitting [2] 37/6 82/6</p> <p>subsequent [1] 48/6</p> <p>subsequently [3] 4/12 6/13 95/7</p> <p>substantial [1] 59/7</p> <p>substantive [1] 31/18</p> <p>succession [1] 53/13</p> <p>such [12] 15/14 20/24 22/6 35/1 62/9 73/22 84/4 84/7 84/9 94/14 96/18 97/17</p> <p>suffered [1] 10/6</p> <p>suffering [2] 9/22 17/25</p> <p>sufficiently [1] 58/17</p> <p>suggest [5] 12/1 37/18 94/18 95/11 98/18</p> <p>suggested [2] 73/8 98/20</p> <p>suggesting [2] 12/7 13/8</p> <p>suggestion [2] 47/17 87/2</p> <p>suggests [2] 49/12 49/15</p> <p>supervise [1] 65/24</p> <p>supervised [3] 62/1 62/4 91/7</p>	<p>supervising [2] 65/19 89/5</p> <p>supervision [7] 3/1 3/7 3/10 62/12 88/19 95/23 95/24</p> <p>supervisor [5] 3/3 68/11 87/14 91/25 93/8</p> <p>supervisor's [1] 97/9</p> <p>supervisors [1] 97/17</p> <p>support [13] 2/9 15/13 34/2 45/10 51/6 65/20 66/5 67/1 73/5 78/19 81/7 81/20 84/3</p> <p>supporting [2] 35/1 66/25</p> <p>suppose [1] 51/24</p> <p>sure [11] 12/13 28/2 32/7 32/8 36/16 44/5 45/20 53/6 74/14 81/17 98/25</p> <p>suspect [8] 21/23 22/1 26/7 28/12 66/4 69/18 72/3 80/3</p> <p>suspected [2] 85/13 85/24</p> <p>suspects [2] 21/22 88/2</p> <p>system [13] 27/17 29/24 30/15 55/4 55/19 55/20 55/21 56/2 57/2 59/19 92/23 94/10 94/12</p> <p>systems [2] 54/24 59/17</p> <hr/> <p><b>T</b></p> <p>T-shirt [2] 5/23 50/6</p> <p>take [13] 16/24 17/5 38/20 42/20 42/21 52/21 59/23 66/10 83/19 87/23 92/12 93/20 99/5</p> <p>taken [21] 13/4 20/20 21/1 25/16 26/1 26/7 33/8 35/2 36/4 36/5 46/7 46/17 49/19 51/9 56/15 58/16 76/9 76/24 81/3 92/18 94/17</p> <p>takes [1] 59/19</p> <p>talking [4] 6/17 38/25 61/17 90/4</p> <p>task [1] 64/7</p> <p>taught [1] 41/15</p> <p>team [22] 14/11 14/14 18/6 27/23 27/24 31/15 31/16 31/19 31/20 31/20 36/11 36/12 47/13 47/14 59/2 59/14 60/22 85/14 91/18 94/2 94/24 95/1</p> <p>Teams [1] 49/7</p> <p>technically [1] 98/22</p>
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<p><b>T</b></p> <p><b>tell [7]</b> 6/2 7/7 19/17 26/5 37/13 71/13 93/19</p> <p><b>telling [4]</b> 5/24 47/20 71/13 71/21</p> <p><b>tells [1]</b> 72/4</p> <p><b>templates [2]</b> 97/13 97/16</p> <p><b>temporary [7]</b> 43/8 43/11 43/14 61/1 61/18 63/4 63/7</p> <p><b>ten [2]</b> 44/13 97/12</p> <p><b>term [1]</b> 64/23</p> <p><b>terms [18]</b> 5/19 7/17 8/5 13/8 14/21 17/6 45/7 58/12 63/5 63/25 64/16 67/12 68/14 74/24 76/9 87/18 88/11 90/15</p> <p><b>test [1]</b> 80/20</p> <p><b>text [4]</b> 38/5 54/18 55/7 55/8</p> <p><b>than [12]</b> 11/16 11/17 12/23 13/6 15/24 21/7 27/2 44/21 47/24 51/7 53/18 87/3</p> <p><b>thank [32]</b> 1/3 1/8 1/14 1/16 9/9 12/6 16/3 16/4 23/3 40/10 40/13 42/25 43/1 45/6 49/21 50/1 50/4 50/23 55/13 59/22 59/22 60/3 60/8 87/6 95/17 95/25 96/3 96/10 98/1 98/3 99/5 99/7</p> <p><b>that [836]</b></p> <p><b>that's [47]</b> 1/19 2/12 2/15 2/18 2/24 3/14 4/18 8/4 9/4 9/13 11/9 17/19 22/19 22/24 26/4 26/25 30/13 32/6 40/2 43/25 45/13 52/10 54/15 55/11 56/12 56/22 57/23 58/5 58/8 59/22 64/3 65/12 70/7 70/11 70/12 72/12 74/3 86/23 89/1 89/3 90/2 91/12 91/24 92/12 93/6 94/14 94/20</p> <p><b>their [18]</b> 4/4 24/2 24/18 24/25 27/19 29/15 55/8 62/22 65/19 67/1 68/11 76/1 84/13 88/9 93/17 93/20 96/17 98/8</p> <p><b>them [30]</b> 6/3 6/4 6/25 12/18 13/14 13/18 14/17 15/2 15/3 30/14 36/8 36/9 36/19 36/20 37/6 50/10 55/23 56/1 62/21 70/17 76/13 76/19 77/25 79/9 81/19 82/6</p>	<p>86/20 87/2 93/19 96/1</p> <p><b>them be [1]</b> 96/1</p> <p><b>themselves [6]</b> 12/24 15/12 80/16 84/2 93/24 94/13</p> <p><b>then [96]</b> 2/16 3/14 3/24 6/1 6/2 7/1 7/1 7/20 8/2 11/2 15/8 17/1 17/16 18/4 18/16 19/3 19/18 19/24 21/17 22/2 22/25 23/12 23/20 24/15 25/2 25/23 26/15 26/25 27/4 28/10 29/5 29/6 29/21 29/25 30/14 30/22 32/7 32/17 34/3 34/18 35/2 36/23 38/3 39/4 42/24 44/19 46/17 48/6 48/19 49/16 49/17 50/12 50/13 50/13 50/15 50/20 50/21 52/11 53/3 57/2 61/10 62/3 66/9 66/23 67/3 70/1 73/3 74/7 74/21 75/5 78/15 78/23 81/21 81/22 83/19 87/18 88/24 89/1 89/9 89/15 89/20 90/6 90/14 91/5 91/5 91/9 91/10 91/11 91/25 92/6 92/16 93/18 94/22 96/9 97/14 97/21</p> <p><b>thereby [1]</b> 55/4</p> <p><b>there [151]</b></p> <p><b>there there [1]</b> 92/17</p> <p><b>there's [17]</b> 8/15 10/14 11/16 16/8 35/18 49/18 59/18 64/19 70/2 71/13 71/20 73/23 81/5 81/7 91/19 93/19 97/16</p> <p><b>thereafter [2]</b> 40/7 90/22</p> <p><b>therefore [4]</b> 42/17 80/22 85/15 98/5</p> <p><b>these [20]</b> 6/2 8/19 8/22 16/10 16/21 20/2 30/9 36/3 69/6 73/15 73/16 76/14 82/19 86/7 87/20 89/16 93/12 95/15 96/4 96/13</p> <p><b>they [74]</b> 6/4 8/4 10/25 12/12 12/21 14/20 14/23 14/24 14/24 15/2 18/6 21/5 24/15 24/18 24/19 24/20 24/21 24/25 25/1 25/2 26/20 28/24 29/2 29/3 32/14 32/19 33/10 33/20 36/16 36/17 36/21 55/24 55/24 58/6 58/13 59/3 59/4 59/4 59/4 59/5</p>	<p>60/14 62/23 63/8 64/6 64/7 64/8 64/9 68/20 73/2 73/18 74/5 74/14 74/20 74/21 75/1 75/25 77/7 78/19 80/3 80/10 80/10 80/11 80/11 80/13 80/15 81/9 81/18 81/19 82/5 82/12 84/14 93/24 94/14 95/3</p> <p><b>thing [7]</b> 11/25 12/18 13/11 20/14 45/4 47/20 55/11</p> <p><b>things [14]</b> 11/19 29/19 31/23 36/3 43/23 47/4 50/17 58/13 65/13 74/14 86/1 93/14 96/4 97/16</p> <p><b>think [56]</b> 3/6 8/21 11/15 13/10 13/14 16/9 18/18 20/19 21/9 25/20 26/2 26/4 26/9 26/19 31/7 34/9 35/18 39/24 41/25 44/1 45/14 48/21 49/7 49/10 49/12 53/17 54/15 56/11 56/12 57/23 58/25 71/19 77/13 80/6 80/6 81/7 81/11 82/17 84/19 85/3 86/4 86/25 87/3 88/1 89/10 91/18 91/25 93/24 94/20 95/7 95/15 96/7 96/13 98/16 98/20 99/5</p> <p><b>thinking [2]</b> 53/1 83/1</p> <p><b>third [6]</b> 6/20 10/20 23/12 65/16 79/5 94/13</p> <p><b>Thirdly [1]</b> 96/10</p> <p><b>this [164]</b></p> <p><b>those [35]</b> 8/7 12/16 12/24 13/12 18/9 18/10 28/19 28/22 28/23 29/19 31/3 31/4 34/9 40/10 41/5 41/9 41/12 43/20 44/11 48/12 52/3 52/23 53/1 55/23 61/14 64/9 66/17 68/14 72/25 74/25 85/17 85/25 87/5 92/5 93/14</p> <p><b>though [3]</b> 9/2 11/8 13/8</p> <p><b>thought [8]</b> 6/7 17/3 17/16 34/8 74/20 75/5 83/8 85/12</p> <p><b>threat [2]</b> 86/10 95/5</p> <p><b>three [4]</b> 35/15 43/15 52/20 59/10</p> <p><b>threshold [1]</b> 26/12</p> <p><b>through [15]</b> 39/19 43/24 49/5 49/6 54/1 62/22 64/8 65/10 70/15 75/4 87/22 91/21 94/1 94/9 98/24</p>	<p><b>time [105]</b></p> <p><b>timeframe [1]</b> 26/18</p> <p><b>timescales [1]</b> 31/10</p> <p><b>tiny [3]</b> 23/2 65/17 82/8</p> <p><b>title [1]</b> 22/3</p> <p><b>today [7]</b> 1/24 43/22 44/23 47/22 60/15 87/17 99/6</p> <p><b>together [12]</b> 3/12 3/20 8/19 15/14 29/1 33/10 46/18 66/17 80/3 84/4 86/1 92/6</p> <p><b>told [18]</b> 5/21 6/12 7/14 8/6 19/8 25/14 34/6 46/23 48/11 68/15 68/20 73/11 80/1 85/20 91/10 94/4 94/14 98/4</p> <p><b>too [2]</b> 42/20 42/21</p> <p><b>took [8]</b> 16/18 21/17 29/14 30/19 31/14 42/8 43/24 45/15</p> <p><b>top [1]</b> 50/2</p> <p><b>topic [1]</b> 38/3</p> <p><b>topics [1]</b> 87/18</p> <p><b>totality [1]</b> 46/25</p> <p><b>touch [4]</b> 53/22 59/2 84/13 98/9</p> <p><b>towards [3]</b> 6/6 81/12 89/18</p> <p><b>tragic [1]</b> 44/14</p> <p><b>trained [1]</b> 9/21</p> <p><b>training [27]</b> 9/25 10/4 10/9 21/10 21/15 32/4 38/20 40/16 40/19 40/25 41/1 41/8 41/15 44/4 44/12 48/20 48/22 49/5 49/6 49/7 49/10 60/21 61/5 61/11 61/12 61/14 93/18</p> <p><b>transcript [3]</b> 1/7 1/20 60/11</p> <p><b>transferred [1]</b> 88/23</p> <p><b>treating [1]</b> 54/8</p> <p><b>triage [11]</b> 14/11 14/14 36/11 47/7 47/13 47/14 59/2 59/6 59/14 94/24 95/1</p> <p><b>tried [1]</b> 38/12</p> <p><b>true [2]</b> 1/21 60/12</p> <p><b>trust [1]</b> 93/17</p> <p><b>truth [1]</b> 71/21</p> <p><b>try [3]</b> 7/24 19/19 53/22</p> <p><b>trying [4]</b> 12/23 65/1 76/6 95/9</p> <p><b>turn [5]</b> 2/2 21/17 22/25 40/11 83/4</p> <p><b>turned [1]</b> 39/18</p> <p><b>turning [6]</b> 3/24 60/17 61/21 67/3 69/13 76/23</p> <p><b>tutee [1]</b> 74/20</p> <p><b>tutor [4]</b> 3/1 4/24</p>	<p>63/18 75/3</p> <p><b>tutors [1]</b> 74/13</p> <p><b>twice [1]</b> 59/13</p> <p><b>two [11]</b> 2/10 4/22 8/19 9/5 28/19 29/18 50/17 55/4 66/17 71/3 85/25</p> <p><b>two years [1]</b> 2/10</p> <p><b>type [6]</b> 8/7 11/7 20/4 66/18 66/23 96/21</p> <p><b>typed [1]</b> 46/1</p> <p><b>typically [2]</b> 65/12 95/25</p> <p><b>typing [1]</b> 11/10</p> <hr/> <p><b>U</b></p> <p><b>Ultimately [1]</b> 22/17</p> <p><b>Unable [1]</b> 28/12</p> <p><b>unclear [4]</b> 12/11 69/24 70/15 96/9</p> <p><b>under [12]</b> 2/5 2/25 3/6 14/8 21/21 23/1 29/25 36/2 59/12 65/15 95/22 95/24</p> <p><b>underpinned [1]</b> 87/22</p> <p><b>underscore [1]</b> 52/10</p> <p><b>understand [16]</b> 7/24 8/23 9/25 12/25 17/13 22/8 24/24 32/13 33/18 44/5 59/17 64/14 64/16 67/18 77/18 90/25</p> <p><b>understanding [9]</b> 45/16 45/18 72/25 77/22 78/2 78/2 82/20 84/18 89/13</p> <p><b>understood [1]</b> 28/2</p> <p><b>undertake [1]</b> 32/5</p> <p><b>undertaken [2]</b> 32/4 44/9</p> <p><b>undetected [4]</b> 64/12 64/14 64/18 64/21</p> <p><b>unfortunate [1]</b> 54/23</p> <p><b>unfortunately [11]</b> 5/8 8/16 18/23 26/15 33/20 37/21 42/9 42/22 45/24 47/11 59/15</p> <p><b>UNIN0001829 [1]</b> 33/13</p> <p><b>university [24]</b> 33/15 33/19 33/22 34/3 34/10 34/14 34/22 38/21 38/22 39/1 39/6 39/13 39/13 39/15 54/19 55/1 55/5 77/6 77/11 77/21 77/25 78/9 78/11 98/5</p> <p><b>unknown [1]</b> 88/18</p> <p><b>unless [3]</b> 26/6 84/8 86/9</p> <p><b>unlikely [3]</b> 25/16 26/1 72/5</p> <p><b>unpack [1]</b> 28/1</p> <p><b>unplugged [1]</b> 99/3</p>
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<p><b>U</b></p> <p><b>until [5]</b> 33/9 38/24 59/23 62/10 98/13</p> <p><b>unusual [2]</b> 27/24 31/16</p> <p><b>unwell [1]</b> 18/19</p> <p><b>up [24]</b> 1/4 3/12 5/2 5/16 10/19 19/7 19/24 20/8 30/5 46/1 46/1 48/6 54/18 55/8 55/15 57/6 62/10 69/24 71/3 82/8 86/18 89/6 90/4 98/10</p> <p><b>updated [2]</b> 43/20 69/19</p> <p><b>uploaded [1]</b> 43/9</p> <p><b>upon [3]</b> 48/5 89/9 89/11</p> <p><b>upwards [1]</b> 73/2</p> <p><b>urgent [3]</b> 15/8 17/22 18/1</p> <p><b>urgently [1]</b> 84/13</p> <p><b>URN [3]</b> 1/7 1/20 60/11</p> <p><b>us [25]</b> 3/10 4/19 8/9 11/5 16/5 16/22 16/23 17/9 20/25 25/6 40/22 50/3 70/4 72/22 72/24 73/16 79/13 80/14 82/3 86/8 90/23 93/2 94/4 94/14 98/4</p> <p><b>use [4]</b> 5/1 9/22 10/2 16/3</p> <p><b>used [5]</b> 64/16 64/17 64/23 64/25 64/25</p> <p><b>useful [1]</b> 21/9</p> <p><b>user [3]</b> 10/16 22/4 28/22</p> <p><b>using [4]</b> 11/17 29/15 38/8 55/22</p> <p><b>usual [1]</b> 37/5</p> <p><b>usually [7]</b> 4/19 7/24 32/6 32/12 32/20 59/6 68/9</p>	<p>82/22 83/2 83/5 84/21 86/7 88/17 89/24 90/4 90/8 90/10 90/20 94/20 95/3 95/9 96/11</p> <p><b>VC's [16]</b> 9/16 10/19 21/7 27/5 27/21 29/8 48/2 48/4 56/17 77/7 83/16 86/13 88/21 89/11 90/12 92/23</p> <p><b>vehicle [1]</b> 40/23</p> <p><b>version [1]</b> 65/3</p> <p><b>very [29]</b> 6/6 8/11 8/14 9/3 10/4 18/13 21/4 21/16 26/17 26/17 30/13 34/7 34/16 34/16 34/16 40/1 42/25 43/16 44/14 49/5 49/7 49/9 50/24 55/13 59/15 74/12 80/19 95/21 96/6</p> <p><b>via [3]</b> 4/5 15/16 84/6</p> <p><b>victim [42]</b> 8/1 8/1 8/15 12/8 12/23 16/20 16/21 23/11 25/12 25/21 26/6 35/1 44/20 44/22 47/20 66/5 69/3 69/18 72/19 72/22 73/9 73/18 73/20 77/19 77/24 78/19 81/19 81/25 82/5 82/12 83/1 83/2 85/9 86/7 86/24 92/7 92/9 92/14 93/5 93/11 94/13 96/17</p> <p><b>victim's [1]</b> 66/25</p> <p><b>victim/suspect/witne sses [1]</b> 69/18</p> <p><b>victims [4]</b> 81/14 81/14 88/2 96/12</p> <p><b>view [8]</b> 12/1 18/3 41/22 41/24 69/5 73/12 74/16 86/23</p> <p><b>views [1]</b> 54/15</p> <p><b>violence [3]</b> 80/14 93/1 94/16</p> <p><b>violent [3]</b> 30/25 75/16 94/15</p> <p><b>visit [1]</b> 40/22</p> <p><b>visited [3]</b> 12/16 46/24 89/24</p> <p><b>visiting [1]</b> 12/13</p> <p><b>visitors [1]</b> 85/12</p> <p><b>visits [1]</b> 9/11</p> <p><b>voice [1]</b> 82/8</p> <p><b>voluntary [2]</b> 18/7 22/5</p> <p><b>vulnerabilities [6]</b> 73/23 82/5 82/6 82/11 82/12 96/17</p> <p><b>vulnerability [4]</b> 81/25 88/6 90/11 95/12</p> <p><b>vulnerable [2]</b> 88/8 96/22</p>	<p><b>W</b></p> <p><b>Wakefield [17]</b> 3/1 3/3 3/6 3/11 3/15 4/25 5/14 11/10 20/2 37/2 37/6 63/20 68/12 74/16 75/4 75/7 75/8</p> <p><b>walking [2]</b> 90/1 90/3</p> <p><b>wall [2]</b> 5/24 50/7</p> <p><b>want [53]</b> 6/12 6/22 6/23 7/4 7/15 7/20 7/25 8/1 8/4 8/12 8/14 13/3 16/2 16/5 16/17 16/24 17/1 17/4 17/14 18/14 25/6 25/10 25/21 25/22 28/1 34/19 34/19 35/23 37/20 37/23 38/3 40/3 44/17 44/20 50/7 50/9 51/6 51/18 51/18 58/19 72/22 73/9 73/12 73/18 79/6 79/7 79/11 79/13 79/17 91/7 95/18 96/5 96/11</p> <p><b>wanted [5]</b> 16/23 32/8 32/9 58/9 98/3</p> <p><b>wanting [3]</b> 26/15 42/23 50/20</p> <p><b>wants [2]</b> 79/13 79/16</p> <p><b>was [217]</b></p> <p><b>wasn't [13]</b> 9/6 12/14 14/2 19/11 20/11 33/9 42/21 47/23 59/15 77/13 78/6 82/24 89/7</p> <p><b>way [23]</b> 4/4 4/7 6/20 11/7 12/15 12/17 13/16 24/2 24/18 24/25 31/7 44/4 62/11 63/15 76/20 79/5 86/25 87/4 92/15 95/14 98/18 98/20 98/24</p> <p><b>we [206]</b></p> <p><b>we understand [1]</b> 9/25</p> <p><b>website [4]</b> 1/5 43/10 81/12 81/15</p> <p><b>Wednesday [1]</b> 1/1</p> <p><b>week [3]</b> 38/11 38/25 54/18</p> <p><b>weeks [1]</b> 38/23</p> <p><b>welfare [3]</b> 88/9 90/12 94/19</p> <p><b>well [16]</b> 8/25 16/11 16/19 26/18 29/24 38/20 43/14 45/17 63/18 74/12 74/13 77/19 80/17 81/5 90/12 98/24</p> <p><b>went [3]</b> 1/4 49/5 98/5</p> <p><b>were [107]</b></p> <p><b>weren't [4]</b> 12/13 17/5 34/4 39/1</p> <p><b>what [106]</b></p>	<p><b>what's [5]</b> 46/21 49/16 62/13 72/25 90/7</p> <p><b>when [53]</b> 3/15 3/19 5/6 5/14 7/22 8/17 9/14 10/25 11/10 14/13 19/13 24/1 25/6 28/14 30/16 32/18 34/5 35/9 38/5 38/14 39/6 39/18 40/15 43/24 44/16 45/24 45/25 54/25 55/21 57/22 62/25 64/6 64/22 67/20 69/2 69/20 70/8 70/17 72/25 73/16 75/7 81/1 85/5 87/13 88/18 89/5 90/4 91/13 92/9 93/3 94/15 94/17 94/24</p> <p><b>whenever [3]</b> 20/4 37/11 65/7</p> <p><b>where [34]</b> 6/24 8/18 14/9 20/10 21/5 23/5 30/25 31/22 33/8 40/19 44/17 45/9 46/23 50/10 51/17 62/21 70/4 70/11 70/12 70/16 73/20 73/21 73/22 75/13 79/8 80/10 80/13 81/13 95/4 96/8 96/16 96/18 97/14 98/21</p> <p><b>whereas [1]</b> 80/15</p> <p><b>whether [40]</b> 14/24 15/2 15/2 15/6 15/20 18/9 18/18 24/5 24/20 25/1 25/4 26/4 26/12 26/13 36/20 37/15 38/15 42/10 47/14 51/15 52/2 52/7 52/14 52/17 52/18 56/25 57/3 58/11 59/3 63/22 71/16 73/7 74/9 74/12 75/1 81/18 82/13 83/4 84/23 86/23</p> <p><b>which [34]</b> 16/23 17/21 22/21 25/7 28/11 35/5 35/19 37/21 43/9 44/13 44/15 44/15 46/17 48/9 49/2 53/13 56/16 57/9 59/11 59/19 64/25 66/3 69/15 75/3 76/21 77/10 77/20 79/14 83/22 84/15 85/21 86/10 91/5 95/5</p> <p><b>while [3]</b> 15/11 56/4 84/1</p> <p><b>whilst [2]</b> 55/16 88/22</p> <p><b>who [35]</b> 9/11 10/6 11/5 11/5 12/9 12/16 12/20 15/11 17/4 18/19 21/5 26/5 31/1 32/14 39/9 42/17 42/18 44/9 55/7 55/23</p>	<p>56/1 56/4 58/3 58/6 63/11 71/8 75/14 77/23 84/1 86/19 90/23 91/25 93/22 98/7 98/9</p> <p><b>whole [2]</b> 66/15 70/8</p> <p><b>whom [1]</b> 89/24</p> <p><b>Whose [2]</b> 77/15 78/9</p> <p><b>why [38]</b> 4/9 4/25 7/4 7/25 16/9 18/12 18/17 19/17 20/11 20/17 20/18 25/3 25/7 27/20 30/3 31/5 32/23 34/1 34/12 34/21 37/23 47/23 50/17 50/23 51/13 53/8 53/11 56/23 64/25 71/23 74/13 76/17 78/20 79/11 79/17 83/15 85/2 93/2</p> <p><b>wider [1]</b> 88/2</p> <p><b>will [20]</b> 5/24 6/3 8/2 12/20 23/4 26/12 26/16 26/24 27/1 59/23 62/25 76/23 78/22 94/15 95/3 95/17 95/20 97/14 97/21 99/5</p> <p><b>willing [2]</b> 45/10 72/19</p> <p><b>wish [1]</b> 55/23</p> <p><b>wishes [1]</b> 25/12</p> <p><b>withdrawing [1]</b> 67/1</p> <p><b>withdrawn [1]</b> 66/6</p> <p><b>within [6]</b> 21/16 30/13 78/21 80/9 82/5 94/2</p> <p><b>without [3]</b> 38/13 41/25 76/19</p> <p><b>WITN0015001 [3]</b> 1/21 27/6 52/10</p> <p><b>WITN0016001 [1]</b> 60/12</p> <p><b>WITN0383001 [1]</b> 1/7</p> <p><b>witness [23]</b> 1/17 5/20 9/19 10/18 27/5 28/2 29/13 30/3 31/13 32/2 46/22 49/25 52/9 60/8 64/10 65/4 67/13 68/24 69/8 73/24 82/16 86/11 87/13</p> <p><b>witnessed [2]</b> 94/12 94/15</p> <p><b>witnesses [11]</b> 37/19 69/18 71/10 71/12 71/13 71/14 71/20 81/5 81/6 93/17 95/16</p> <p><b>word [7]</b> 5/1 64/21 71/2 71/23 72/4 72/10 93/20</p> <p><b>wording [1]</b> 71/25</p> <p><b>words [4]</b> 7/24 9/15 50/14 86/17</p> <p><b>work [13]</b> 27/23 31/15 31/20 38/8 39/7 39/19 39/24 51/20</p>
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

**W**

**work... [5]** 51/24  
55/22 59/17 88/19  
94/14  
**working [3]** 13/24  
31/9 31/22  
**worried [1]** 7/9  
**worry [1]** 82/10  
**worse [4]** 53/15 80/7  
80/14 96/5  
**worth [1]** 38/16  
**would [194]**  
**wouldn't [25]** 13/5  
16/10 21/3 25/23 31/2  
31/3 31/3 40/7 47/9  
47/9 47/10 47/23 48/9  
56/18 71/20 72/14  
72/23 73/8 73/20 76/7  
80/11 80/22 80/24  
86/6 86/8  
**write [7]** 6/22 11/8  
11/13 11/19 50/8 55/2  
79/6  
**written [5]** 45/13  
71/19 72/12 72/13  
77/19  
**wrong [1]** 5/14

**Y**

**yeah [3]** 20/18 40/4  
83/14  
**year [7]** 53/9 53/11  
59/10 59/13 75/22  
85/6 89/21  
**years [6]** 2/10 2/11  
28/9 42/8 50/5 53/17  
**yes [153]**  
**yesterday [6]** 1/5 1/6  
5/9 9/14 19/4 25/14  
**you [680]**  
**you' [1]** 5/25  
**young [1]** 19/20  
**your [125]**  
**yourself [2]** 52/11  
93/25

**Z**

**Zoey [3]** 60/3 60/5  
100/10